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PART I

 
FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K (“Annual Report”) may contain forward-looking statements within the meaning of The Private
Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995.  Readers of this report should be aware of the speculative nature of “forward-looking
statements.”  Statements that are not historical in nature, including those that include the words “anticipate”, “estimate”, “should”,
“will”, “expect”, “believe”, “intend”, and similar expressions, are based on current expectations, estimates and projections about,
among other things, the industry and the markets in which we operate, and they are not guarantees of future performance.  Whether
actual results will conform to expectations and predictions is subject to known and unknown risks and uncertainties, including risks
and uncertainties discussed in this Annual Report; general economic, market, or business conditions and their effects; industry
competition, conditions, performance and consolidation; changes in applicable laws or regulations; changes in the budgets and/or
public safety priorities of our customers; economic or operational repercussions from terrorist activities, war or other armed conflicts;
the availability of debt and equity financing; and other circumstances beyond our control.  Consequently, all of the forward-looking
statements made in this report are qualified by these cautionary statements, and there can be no assurance that the actual results
anticipated will be realized, or if substantially realized, will have the expected consequences on our business or operations.

Forward-looking statements speak only as of the date the statements are made. Except as required by applicable laws, we do not
intend to publish updates or revisions of any forward-looking statements we make to reflect new information, future events or
otherwise.  If we update one or more forward-looking statements, then no inference should be drawn that we will make additional
updates with respect thereto or with respect to other forward-looking statements.

As used in this Annual Report, the terms “Brekford”, “the Company”, “we”, “our”, and “us” refer to Brekford Corp. and, unless the
context clearly indicates otherwise, its consolidated subsidiary.

ITEM 1.  BUSINESS
 
Our History

The Company (formerly California Cyber Design, Inc. (“CCDI”)) was incorporated in Delaware on May 27, 1998 and changed its
name to American Financial Holdings, Inc. (“AFHI”) on August 11, 2004.  AFHI, a publicly-traded corporation with no operations,
announced the completion of its share exchange transaction with Pelican Mobile Computers, Inc., a Maryland corporation (“Pelican
Mobile”), on January 6, 2006. Pelican Mobile exchanged each issued and outstanding share of Pelican Mobile Computers (1,000
shares issued and outstanding at the time of the share exchange) for 25,000 shares of AFHI on a post-split basis (the “Share
Exchange”) with an aggregate of 25,000,000 shares of Common Stock of AFHI issued to the former stockholders of  Pelican
Mobile.  At the time of the Share Exchange, the existing stockholders of AFHI retained 5,512,103 shares of AFHI’s outstanding
common stock after the cancellation of approximately 2,549,000 shares of common stock. As a result, the former stockholders of
Pelican Mobile became the majority stockholders of AFHI. Under the terms of the Share Exchange, the Company changed its name
to Tactical Solution Partners, Inc. On April 25, 2008, the Company’s stockholders approved a proposal to change its name from
Tactical Solution Partners, Inc. to Brekford International Corp. to better reflect our business strategy. Subsequently, on July 9, 2010,
the Company’s stockholders approved a proposal to change our name from Brekford International Corp. to Brekford Corp. On
October 27, 2010, the Company’s Board of Directors approved the merger of Pelican Mobile with Brekford Corp. pursuant to Section
253 of the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware, with Brekford Corp. as the surviving corporation. The merger became
effective upon the filing of a Certificate of Ownership and Merger with the State of Delaware (and the appropriate Articles of Merger
with the State of Maryland), pursuant to the terms of an Agreement and Plan of Merger. The merger documents were filed with the
States of Delaware and Maryland on October 28, 2010. Effective upon the completion of the merger, the Company’s corporate name
of the Company remained as Brekford Corp. The operations of Pelican Mobile were continued by the Company without interruption
following the merger.
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Overview

Brekford Corp. (OTCBB; OTCQB: BFDI) headquartered in Hanover, Maryland is a leading public safety technology service provider
of fully integrated traffic safety solutions, parking enforcement citation collections and integrator of mobile technology equipment for
public safety vehicle services to State and Local municipalities, the U.S. Military and various Federal public safety agencies
throughout the United States. Brekford’s combination of upfitting services, cutting edge technology, and automated traffic
enforcement services offers a unique 360º solution for law enforcement agencies and municipalities. Our core values of integrity,
accountability, respect, and teamwork drive our employees to achieve excellence and deliver industry leading technology and
services, thereby enabling a superior level of safety solutions to our clients. We have one wholly-owned subsidiary, Municipal
Recovery Agency, LLC, a Maryland limited liability company, that was formed in 2012 for the purpose of providing collection systems
and services for unpaid citations and parking fines.

 
Products and Services

Public safety is a major concern for most communities – especially as populations grow, public safety budgets are reduced. One way
to help make streets safer while reducing workload is a well-run photo red light or speed enforcement program. The objective of photo
enforcement is to help curtail aggressive driving through voluntary compliance. Revenue generated from fines routinely goes directly
back into supporting other public safety initiatives.

Although opponents of red light cameras cite the increase in rear end collisions as cause for disapproval of cameras, a study
conducted in February 2011 by the Insurance Institute for Highway Safety (the “IIHS”) reported that red-light cameras reduced fatal
red light running crashes by 24% in 14 large U.S. cities with populations over 200,000.  IIHS concluded that if red light cameras had
been operating in all 99 U.S. cities with populations over 200,000 during this study period (five years), a total of 815 deaths could
have been avoided.  Because the types of crashes prevented by red light cameras tend to be far more severe than rear-end crashes,
research has shown there is a positive aggregate benefit. Photo Enforcement solutions can reduce collisions, injuries and deaths by
providing a useful tool for municipalities and law enforcement agencies, without unduly taxing drivers who do not break the law.
Today, more than 600 communities across the U.S. operate red light or speed camera enforcement programs.

Regardless of the increased safety effects and prevention of fatalities, there is still a common misconception that automated traffic
safety enforcement systems are not supported by the general public.  An IIHS survey conducted in November, 2012 found that a
large majority of people living in Washington, D.C., one of the largest combined red light and speed enforcement programs in the
U.S., favor camera enforcement.  Of those surveyed, 87% support red light cameras and 76% support speed cameras.  Even the
majority of violators (59%) agreed that they deserved their most recent citation  In 2012 IIHS reported that 633 people were killed and
an estimated 133,000 were injured in crashes that involved red light running  Speeding was a factor in 31% of motor vehicle crash
deaths in 2012.

Brekford’s automated traffic safety enforcement (“ATSE”) products offer intersection safety (red light), photo speed, and work zone
options by way of a complete suite of solution-based products.  By assembling a team of industry professionals with the most
experience in this field, we have developed equipment and a full turn-key solution that we believe will ensure the success of any
program.  Having the advantage of a team with experience, we have created and implemented some of the most cutting-edge
features into our design – while constructing end-to-end systems specifically with our clients’ needs in mind.
 
Automated Traffic Safety Enforcement - Photo Speed & Red Light Enforcement
 
ATSE systems are one of a wide range of measures that are effective at reducing vehicle speeds and crashes. The automated speed
enforcement (“ASE”) system is an enforcement technique with one or more motor vehicle sensors producing recorded images of
motor vehicles traveling at speeds above a defined threshold. Images captured by the ASE system are processed and reviewed in an
office environment and violation notices are mailed to the registered owner of the identified vehicle. ASE is a technology available to
law enforcement as a supplement and not a replacement for traditional enforcement operations. Evaluations of ASE, both
internationally and in the United States have identified some advantages over traditional speed enforcement methods.  These
include:

•  High rate of violation detection. ASE units can detect and record multiple violations per minute. This can provide a strong
deterrent effect by increasing drivers’ perceived likelihood of being cited for speeding.

•  Physical safety of ASE operators and motorists. ASE can operate at locations where roadside traffic stops are dangerous or
infeasible, and where traffic conditions are unsafe for police vehicles to enter the traffic stream and stop suspected violators.
With ASE there is normally no vehicle pursuit or confrontation with motorists. ASE might also reduce the occurrence of traffic
congestion due to driver distraction caused by traffic stops on the roadside.

•  Fairness of operation. Violations are recorded for all vehicles traveling in excess of the enforcement speed
threshold.  Efficient use of resources. ASE can act as a “force multiplier,” enhancing the influence of limited traffic
enforcement staff and resources.
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Beyond traditional tax collection on income or property, state agencies and local municipalities rely heavily on fine and fee revenue
generated from a multitude of violator funded sources.  For example, jurisdictions generate sizable revenues from court fees, traffic
and parking violations, ordinance infractions, and library and utility arrearages. Each of these revenue sources funds public safety
and community development initiatives and without the income the services are curtailed. Brekford offers client-specific solutions to
these agencies and municipalities to assist them with collecting unpaid fines, including:

•  Notification Continuance
•  Mail House and Printing Service
•  Data Purification and Verification Service
•  Back Office Support Service

-  Call Center Response (Inbound & Out Bound)
-  Lock-Box & Treasury Services
-  Payment Processing

Electronic Ticketing System - Slick-Ticket ™
 
Many of today’s law enforcement agencies are struggling to balance the increasing demand from their citizens for more services with
limited and/or declining budgets. One of the easiest and most cost-effective ways agencies can address this issue is by deploying an
electronic ticketing, or E-Ticketing solution. Automating the ticket issuing and processing system can significantly decrease cost,
increase productivity and improve officer safety.

Brekford offers a unique functionality that streamlines the data entry process even further.  Many law enforcement agencies that have
deployed a mobile data system run background queries from national (NCIC), state, and local databases and Brekford’s solution
captures the data from these mobile query files and auto-populates all of the requisite data into the electronic citation (E-Tix) form on
the screen.  Brekford’s Slick-Ticket ™ product is a fully portable, over-the-seat organizer for public safety vehicles, specially designed
to house a printer and scanner to allow law enforcement officers to quickly access driver's license and registration information as well
as issue tickets, warnings and citations.  
 
Rugged Information Technology Solutions – Mobile Data & Digital Video

Law enforcement agency, fire department and EMS personnel have unique requirements for fleet vehicle upfitting and IT equipment to
include characteristics such as ruggedness and reliability. The equipment must be able to work in extreme environments that include
high levels of vibration and shock, wide temperature ranges, varying humidity, electromagnetic interference as well as voltage and
current transients. Our rugged and non-rugged IT products and mobile data communication systems provide public safety workers
with the unique functionalities necessary to enable effective response to emergency situations.
  
For more than a decade, Brekford has been a distributor for most major brands in the mobile technology arena. We handle everything
from Panasonic Toughbooks® and Arbitrator® digital video systems to emergency lighting systems and wireless technology.  We
believe that we have all of the high-end products our customers need to handle their day-to-day operations and protect the public they
serve. Every product we sell is tested by highly trained technicians and guaranteed to work in even the most extreme conditions. We
specialize in seamlessly incorporating custom built solutions within existing networks. We deliver our end-to-end solutions with
service programs that work for agencies large and small, from turn-key drop shipping to municipal leases. Our commitment is to
design and deliver solutions that meet or exceed industry standards for safety, ergonomics, reliability, serviceability and uniformity.
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We develop integrated, interoperable, feature-rich mobile systems that enable first responders, such as police, fire and EMS, to
obtain and exchange information in real time. The rapid dissemination of real time information is critical to determine and assure
timely and precise resource allocation by public sector decision makers. As a premiere Panasonic Toughbook partner, we augment
these rugged laptops by designing and manufacturing vehicle mounting systems and docking stations for in-vehicle communications
equipment. From rugged laptop computers, tablets and hand-helds, GPS terminals, two-way radios, and full console systems, we
provide ergonomically sound mounting products with full port replication.

Toughbook Arbitrator is a rugged revolution in law enforcement video capture. The fully integrated system offers unparalleled video
capture (up to 360 degrees), storage and transfer, and is designed to work with back-end software for seamless video management,
including archiving and retrieving.  Brekford augments this solution with an Automatic License Plate Reader (ALPR / LPR), an image-
processing technology used to identify vehicles by their license plates.  License Plate Readers (LPRs) can record plates at about one
per second at speeds of up to 70 MPH and they often utilize infrared cameras for clarity and to facilitate reading at any time of day or
night. The data collected can either be processed in real-time, at the site of the read, or it can be transmitted to remote centers and
processed at a later time.  When combined with wearable body cameras, our total client solution provides a video capture solution
that maintains the chain of evidence from the initial event through to court proceedings.
 
 360° Vehicle Solution - Upfitting
 
The Brekford 360-degree vehicle solution provides complete vehicle upfitting, mobile data and video solutions including municipal
financing and leasing services for agencies. The 360-degree vehicle solutions approach provides customers with a one-stop upfitting,
cutting edge technology and installation service. The 360-degree approach is the only stop our customers need to purchase law
enforcement vehicles (GM, Ford, Dodge), have them upfitted with lights, sirens, radio communication and rugged IT technology, and
then have them “ready to roll”. Our mission is to provide and install equipment that ensures safe and efficient mission critical vehicles
while incorporating the latest technological advances. We adhere to strict quality control procedures and provide comprehensive
services. The Brekford certified installation team provides our customers the highest level of expertise and service from inception to
completion, including maintenance and upgrades.

We distinguish ourselves by truly being a “one-stop shop” for vehicle upfitting, cutting edge technology, and installation
services.  Unlike our competitors, we provide customers with one place to purchase law enforcement vehicles that are not only
upfitted with the traditional lights and sirens but also with rugged IT hardware and communications equipment.  Our 360-degree
engineered bumper-to-bumper vehicle solution, our commitment to top quality, fast, reliable service, along with our streamlined
purchasing process is why we believe Brekford is the best all-around vehicle and automated traffic enforcement technology solutions
provider.

Purchasing and Order Fulfillment

We work with manufacturers and distributors to secure the lowest cost possible while taking advantage of any available incentives in
order to maximize product margins, provide competitive pricing and minimize delivery time to our customers. Typically, once our sales
team receives orders from our customers, we then purchase the required products from manufacturers and then sell (and where
necessary install) the products to our customers.

Business Strategy
 
Brekford Corp. is a technology services provider of mobile computer and video systems through its vehicle upfitting services to
homeland security agencies and federal, state, and local law enforcement agencies and traffic safety enforcement which includes
photo speed, red light, and parkingenforcement solutions and citation management for municipalities. The primary products and
services from which Brekford has earned revenue and anticipates we will continue to earn revenue is through this suite of products
and services.

The public safety communications market is a $4.2 billion market, with rugged mobile technology growing at more than 10% per
annum. Police, fire and EMS personnel have unique requirements for communication, ruggedness, reliability and quality. Their
equipment must be able to work in extreme environments that include high levels of vibration and shock, wide temperature ranges,
varying humidity, electromagnetic interference and voltage and current transients.  Furthermore, public safety personnel and
emergency responders are demanding tailored mobile communication solutions that enable real-time access and exchange of critical
data to assure timely and precise resource allocation by public sector decision makers. Brekford’s in-vehicle technology and
communication solutions provide public safety workers and emergency responders with the unique functionalities necessary to
enable effective response to emergency situations.

ATSE solutions include speed and red-light camera technologies that are increasingly in demand, as well as parking enforcement
solutions with a complete turnkey backend citation management software suite. The U.S. market for red-light systems is estimated at
20,000 to 30,000 systems and the market for speed cameras is estimated at 35,000 to 50,000 systems. According to the IIHS, as of
March 2015, 466 communitities have red light cameras currently operating and 138 communities have speed cameras operating in at
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least one location. We have established a foothold in this business by securing contracts with several municipalities in the Mid-
Atlantic region, and we are currently implementing plans for national and international expansion. There are only a handful
of competitors that are currently providing ATSE services with three companies that are considered leaders of this industry.
Management believes that the Company possesses a technical advantage over its competitors.  Due to our flexible customized
solutions and superior customer service, we believe we are poised to capture increased market share in the U.S., Mexico, and other
countries in the near future.
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Competition
 
Although we operate in an industry that has experienced substantial growth in recent years, it is also characterized by extensive
fragmentation.  Further, although there are only a handful of competitors in our industry, competition among those companies is
intense.  Larger competitors may have greater buying power and, therefore, may be able to offer better pricing that we can offer,
which is one of the key factors in determining whether a contract will be awarded by local, state and federal agencies with limited
budgets. The majority of our sales are to government agencies and other government contractors with historically stable operating
budgets, thus our operating results and growth are largely dependent on national and local economic conditions.  At the same time,
we believe that our technology, size, and strategy provide more flexibility when bidding on contracts in smaller to medium sized
municipalities which collectively constitutes the majority of installation opportunities within the U.S.
 
To address these competitive pressures and industry trends, we intend to grow revenues by:
 
 • Offering an expanded platform of products and higher-end technical services to our existing customers;

 • Increasing our customer base by expanding our offerings into additional regions;

 • Offering a 360 Degree one-stop shop for “smart” law enforcement vehicle and municipal lease/financing options on full
vehicle build-outs;

 • Using our placement on the General Services Administration (“GSA”), a preferred, pre-negotiated contract that
provides significant revenue opportunities from federal, state and local governments, which, along with the passage of
the Local Preparedness Acquisition Act, management believes will benefit our upfitting group by opening up our
products and services to federal, state and local governments with which we have not done business before;

 • Increasing ATSE installation and services (speed, red light, and parking) both nationally and internationally. The global
economic environment may present opportunities and challenges in the year ahead, yet municipalities will still need to
address road safety issues and photo-enforcement is a crucial tool in that task; and

 • We intend to continue to invest in research and development to ensure that out technologies remain at the forefront of
the industry.

 
Customers

The Company has several contracts with government agencies, of which net revenue from one customer during the year ended
December 31, 2014 represented 10% of the total net revenue for such year. One customer accounted for 53% of total accounts
receivable as of December 31, 2014.

Future Legislation

Because much of our business growth involves providing traffic enforcement solutions to governmental agencies and municipalities,
the future passage of laws and regulations affecting red light camera and speed camera systems could have a material adverse
impact on our business.  Camera-operated traffic enforcement solutions have recently been the subject of significant public criticism
and legislators in various jurisdictions have introduced, or have indicated that they intend to introduce, legislation to better monitor and
control traffic enforcement activities.  For example, legislation passed in Maryland in 2014 imposes a civil penalty on enforcement
contractors if they issue erroneous citations on behalf of a municipality. It also prohibits contractors from receiving compensation
based on the number of citations issued by the municipality or citations actually paid.  We cannot predict whether additional pieces of
legislation will be enacted, or the impact they may have on our business.

Employees

As of February 28, 2015, we employed 42 full-time employees. We have never had a work stoppage, and none of our employees are
represented by collective bargaining agreements.  We anticipate hiring additional employees to ensure timely delivery of customer
projects and services, as necessary. Additionally, we intend to use the services of independent consultants and contractors to
perform various professional services, when appropriate. We believe that this use of third-party service providers may enhance our
ability to contain general and administrative expenses.
 
Corporate Information

Our principal executive offices are located at 7020 Dorsey Road, Hanover, Maryland 21076.  Our telephone number is (443) 557-
0200 and our internet address is www.brekford.com.
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Available Information
 
We maintain an Internet website at www.brekford.com on which we make available, free of charge, our Annual Reports on Form 10-
K, our Quarterly Reports on Form 10-K, our Current Reports on Form 8-K and all amendments thereto as soon as reasonably
practicable after they are electronically filed with or furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”). Information
appearing on our website is not incorporated by reference in, and is not a part of, this Annual Report.

ITEM 2.  PROPERTIES

Our corporate headquarters is located in Hanover, Maryland in an approximately 22,000 square foot office and warehouse facility
which is leased at various monthly rates through April 30, 2020. The Company also leases approximately 2,500 square feet of office
space from Peppermill Properties, LLC, a Maryland limited liability company (“Peppermill”). Peppermill is owned and managed by
Chandra (C.B.) Brechin and Scott Rutherford, who are officers, directors and principal stockholders of the Company. On June 1,
2010, the Company entered into a three-year lease with Peppermill, which was subsequently amended to extend the lease expiration
date to June 30, 2015. This space is used for the expansion of business. The total minimum annual lease payments due under the
Company’s lease agreements are $941,353.

ITEM 3.  LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

We are at times, in the ordinary course of business, subject to legal actions.  Management, upon the advice of counsel, believes that
losses, if any, that may result from current legal proceedings will not have a material adverse effect on our financial condition or
results of operations.
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PART II
 
ITEM 5.  MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES
OF EQUITY SECURITIES

As of February 27, 2015, 44,632,569 shares of Brekford Corp. common stock were outstanding and held by approximately 55
stockholders of record (based solely on the information provided to us by our transfer agent). This number of stockholders does not
include:

•  any beneficial owners of common stock whose shares are held in the names of various dealers, clearing agencies, banks,
brokers and other fiduciaries, or

•  broker-dealers or other participants who hold or clear shares directly or indirectly through the Depository Trust Company, or
its nominee, Cede & Co.

On January 30, 2008, our common stock began trading on the Over-the-Counter Bulletin Board (the “OTCBB”) under the ticker
symbol “BFDI”.   Since April 2010, our common stock has also been quoted on the OTCQB marketplace of the OTC Markets Group
under the ticker symbol “BFDI”. Our common stock is not listed on any national or regional securities exchange.
 
The following table sets forth, for the periods presented, the high and low bid price ranges of our common stock as reported on the
OTCBB. These over-the-counter market quotations reflect inter-dealer prices, without retail mark-up, mark-down or commission and
may not necessarily represent actual transactions.
 
  High   Low  
Fiscal year ended December 31, 2013:         
  First Quarter  $ 0.78   $ 0.50  
  Second Quarter  $ 0.74   $ 0.49  
  Third Quarter  $ 0.65   $ 0.51  
  Fourth Quarter  $ 0.52   $ 0.11  
Fiscal year ended December 31, 2014:       
  First Quarter  $ 0.34   $ 0.14  
  Second Quarter  $ 0.20   $ 0.10  
  Third Quarter  $ 0.39   $ 0.13  
  Fourth Quarter  $ 0.49   $ 0.16  

On March 26, 2015, the closing sales price of our common stock as reported on the OTCBB was $0.19 per share.

Dividends
 
We have never declared or paid dividends on our Common Stock. We intend to use retained earnings, if any, for the operation and
expansion of our business, and therefore do not anticipate paying cash dividends in the foreseeable future.  Moreover, the General
Corporation Law of the State of Delaware provides that the Company’s board of directors may declare and pay a dividend on the
common stock only out of surplus or, if we have no surplus, out of net profits for the fiscal year in which the dividend is declared
and/or the preceding fiscal year.  Accordingly, there can be no assurance that dividends will be paid on our common stock even if our
board desires to do so.

Equity Compensation Plan
 
Pursuant to the SEC’s Regulation S-K Compliance and Disclosure Interpretation 106.01, the information regarding Brekford Corp’s
equity compensation plans required by this Item pursuant to Item 201(d) of Regulation S-K is located in Item 12 of Part III of this
annual report and is incorporated herein by reference.
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Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer and Affiliated Purchasers
 
Issuer Repurchases

On September 28, 2012, the Company’s board of directors adopted a stock repurchase program which permits the Company to
repurchase up to $363,280 in shares of our common stock in open market transactions or in privately negotiated transactions at the
Corporation’s discretion over a 24-month period.  The stock repurchase program expired on September 28, 2014. The Company
announced this stock repurchase program in a Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on October 16, 2012.

Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities

On January 7, 2014, the Company issued 50,000 shares of restricted common stock, having a fair market value of $0.27 per share, to
the Company’s directors under the Company’s 2008 Stock Incentive Plan as part of our director compensation program and in
consideration of services rendered.  These shares were issued in reliance on the exemption from registration provided by Rule 701
promulgated under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”).  All other equity securities of the Company sold
during 2014 in transactions that were not registered under the Securities Act were previously reported in the Company’s Quarterly
Reports on Form 10-Q and/or Current Reports on Form 8-K.

ITEM 7.  MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with our
financial statements and the notes thereto and other financial information appearing elsewhere in this Annual Report.

Application of Critical Accounting Policies and Pronouncements

The preparation of our financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States requires
us to make estimates and judgments affecting the reporting amounts of assets and liabilities, expenses and related disclosures. We
base our estimates on historical experience, our knowledge of economic and market factors and various other assumptions we
believe to be reasonable under the circumstances. We may also engage third party specialists to assist us in formulating estimates
when considered necessary. Estimates and judgments used in the preparation of our financial statements are, by their nature,
uncertain and unpredictable and depend upon, among other things, many factors outside of our control, such as demand for our
products and economic conditions. Accordingly, our estimates and judgments may prove to be different from actual amounts that may
only be determined upon the outcome of one or more confirming events and actual results may differ, perhaps significantly, from
these estimates under different estimates, assumptions or conditions. The Company believes the critical accounting policies below
are affected by estimates, assumptions and judgments used in the preparation of our financial statements.

Accounts Receivable
 
Accounts receivable are carried at estimated net realizable value. The Company has a policy of reserving for uncollectable accounts
based on its best estimate of the amount of probable credit losses in its existing accounts receivable. The Company calculates the
allowance based on a specific analysis of past due balances. Past due status for a particular customer is based on how recently
payments have been received from that customer. Historically, the Company’s actual collection experience has not differed
significantly from its estimates, due primarily to credit and collections practices and the financial strength of its customers.

Revenue Recognition

The Company recognizes revenue relating to its vehicle upfitting solutions when all of the following criteria have been satisfied:  (i)
persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists; (ii) delivery or installation has been completed; (iii) the customer accepts and verifies
receipt; and (iv) collectability is reasonably assured.  The Company considers delivery to its customers to have occurred at the time at
which products are delivered and/or installation work is completed and the customer acknowledges its acceptance of the work.
 
For automated traffic safety enforcement revenue, the Company recognizes the revenue when the required collection efforts are
completed and the respective municipality is billed depending on the terms of the respective contract. The Company records revenue
related to automated traffic violations for the Company’s share of the violation amount.

 
8

EDGAR Stream is a copyright of Issuer Direct Corporation, all rights reserved.



 

 
Income Taxes

The Company uses the liability method to account for income taxes. Income tax expense includes income taxes currently payable and
deferred taxes arising from temporary differences between financial reporting and income tax bases of assets and liabilities. Deferred
income taxes are measured using the enacted tax rates and laws that are expected to be in effect when the differences are expected
to reverse. Valuation allowances are established when necessary to reduce deferred tax assets to the amount expected to be
realized. Income tax expense, if any, consists of the taxes payable for the current period. Valuation allowances are established when
the realization of deferred tax assets are not considered more likely than not.

The Company files income tax returns with the U.S. Internal Revenue Service and with the revenue services of various states. The
Company is no longer subject to U.S. federal, state and local examinations by tax authorities for years prior to 2011. The Company’s
policy is to recognize interest related to unrecognized tax benefits as income tax expense. The Company believes that it has
appropriate support for the income tax positions it takes and expects to take on its tax returns, and that its accruals for tax liabilities
are adequate for all open years based on an assessment of many factors including past experience and interpretations of tax law
applied to the facts of each matter.

Results of Operations

Results of Operations for the Years Ended December 31, 2014 and 2013

The following tables summarize and compare selected items from the statements of operations for the years ended December 31,
2014 and 2013.
 
  Year Ended December 31,   Increase(Decrease)  

  2014   2013   $   %  
Net Revenues  $ 17,659,533  $ 13,619,306  $ 4,040,227   29.67%
Cost of Revenues   14,527,646   10,183,078   4,344,568   42.66%
Gross Profit  $ 3,131,887  $ 3,436,228  $ (304,341)   (8.86)%

                 
Gross Profit Percentage of Revenue   17.7%  25.2%        

 
Revenues

Revenues for the year ended December 31, 2014 were $17,659,533 compared to $13,619,306 for the year ended December 31,
2013, an increase of $4,040,227 or 29.67%, primarily due to increased sales of rugged IT products as well as professional upfitting
services for our Vehicle Services product line.  ATSE sales experienced a modest decrease year over year as existing programs
continue to mature, resulting in improved driver behavior and lower violation rates within communities served.  The Company
continues to focus on generating efficient and stable growth in our Vehicle Services offerings, while building a pipeline of future
recurring revenue streams for ATSE.  We anticipate increasing contributions from our ATSE product line as new clients and contracts
are added.
 
The Company anticipates that, beginning in the second quarter of 2015, it will receive revenue from the City of Saltillo Mexico under
an exclusive agreement signed in 2014 with Grupo Canviso Tec (“Canviso”), a Mexican Corporation, for the purposes of supplying
turnkey ATSE services to cities and municipalities in Mexico. Per the arrangement, Brekford will provide all camera equipment,
software, infrastructure, related technology, and ongoing support for any contracts in which Canviso enters within Mexico. Canviso’s
responsibility, in addition to business development, includes day-to-day operations such as processing, printing, mailing, and
collections. In exchange for its services, the Company will receive 50% of all amounts paid to Canviso via contractual arrangements
for supply of these services. In November 2014, Canviso signed a three year contract with the City of Saltillo Mexico to provide
turnkey ATSE services with provisions to install up to 210 speed and red light cameras throughout the City. In exchange for the
services, Canviso will receive 30% of all collected proceeds from issued fines. All infrastructure, equipment, servers, and the first ten
speed camera units have been installed and tested in preparation for scheduled startup in the second quarter of 2015. The Company
has provided the initial equipment and will continue assisting with installations of new equipment throughout 2015 in support of the
program. Based on initial volumetric testing of speeding infractions in Saltillo, and the Company’s experience with existing clients
regarding citation issuance and collection rates, we are anticipating a significant source of revenue from this program. Additionally we
are in discussions and providing testing support for several other surrounding cities. At least one of these other prospective clients is
similar in size and scope to the Saltillo program. Since the Company and Canviso bear all collections risk, and although we have
performed a detailed analysis of collections potential, the Company cannot be certain of the collection rates from these programs until
operations begin. Additionally, the Company nor Canviso, can be certain that the projected startup date for Saltillo will not be
delayed.
 
Cost of Revenues

EDGAR Stream is a copyright of Issuer Direct Corporation, all rights reserved.



Cost of revenues for the year ended December 31, 2014 was $14,527,646 compared to $10,183,078 for the year ended
December 31, 2013, an increase of $4,344,568 or 42.66%.  The increase was primarily due to additional purchases of Rugged IT
products corresponding to increased sales, offset by decreased direct labor costs for Vehicle Services installation.
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Gross Profit

Gross profit for the year ended December 31, 2014 amounted to $3,131,887 as compared to $3,436,228 for the year ended
December 31, 2013, a decrease of $304,341 or 8.86%. Gross margin percentage for the year ended December 31, 2014 was 17.7%
as compared to 25.2% for the year ended December 31, 2013.  Gross margin for ATSE increased year over year while gross margin
for Vehicle Services was down slightly.  The overall gross margin decrease is attributable to a higher proportion of revenues
generated by Vehicle Services.

Expenses
 
  Year Ended December 31,   Increase(Decrease)  

  2014   2013   $    %  
OPERATING EXPENSES              
Salaries and related expenses  $ 1,878,671  $ 1,956,640  $ (77,969)   (3.98)%
Selling, general and administrative expenses   2,585,302   2,721,650   (136,348)   (5.01)%
Total operating expenses  $ 4,463,973  $ 4,678,290  $ (214,317)   (4.58)%

Salaries and Related Expenses

Salaries and related expenses for the year ended December 31, 2014 amounted to $1,878,671 compared to $1,956,640 for the year
ended December 31, 2013, a decrease of $77,969 or 3.98%.  The Company had a net reduction of six full-time employees at
December 31, 2014 as compared to December 31, 2013.  Management made a conscious decision to retain and supplement key
management and business development personnel in order to focus on growth initiatives.  We will continue to monitor organizational
requirements on a quarterly basis to ensure that investments in personnel ultimately correspond with future sales growth.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

Selling, general and administrative expenses for the year ended December 31, 2014 were $2,585,302 compared to $2,721,650 for
the year ended December 31, 2013, a decrease of $136,348 or 5.01 %, primarily due to decreases in depreciation, and bad debt
expenses.  Lower depreciation expense was the result of the disposal of certain obsolete ATSE equipment as reported in the second
quarter of 2014.  Lower bad debt expense was the result of recognizing ATSE revenue when collection efforts have been completed
and the customer has been billed.
 
Other Expense and Income
 
  Year Ended December 31,   (Decrease)/Increase  

  2014   2013   $    %  
    OTHER (EXPENSE) INCOME              
    Interest expense  $ (170,561)  $ (181,030)  $ 10,469   (5.78)%
 S Interest income   —   174   (174)   (100)%
O Other income (expense)   —   3,332   (3,332)   (100)%
    Total other (expense) income  $ (170,561)  $ (177,524)  $ 6,963   (3.92)%

Interest expense for the year ended December 31, 2014 was $170,561 compared to $181,030 for the year ended December 31,
2013, a decrease of $10,469 or 5.78%.

Interest income for the year ended December 31, 2014 was $0 compared to $174 for the year ended December 31, 2013, a
decrease of $174.  The decrease resulted primarily from a decrease in funds invested in interest bearing accounts.
 
Net Loss
 
The Company recorded a net loss of $1,502,647 for the year ended December 31, 2014 compared to a net loss of $1,419,586 for the
year ended December 31, 2013, an increase of $83,061 or 5.85%.  The increase was primarily due to lower gross profit margins
based on the sales mix contributions of Vehicle Services and ATSE as referenced above.  Despite the increased loss year over year,
growth in Vehicle Services and a renewed focus on the ATSE pipeline should enable the Company to mitigate losses moving forward
as newly added contracts begin generating revenue in the second quarter of 2015 and beyond.  Basic and diluted net loss per
common share were $0.03 for both 2014 and 2013.
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Financial Condition, Liquidity and Capital Resources

At December 31, 2014, we had total current assets of approximately $3.85 million and total current liabilities of approximately $3.92
million, resulting in a working capital deficit of approximately $70 thousand. Inventory totaled $0.7 million at December 31, 2014 and
primarily consisted of raw materials related to future product sales. In comparison, at December 31, 2013, we had total current assets
of approximately $4.9 million and total current liabilities of approximately $4.8 million, resulting in a working capital surplus of
approximately $0.1 million.

The Company’s accumulated deficit increased to $10,571,209 at December 31, 2014 from $9,068,562 at December 31, 2013, as
result of the net loss recorded for 2014. Cash flows used in operations for the year ended December 31, 2014 were $306,783,
compared to cash flows provided by operations for the year ended December 31, 2013 was $92,346.

The Company relies on cash reserves, cash flows from operations and the Credit Facility (as defined below) to fund its
operations.  At December 31, 2014, the Company had approximately $1.1 million in unrestricted cash available, compared to
approximately $2.1 million at December 31, 2013.  In addition, the Company has established a credit facility (the “Credit Facility”)
with Rosenthal & Rosenthal (“Rosenthal”) consisting of $2.5 million in revolving loans (the “Revolving Facility”) and a $500,000 non-
revolving term loan (the “Term Loan”).  The amount of funds available under the Revolving Facility from time to time is subject to
certain limits based on, among other things, the Company’s receivables and inventory.  At December 31, 2014, the Company had
$1.2 million in outstanding indebtedness under the Revolving Facility and $416,667 in outstanding indebtedness under the Term
Loan, and the Company could have borrowed up to an additional $1.3 million under the Revolving Facility. As of December 31, 2014,
we were out of compliance the financial covenants contained in the Credit Facility as a result of the loss recorded for the year ended
December 31, 2014.  We reported this non-compliance to Rosenthal, who granted a waiver for the year ended December 31, 2014.

As discussed in Note 6 to the condensed consolidated financial statements presented elsewhere in this Annual Report, the Company
is indebted to C.B. Brechin and Scott Rutherford under unsecured promissory notes in the aggregate balance of $500,000 as of
December 31, 2014.  On November 4, 2014, the maturity dates of these unsecured promissory notes were extended to the earlier of
(i) November 9, 2015 or (ii) ten business days from the date on which Brekford closes an equity financing that generates gross
proceeds in the aggregate amount of not less than $5,000,000.

The Company intends to continue its efforts to expand sales of ATSE products, and such expansion may significantly increase the
Company’s working capital needs. On March 17, 2015 the Company entered into a note and warrant purchase agreement providing
for immediate funding of $650,000 (see Note 14 to the condensed consolidated financial statements presented elsewhere in this
Annual Report for additional detail). The primary use of proceeds will be to acquire necessary equipment for the initial phase of a 210
camera project in Mexico providing turnkey ATSE services to the City of Saltillo, which is expected to begin operation in the second
quarter of 2015. We anticipate positive cash flow generation from this project within two months after commencement of operations.
Management believes that the Company’s current level of cash combined with cash that it expects to generate in its operations during
the next 12 months and funds available from the Credit Facility will be sufficient to sustain the Company’s business initiatives through
at least December 31, 2015. Management has taken certain measures to conserve the Company’s capital resources and maintain
liquidity that it believes will permit the Company to meet its future capital requirements, but there can be no assurance that these
measures will be successful or adequate.

In the event that the Company’s cash reserves, cash flow from operations and funds available under the Credit Facility are not
sufficient to fund the Company’s future operations, it may need to obtain additional capital.  No assurance can be given that the
Company will be able to obtain additional capital in the future or that such capital will be available to the Company on acceptable
terms.  The Company’s ability to obtain additional capital will be subject to a number of factors, including market conditions, the
Company’s operating performance and investor sentiment, which may make it difficult for the Company to consummate a transaction
at the time, in the amount and/or upon the terms and conditions that the Company desires.  If the Company is unable to raise
additional capital at the times, in the amounts, or upon the terms and conditions that it desires, then it might have to delay, scale back
or abandon its expansion efforts.  Even with such changes, the Company’s operations could consume available capital resources and
liquidity.

Cash Flows used in Operating Activities

There were capital expenditures of $40,293 during the year ended December 31, 2014 as compared to $304,792 during 2013.
Capital expenditure during 2013 were primarily related to infrastructure to support our growth and to improve efficiencies with new
technology.

Cash Flows used in Investing Activities

There were capital expenditures of $40,293 during the year ended December 31, 2014 as compared to $304,792 during 2013.
Capital expenditure during 2013 were primarily related to infrastructure to support our growth and to improve efficiencies with new
technology.

EDGAR Stream is a copyright of Issuer Direct Corporation, all rights reserved.



Cash Flows provided by Financing Activities
 
When comparing the year ended December 31, 2014 to the year ended December 31, 2013, changes in cash flows provided by
financing activities resulted primarily from borrowings under the Credit Facility offset by principal payments under our capital
equipment leases.
 
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We do not have any off-balance sheet arrangements that have or are reasonably likely to have a current or future material effect on
our financial condition, changes in financial condition, revenues or expenses, results of operations, liquidity, capital expenditures or
capital resources.

 
11

EDGAR Stream is a copyright of Issuer Direct Corporation, all rights reserved.



 

 

ITEM 8.  FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA
 

INDEX
 

  Page
   
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm  15
   
Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31, 2014 and 2013  16
   
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the Years Ended December 31, 2014 and 2013  17
   
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders’ (Deficit) Equity for the Years Ended December 31, 2014 and 2013  18
   
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Years Ended December 31, 2014 and 2013  19
   
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements  20
 
 
 

12

EDGAR Stream is a copyright of Issuer Direct Corporation, all rights reserved.



 

 
REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

 
To the Board of Directors and
Stockholders of Brekford Corp.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Brekford Corp. (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2014 and
2013, and the related consolidated statements of operations, changes in stockholders’ (deficit) equity and cash flows for each of the
years in the two year period ended December 31, 2014. The Company’s management is responsible for these consolidated financial
statements. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits.
 
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States).
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial
statements are free of material misstatement. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its
internal control over financial reporting. Our audit included consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a basis for
designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also
includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement
presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
Brekford Corp. as of December 31, 2014 and 2013, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the years in the two
year period ended December 31, 2014 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

/s/ Stegman & Company  
Stegman & Company  
  
Baltimore, Maryland  
March 27, 2015  
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BREKFORD CORP.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
 

  
December 31,

2014   
December 31,

2013  
       

ASSETS       
CURRENT ASSETS       
Cash, unrestricted  $ 1,112,881  $ 2,052,306 
Accounts receivable, net of allowance $0 at December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively   1,706,704   1,390,300 
Unbilled receivables   198,725   125,831 
    Prepaid expenses   146,569   47,148 
Inventory   681,948   1,264,099 
Total current assets   3,846,827   4,879,684 
Property and equipment, net   284,322   1,593,202 
Cash, restricted   21,795   — 
Other non-current assets   112,132   187,132 
TOTAL ASSETS  $ 4,265,076  $ 6,660,018 

 LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ (DEFICIT) EQUITY         
CURRENT LIABILITIES         
Accounts payable and accrued expenses  $ 1,842,892  $ 1,731,706 
Accrued payroll and related expenses   23,252   104,100 
Line of credit   1,191,353   1,470,533 
Term loan – current portion   250,000   — 
Other liabilities   48,669   49,922 
Deferred revenue   255,405   677,622 
Customer deposits   137,826   27,640 
Obligations under capital lease – current portion   140,209   616,115 
Obligations under other notes payable – current portion   28,602   32,763 
Deferred rent – current portion   —   48,632 
Total current liabilities   3,918,208   4,759,033 
         
LONG - TERM LIABILITIES         
Notes payable – stockholders   500,000   500,000 
Obligations under capital lease, net of current portion   —   197,832 
Other notes payable - net of current portion   48,371   78,514 
Deferred rent, net of current portion   —   9,895 
Term notes payable, net of current portion   166,667   — 
Total long-term liabilities   715,038   786,241 
TOTAL LIABILITIES   4,633,246   5,545,274 
         
STOCKHOLDERS’ (DEFICIT) EQUITY         
Preferred stock, par value $0.0001 per share; 20,000,000 shares authorized; none issued and

outstanding   —   — 
Common stock, par value $0.0001 per share; 150,000,000 shares authorized; 44,500,569 issued and

outstanding, at December 31, 2014 and 44,450,569 issued and outstanding at December 31, 2013   4,450   4,445 
   Additional paid-in capital   10,204,479   10,184,751 
Treasury Stock, at cost 10,600 shares at  December 31, 2014 and 2013 respectively   (5,890)   (5,890)
   Accumulated deficit   (10,571,209)   (9,068,562 
TOTAL STOCKHOLDERS’ (DEFICIT) EQUITY   (368,170)   1,114,744 
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ (DEFICIT) EQUITY  $ 4,265,076  $ 6,660,018 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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BREKFORD CORP.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

  Years Ended December 31,  

  2014   2013  
       
Net Revenue  $ 17,659,533  $ 13,619,306 
Cost of Revenue   14,527,646   10,183,078 
Gross profit   3,131,887   3,436,228 
         
Operating expenses:         

Salaries and related expenses   1,878,671   1,956,640 
Selling, general and administrative expenses   2,585,302   2,721,650 

Total operating expenses   4,463,973   4,678,290 
Loss from operations   (1,332,086)   (1,242,062) 
Other (expense) income:         

Interest expense   (170,561)   (181,030)
Interest income   —   174 
Other income (expense)   —   3,332 

Total other (expense)income   (170,561)   (177,524) 
Loss before income taxes   (1,502,647)   (1,419,586 )
Income tax expense   —   — 
Net loss  $ (1,502,647)  $ (1,419,586) 

         
Loss per share – basic and diluted  $ (0.03)  $ (0.03) 

Weighted average shares outstanding used in computing per share amounts:         
Basic   44,499,610   44,283,364 

Diluted   44,499,610   44,283,364 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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BREKFORD CORP.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS’ (DEFICIT) EQUITY
For the Years Ended December 31, 2014 and 2013

 
  Common Stock   Treasury Stock           

  Shares   Par Value   Shares   Par Value   
Additional

Paid-In Capital  
Accumulated

Deficit   Total  
BALANCE –
January 1, 2013   44,248,569  $ 4,425   (10,600)  $ (5,890)  $ 10,127,461  $ (7,648,976)  $ 2,477,020 
Restricted shares

issues to
employees   152,000   15   —   —   28,545   —   28,560 

Restricted shares
issues to non-
employees   50,000   5   —   —   28,745   —   28,750 

Repurchase of
common stock   —   —                     

Net loss   —   —   —   —   —   (1,419,586)   (1,419,586)
BALANCE-

December 31,
2013   44,450,569   4,445   (10,600)   (5,890)   10,184,751   (9,068,562)   1,114,744 

Restricted shares
issues to non-
employees   50,000   5   —   —   13,495   —   13,500 

Stock options to non-
employees           —   —   6,233   —   6,233 

Net loss   —   —   —   —   —   (1,502,647)   (1,502,647)
BALANCE –

December 31,
2014   44,500,569  $ 4,450  $ (10,600)  $ (5,890)  $ 10,204,479  $(10,571,209)  $ (368,170)

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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BREKFORD CORP.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
 

  Years Ended December 31, 
  2014   2013  
Cash flows from operating activities:       

Net loss  $ (1,502,647)   $ (1,419,586)  
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash from operating activities:         

Depreciation and amortization   777,434   1,264,643  
Share-based compensation and payments to consultants   19,733   57,310  
Bad debt expense   51,178   249,268  
Loss on disposal of property and equipment   319,739   — 

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:         
Accounts receivable   (367,581)   2,596,451 
Unbilled receivables   (72,894)   82,221  
Prepaid expenses and other non-current assets   (24,421)   101,996  
Inventory   582,151   (591,225) 
Accounts payable and accrued expenses   363,184   (2,361,650)
Accrued payroll and related expenses   (80,848)   25,798 
Other liabilities   (1,253)   (154) 
Customer deposits   110,186   (43,559  
Deferred rent   (58,527)   (63,005 )

       Deferred revenue   (422,217)   193,838 
Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities   (306,783)   92,346 
         
Cash flows from investing activities:         

Purchases of property and equipment   (40,293)   (304,792 )
Restricted Cash   (21,795)   — 

Net cash used in investing activities   (62,088)   (304,792) 
         
Cash flows from financing activities:         

Net change in line of credit   (297,180)      1,470,533 
Principal payments on lease obligation   (673,738)   (583,976)

        Payments on other notes payable   (34,303)   (37,057)
Borrowings on term notes   500,000   — 
Payments on term notes   (83,333)     

Net cash (used in) provided  by  financing activities   (570,554)   849,500 
Net change in cash   (939,425)   637,054 
Cash  – beginning of year   2,052,306   1,415,252 
Cash  – end of year  $ 1,112,881  $ 2,052,306 

         
Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:         

Cash paid for interest  $ 170,561  $ 181,030 

Cash paid for income taxes  $ 1,253  $ 154 

Property and equipment acquisitions  $ 40,293  $ 380,202  
Cash paid for property and equipment acquisitions   (40,293)   (304,792 )
Property and equipment acquisitions financed  $ —   75,410 

Liabilities settled in exchange for equipment  $ 260,000  $ — 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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BREKFORD CORP.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013

 
NOTE 1 – DESCRIPTION OF THE BUSINESS

Brekford Corp. (OTCBB; OTCQB: BFDI) headquartered in Hanover, Maryland is a leading public safety technology service provider
of fully integrated traffic safety solutions, parking enforcement citation collections and integrator of mobile technology equipment for
public safety vehicle services to State and Local municipalities, the U.S. Military and various Federal public safety agencies
throughout the United States. Brekford’s combination of upfitting services, cutting edge technology, and automated traffic
enforcement services offers a unique 360º solution for law enforcement agencies and municipalities. Our core values of integrity,
accountability, respect, and teamwork drive our employees to achieve excellence and deliver industry leading technology and
services, thereby enabling a superior level of safety solutions to our clients.  Brekford has one wholly-owned subsidiary, Municipal
Recovery Agency, LLC, a Maryland limited liability company, that was formed in 2012 for the purpose of providing collection systems
and services for unpaid citations and parking fines.

As used in these notes, the terms “Brekford”, “the Company”, “we”, “our”, and “us” refer to Brekford Corp. and, unless the context
clearly indicates otherwise, its consolidated subsidiary.
 
NOTE 2 – LIQUIDITY

For the year ended December 31, 2014 the company incurred a net loss of $1.5 million, and used $300 thousand of cash for
operations. Additionally, at December 31, 2014 the company has cash available of $1.1 million but a working capital deficit of $70
thousand. During 2014, the Company established a credit facility (see Note 5) that has approximately $1.3 million available at
December 31, 2014. The Company expects to begin operations on its Saltillo Mexico contract in the second quarter of 2015. A $650
thousand note was entered into March 2015 (see Note 14) to provide the necessary startup capital for this contract and any other
operational needs. The Company
expects this contract, as well as the overall Company, to generate positive cash flow for the period ending December 31, 2015.

Management believes that the Company’s current level of cash combined with cash that it expects to generate in its operations during
the next 12 months and funds available from the credit facility and the note will be sufficient to sustain the Company’s business
initiatives through at least December 31, 2015, but there can be no assurance that these measures will be successful or adequate. 
In the event that the Saltillo project is delayed or if projected cash flow does not meet expectations, the Company is prepared to take
immediate action with respect to cost reductions to align future expenditures with existing revenue streams.

NOTE 3 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICES

Principles of Consolidation and Basis of Presentation
 
The Company’s consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Brekford Corp. and its wholly-owned subsidiary, Municipal
Recovery Agency, LLC. Intercompany transactions and balances are eliminated in consolidation.

Use of Estimates
 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”)
requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent
assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amount of revenues and expenses during the reporting
period. In the accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements, estimates are used for, but not limited to, stock-
based compensation, allowance for doubtful accounts, sales returns, allowance for inventory obsolescence, fair value of long-lived
assets, deferred taxes and valuation allowance, and the depreciable lives of fixed assets. Actual results could differ from those
estimates.

Concentration of Credit Risk

The Company maintains cash accounts with major financial institutions. From time to time, amounts deposited may exceed the FDIC
insured limits.

Accounts Receivable
 
Accounts receivable are carried at estimated net realizable value. The Company has a policy of reserving for uncollectable accounts
based on its best estimate of the amount of probable credit losses in its existing accounts receivable. The Company calculates the
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allowance based on a specific analysis of past due balances. Past due status for a particular customer is based on how recently
payments have been received from that customer. Historically, the Company’s actual collection experience has not differed
significantly from its estimates, due primarily to credit and collections practices and the financial strength of its customers.

Inventory

Inventory principally consists of hardware and third-party packaged software that is modified to conform to customer specifications
and held temporarily until the completion of a contract. Inventory is valued at the lower of cost or market value. The cost is determined
by the lower of first-in, first-out (“FIFO”) method, while market value is determined by replacement cost for raw materials and parts
and net realizable value for work-in- process.
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Property and Equipment

Property and equipment is stated at cost. Depreciation of furniture, vehicles, computer equipment and software and phone equipment
is calculated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives (two to ten years), and leasehold improvements are
amortized on a straight-line basis over the shorter of their estimated useful lives or the lease term (which is three to five years).

Management reviews property and equipment for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount of an asset may not be recoverable. Recoverability of the long-lived asset is measured by a comparison of the carrying
amount of the asset to future undiscounted net cash flows expected to be generated by the asset. If such assets are considered to be
impaired, the impairment to be recognized is measured by the amount by which the carrying amount of the assets exceeds the
estimated fair value of the assets.

Revenue Recognition
 
The Company recognizes revenue relating to its vehicle upfitting solutions when all of the following criteria have been satisfied:  (i)
persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists; (ii) delivery or installation has been completed; (iii) the customer accepts and verifies
receipt; and (iv) collectability is reasonably assured.  The Company considers delivery to its customers to have occurred at the time at
which products are delivered and/or installation work is completed and the customer acknowledges its acceptance of the work.

The Company provides its customers with a warranty against defects in the installation of its vehicle upfitting solutions for one year
from the date of installation.  Warranty claims were $10,111 for the year ended December 31, 2014 and $4,029 for the year ended
December 31, 2013.  The Company also performs warranty repair services on behalf of the manufacturers of the equipment it sells.
The Company also offers separately-priced extended warranty and product maintenance contracts to its customers on the equipment
sold by the Company. Revenues from extended warranty services are apportioned over the period of the extended warranty service
contracts and the warranty costs are expensed as incurred. Revenue from extended warranties for the years ended December 31,
2014 and 2013 amounted to $443,737 and $375,756, respectively.
 
For automated traffic safety enforcement revenue, the Company recognizes the revenue when the required collection efforts are
completed and the respective municipality is billed depending on the terms of the respective contract. The Company records revenue
related to automated traffic violations for the Company’s share of the violation amount.

Shipping and Handling Costs

All amounts billed to customers related to shipping and handling are included in products revenues and all costs of shipping and
handling are included in cost of sales in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations. The Company incurred shipping
and handling costs of $57,843 and $75,134 for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively.

 
19

EDGAR Stream is a copyright of Issuer Direct Corporation, all rights reserved.



 

 
Advertising Costs

The Company expenses advertising costs as incurred. These expenses are included in selling, general and administrative expenses
in the accompanying statements of operations. Advertising expense amounted to $30,412 and $16,500 for the years ended
December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively.
 
Share-Based Compensation

The Company complies with the provisions of Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Accounting Standards Codification
(“ASC”) Topic 718, Compensation-Stock Compensation, in measuring and disclosing stock based compensation cost.  The
measurement objective in ASC Paragraph 718-10-30-6 requires public companies to measure the cost of employee services received
in exchange for an award of equity instruments based on the grant date fair value of the award.  The cost is recognized in expense
over the period in which an employee is required to provide service in exchange for the award (the vesting period).  Performance-
based awards are expensed ratably from the date that the likelihood of meeting the performance measures is probable through the
end of the vesting period.

Treasury Stock

The Company accounts for treasury stock using the cost method.  As of December 31, 2014, 10,600 shares of our common stock
were held in treasury at an aggregate cost of $5,890.

Income Taxes

The Company uses the liability method to account for income taxes. Income tax expense includes income taxes currently payable and
deferred taxes arising from temporary differences between financial reporting and income tax bases of assets and liabilities. Deferred
income taxes are measured using the enacted tax rates and laws that are expected to be in effect when the differences are expected
to reverse. Valuation allowances are established when necessary to reduce deferred tax assets to the amount expected to be
realized. Income tax expense, if any, consists of the taxes payable for the current period. Valuation allowances are established when
the realization of deferred tax assets are not considered more likely than not.

The Company files income tax returns with the U.S. Internal Revenue Service and with the revenue services of various states. The
Company is no longer subject to U.S. federal, state and local examinations by tax authorities for years prior to 2011. The Company’s
policy is to recognize interest related to unrecognized tax benefits as income tax expense. The Company believes that it has
appropriate support for the income tax positions it takes and expects to take on its tax returns, and that its accruals for tax liabilities
are adequate for all open years based on an assessment of many factors including past experience and interpretations of tax law
applied to the facts of each matter.

Loss per Share
 
Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing net loss available to common stockholders by the weighted-average number of common
shares outstanding and does not include the effect of any potentially dilutive common stock equivalents.  Diluted loss per share is
calculated by dividing net loss by the weighted-average number of shares outstanding, adjusted for the effect of any potentially
dilutive common stock equivalents.  There is no dilutive effect on the loss per share during loss periods. See Note 8 for the
calculation of basic and diluted loss earnings per share.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The carrying amounts reported in the balance sheets for cash, accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued expenses
approximate their fair values based on the short-term maturity of these instruments. The carrying amount of the Company’s
promissory note obligations approximate fair value, as the terms of these notes are consistent with terms available in the market for
instruments with similar risk.
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Restricted Cash

Restricted cash represents temporarily restricted deposits held as compensating balances against outstanding balances due under
our Credit Facility (as defined in Note 5). As of December 31, 2014, the Company had restricted cash of approximately $21,795.

Segment Reporting

FASB ASC Topic 280, Segment Reporting, requires that an enterprise report selected information about operating segments in its
financial reports issued to its stockholders. Based on its current analysis, management has determined that the Company has only
one operating segment, which is Traffic Safety Solutions. The chief operating decision-makers use combined results to make
operating and strategic decisions, and, therefore, the Company believes its entire operation is covered under a single segment.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In May 2014, the FASB amended the ASC and created Topic 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers, to clarify the principles
for recognizing revenue. This guidance will be effective for the Company beginning January 1, 2017 and must be adopted using
either a full retrospective approach for all periods presented in the period of adoption or a modified retrospective approach. We have
not yet determined the effects of this new guidance on our financial statements.

In August 2014, the FASB issued a new U.S. GAAP accounting standard that provides guidance about management’s responsibility
to evaluate whether there is substantial doubt about an entity’s ability to continue as a going concern and to provide related footnote
disclosures. The new accounting standard requires management to assess an entity’s ability to continue as a going concern by
incorporating and expanding upon certain principles that are currently in U.S. auditing standards. The new accounting standard is
effective for the annual period ending after December 15, 2016, and for annual periods and interim periods thereafter. Early
application is permitted. The Company does not expect the adoption of this standard to have a material impact on the consolidated
financial statements.

NOTE 4 - PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Property and equipment consists of the following:
 
   December 31,  

  2014   2013  
Leasehold improvements  $ 502,092  $ 502,092 
Computer equipment and software   519,368   509,368 
Vehicles   333,531   333,531 
Furniture   100,089   100,089 
Cameras   574,753   2,808,753 
Phone equipment   48,817   48,817 
Handheld ticketing system   30,293   — 
   2,108,943   4,302,650  
 Accumulated depreciation and amortization   (1,824,621)   (2,709,448) 
  $ 284,322   $ 1,593,202 

 
Depreciation and amortization of property and equipment for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 was $777,434 and
$1,264,643, respectively. The decrease in the property and equipment was the result of the disposal of certain obsolete ATSE
equipment as reported in the second quarter of 2014.
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NOTE 5 – LINE OF CREDIT AND OTHER NOTES PAYABLE

On May 27, 2014, Brekford Corp. closed (the “Closing”) on an aggregate $3.0 million credit facility (the “Credit Facility”) with
Rosenthal & Rosenthal, Inc. (“Rosenthal”) as lender consisting of $2.5 million in revolving loans (the “Revolving Facility”) and a
$500,000 non-revolving term loan (the “Term Loan”). The terms and conditions of the Credit Facility are set forth in a Financing
Agreement between the Company and Rosenthal dated May 27, 2014 (the “Financing Agreement”). The Term Loan is additionally
evidenced by a Term Note issued by the Company in favor of Rosenthal. The maximum amount that the Company may borrow from
time to time under the Revolving Facility will be the lesser of $2.5 million or the “Loan Availability” (as defined in the Financing
Agreement), which is tied to the amount of the Company’s “Eligible Receivables” (as defined in the Financing Agreement) and the
amount of its “Eligible Inventory” (as defined in the Financing Agreement). Interest on the unpaid principal balances due under the
Credit Facility will be payable monthly in arrears. Amounts borrowed under the Revolving Facility that do not exceed the “Receivable
Availability” (as defined in the Financing Agreement) will bear interest at an annual rate equal to the prime rate from time to time
publicly announced in New York City by JPMorgan Chase Bank (the “Prime Rate”) plus 2.5%; amounts borrowed under the
Revolving Facility that relate to the “Inventory Availability” (as defined in the Financing Agreement) will bear interest at an annual rate
equal to the Prime Rate plus 3.0% (the “Inventory Rate”); and any amounts that, on any day, exceed the Loan Availability will bear
interest at an annual rate equal to the Inventory Rate plus 4.0%; provided, however, that the Prime Rate will never be deemed to be
less than 4.0%. The Company agreed to pay a minimum of $3,000 in monthly interest under the Revolving Facility, as well as a
$1,000 monthly loan administration fee. In addition, the Company agreed to pay Rosenthal a facility fee at the Closing in the amount
of $30,000. At each annual renewal of the Financing Agreement, the Company will pay Rosenthal a facility fee in the amount of
$18,750. 

The Company’s obligations under the Financing Agreement and related documents are secured by a continuing lien on and security
interest in substantially all of the Company’s assets. The Company’s repayment obligations under the Revolving Facility are due on
demand by Rosenthal or, at Rosenthal’s option, upon the expiration of the Financing Agreement and/or the occurrence of an event of
default thereunder. The original term of the Financing Agreement will expire on May 31, 2016 but will automatically renew for
successive one-year terms unless the Company elects not to renew the Financing Agreement by providing at least 60 days’ prior
written notice thereof to Rosenthal. Rosenthal may terminate the Financing Agreement at any time upon 60 days’ prior written notice
to the Company. At December 31, 2014, the Company had $1.2 million in outstanding indebtedness under the Revolving Facility and
$416,667 in outstanding indebtedness under the Term Loan, and the Company could have borrowed up to an additional $1.3 million
under the Revolving Facility. As of December 31, 2014, we were out of compliance with one of the financial covenants contained in
the Credit Facility as a result of the loss recorded for the year ended 2014. We reported this non-compliance to Rosenthal, and
Rosenthal granted a waiver for the year ended December 31, 2014.
The Credit Facility replaced the Company’s $2.0 million credit facility with PNC Bank, National Association (“PNC”), under that certain
Loan Agreement, dated as of June 28, 2012, as amended (the “PNC Facility”), and refinanced the amounts that were due under the
PNC Facility. At the Closing, the Company paid approximately $1,030,707 to PNC in satisfaction of its obligations under the PNC
Facility. In addition, the Company used proceeds from the Credit Facility, totaling approximately $310,649, to satisfy its obligations to
Bank of America, N.A., under its Master Lease Agreement, dated as of December 13, 2011.

The Company financed certain vehicles and equipment under finance agreements. The agreements mature at various dates through
December 2017. The agreements require various monthly payments of principal and interest until maturity. As of December 31, 2014
and 2013, financed assets of $75,988 and $118,671, respectively, net of accumulated amortization of $65,927 and $50,293,
respectively, are included in property and equipment on the balance sheets. The weighted average interest rate was 3.29% at
December 31, 2014 and 3.75% at December 31, 2013.  Future maturities of notes payable are as follows as of December 31, 2014:

2015  $ 28,602 
2016   29,391 
2017   18,980 
Total  $ 76,973 
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NOTE 6 – NOTES PAYABLE – STOCKHOLDERS

Brekford financed the repurchase of shares of its common stock and warrants from the proceeds of convertible promissory notes that
were issued by Brekford on November 9, 2009 in favor of a lender group that included two of its directors, Messrs. C.B. Brechin and
Scott Rutherford, in the principal amounts of $250,000 each (each, a “Promissory Note” and together, the “Promissory Notes”). Each
Promissory Note bears interest at the rate of 12% per annum and at the time of issuance was to be convertible into shares of
Brekford Corp. common stock, at the option of the holder, at an original conversion price of $.07 per share. At the time of issuance,
Brekford agreed to pay the unpaid principal balance of the Promissory Notes and all accrued but unpaid interest on the date that was
the earlier of (i) two years from the issuance date or (ii) 10 business days after the date on which Brekford Corp. closes an equity
financing that generates gross proceeds in the aggregate amount of not less than $5,000,000.

On April 1, 2010, Brekford Corp. and each member of the lender group executed a First Amendment to the Unsecured Promissory
Note, which amended the Promissory Notes as follows:

•  Revise the conversion price in the provision that allows the holder of the Promissory Note to elect to convert any outstanding
and unpaid principal portion of the Promissory Note and any accrued but unpaid interest into shares of the common stock at a
price of fourteen cents ($0.14) per share, and

•  Each Promissory Note’s maturity date was extended to the earlier of (i) four years from the issuance date or (ii) 10 business
days after the date on which Brekford closes an equity financing that generates gross proceeds in the aggregate amount of not
less than $5,000,000.

 
On November 8, 2013, Brekford Corp. and each member of the lender group agreed to extend the maturity dates of the Promissory
Notes to the earlier of (i) November 9, 2014 or (ii) 10 business days after the date on which Brekford Corp. closes an equity financing
that generates gross proceeds in the aggregate amount of not less than $5,000,000.

On November 4, 2014, Brekford Corp. and each member of the lender group agreed to further extend the maturity dates of the
Promissory Notes to the earlier of (i) November 9, 2015 or (ii) 10 business days after the date on which Brekford Corp. closes an
equity financing that generates gross proceeds in the aggregate amount of not less than $5,000,000

At December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013, the amounts outstanding under the Promissory Notes totaled $500,000.
 
NOTE 7 – LEASES

Capital Leases

The Company financed certain equipment under separate non-cancelable equipment loan and security agreements. The agreements
mature in April 2015. The agreements require various monthly payments of principal and interest through maturity and are secured by
the assets under lease. As part of the liability settlement to the vendor, certain leased obsolete ATSE equipment was disposed and
upgraded with the Brekford’s latest integrated technology. As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, capital lease assets of $0 and
$932,407, respectively, net of accumulated amortization of $0 and $1,301,593, respectively, are included in property and equipment
on the consolidated balance sheets. Our weighted average interest rate was 5.84% and 5.28% at December 31, 2014 and December
31, 2013, respectively

Future minimum lease payments under these lease agreements at December 31, 2014 are as follows:
 
2015  $ 142,607 
Less: amounts representing interest   (2,398) 
Present value of net minimum lease payments  $ 140,209 
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Operating Leases

The Company rents office space under separate non-cancelable operating leases expiring in June 2015 and January 2015. The
Company amended the lease expiring in January 2015 to extend for a 63-month term expiring on April 30, 2020.

Future minimum lease payments under these lease agreements, exclusive of the Company’s share of operating costs at
December 31, 2014 are as follows:
 
2015   154,378 
2016   172,697 
2017   177,878 
2018   183,214 
2019   188,711 
2020   64,475 
Total  $ 941,353 

In addition, the lessor provided the Company with a $221,400 leasehold improvement incentive that was recorded as a component of
property and equipment and is included in deferred rent and is being amortized over the lease term. The lease agreement requires
the Company to reimburse the lessor for the cost of the improvements on a pro rata basis over the term of the lease in the event of
the Company's default or termination of the lease agreement prior to the expiration of the term of the lease in 2015.

The Company records rent expense over the term of the lease on a straight-line basis, less amounts received under any sub-lease
arrangements. Total rent expense amounted to $212,736 and $238,319 for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013,
respectively.

The Company also leases approximately 2,500 square feet of office space from Peppermill Properties, LLC, a Maryland limited
liability company (“Peppermill”). Peppermill is owned and managed by Chandra (C.B.) Brechin and Scott Rutherford, who are officers,
directors and principal stockholders of the Company. On June 1, 2010, the Company entered into a three-year lease with Peppermill,
which was amended to extend the lease expiration date to June 30, 2015. Total rent expense under this lease amounted to $46,800
and $50,674 for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively.

NOTE 8 – INVENTORY

As of December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013 inventory consisted of the following:

  2014   2013  
Raw Materials  $ 579,279  $ 1,250,141 

Work in Process   102,669   13,958 
Total Inventory  $ 681,948  $ 1,264,099 
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NOTE 9 – LOSS PER SHARE

The following table provides information relating to the calculation of (loss) earnings per common share.

  Years Ended December 31,  

  2014   2013  
       
Basic loss earnings  per share       
    Net loss  $ (1,502,647)  $ (1,419,586)
    Weighted average common shares outstanding - basic   44,499,610   44,283,364 
    Basic loss per share  $ (0.03)  $ (0.03)

         
Diluted loss per share         
   Net loss  $ (1,502,647)  $ (1,419,586)
   Weighted average common shares outstanding   44,499,610   44,283,364 
   Potential dilutive securities   —   — 
   Weighted average common shares outstanding – diluted   44,499,610   44,283,364 

   Diluted loss per share  $ (0.03)  $ (0.03)

   Common stock equivalents excluded due to anti-dilutive effect   3,796,429   3,571,429 

NOTE 10 – SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION

The Company has issued shares of restricted common stock and warrants to purchase shares of common stock and has granted
non-qualified stock options to certain employees and non-employees. On April 25, 2008, the Company’s stockholders approved the
2008 Stock Incentive Plan (the “2008 Incentive Plan”).

Stock Options

Option grants during the year ended December 31, 2014 were made to non-employee directors who elected to receive options during
the annual equity grant period in the first quarter of each fiscal year. The options had a grant date fair value of $0.10 per share and
will vest and become exercisable with respect to option shares over a three year period commencing from the date of grant at a rate
of 33.33% per year. The Company recorded $6,233 in stock option compensation expense during the period ended December 31,
2014 related to the stock option grants.

The Company uses the Black-Scholes option pricing model to determine the fair value of stock options granted to employees and
recognizes the compensation cost of employee share-based awards in its statement of operations using the straight-line method over
the vesting period of the award, net of estimated forfeitures.

The use of the Black-Scholes option pricing model to estimate the fair value of share-based awards requires that the Company make
certain assumptions and estimates for required inputs to the model, including (1) the fair value of the Company’s common stock at
each grant date, (ii) the expected volatility of the Company’s common stock value based on industry comparisons, (iii) the expected
life of the share-based award, (iv) the risk-free interest rate, and (v) the dividend yield. 

The following are the assumptions made in computing the fair value of share-based awards granted in the year ended December 31,
2014:

Risk-free interest rate – 0.72%
Dividend yield – 0%
Expected life – 3.5 years
Expected volatility – 70.8%

Summary of the option activity for the period ended December 31, 2014 is as follows:

  
Number of

Options   

Weighted
Average

Exercise Price   

Weighted
Average

Remaining
Contractual
Life (Years)   

Aggregate
Intrinsic Value  

Outstanding at January 1, 2014   —  $ 0.00   —  $ 0.00 
Granted   225,000   0.20   —   0.00 
Forfeited or expired   —   —   —   0.00 
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Exercised
  —   —   —     

Outstanding at December 31, 2014   225,000  $ 0.20   4.1   0.00 

Exercisable at December 31, 2014   —       —   0.00 
Vested and expected to vest   225,000  $ 0.20   4.1   0.00 

The unrecognized compensation cost for unvested stock option awards outstanding at December 31, 2014 was approximately
$16,205 to be recognized over approximately 2.14 years.

 Restricted Stock Grants

During the period ended December 31, 2013, Company issued an aggregate of 202,000 shares of restricted common stock to the
non-employees and to its key employees in consideration of services rendered and part of employment agreement. The weighted
average value of the shares amounted to $0.28 per share based upon the closing price of shares of the Company’s Common Stock
on the date of the grant.  These shares were fully vested on the date of the grant. The Company recorded $57,310 in share-based
compensation expense for the year ending December 31, 2013 related to restricted stock grants.
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During the period ended December 31, 2014, the Company granted an aggregate of 50,000 shares of restricted stock to the directors
as part of our director compensation program and in consideration of services rendered. The weighted average value of the shares
amounted to $0.27 per share based upon the closing price of shares of common stock on the date of the grant.  These shares were
fully vested on the date of the grant. The Company recorded $13,500 in share-based compensation expense for the year ending
December 31, 2014 related to restricted stock grants.
 

  
Restricted

Stock Shares   
Weighted

Average Value  
Nonvested restricted stock at January 1, 2013   —  $ — 
Granted   202,000    0.28  
Vested   (202,000)   0.28  
Forfeited or expired   —   — 
Nonvested restricted stock at December 31, 2013   —  $ — 
Granted   50,000   0.27 
Vested   (50,000)   0.27 
Forfeited or expired   —   — 
Nonvested restricted stock at December 31, 2014   —  $ — 

Common Stock Purchase Warrants

For the year ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, there was no share-based compensation expense for common stock purchase
warrants. As of December 31, 2014, there are no unvested common stock purchase warrants.

A summary of warrant activity is as follows:
 

  

Shares
Underlying
Warrants   

Weighted
Average

Exercise Price   

Weighted
Average

Remaining
Contractual
Life (Years)  

Outstanding at January 1, 2013   375,000  $ 0.30   0.37 
Granted   —   —   — 
Forfeited or expired   (375,000)   0.30   — 
Exercised   —   —   — 
Outstanding at December 31, 2013   —   —   — 
Granted   —   —   — 
Forfeited or expired   —   —   — 
Exercised   —   —   — 
Outstanding at December 31, 2014   —         

 
2008 Stock Incentive Plan
 
The 2008 Incentive Plan is designed to provide an additional incentive to executives, employees, directors and key consultants,
aligning the long term interests of participants in the 2008 Incentive Plan with those of the Company and the Company’s stockholders.
The 2008 Incentive Plan provides that up to 8 million shares of the Company’s common stock may be issued pursuant to awards
granted under the 2008 Incentive Plan. As of December 31, 2014, 6,680,000 shares of common stock remained available for future
issuance under the 2008 Incentive Plan.
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2008 Employee Stock Purchase Plan
 
On February 19, 2008, the Board of Directors authorized the adoption of the 2008 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the “Purchase
Plan”), subsequently approved by the stockholders on April 25, 2008, which is designed to encourage and enable eligible employees
to acquire a proprietary interest in the Company’s common stock. The Purchase Plan provides that up to 2 million shares of the
Company’s common stock may be issued under the Plan.  No shares have been issued under the Plan.

NOTE 11 – EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS

The Company has a defined contribution savings plan under Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code. The 401(k) Plan is a
defined contribution plan, which covers substantially all U.S.-based employees of the Company and its wholly-owned subsidiaries
who have completed three months of service. The 401(k) Plan provides that the Company will match 50% of the participant salary
deferrals up to 3% of a participant’s compensation for all participants. The Company contributed $11,833 and $21,766 during the
years ended December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013, respectively.

NOTE 12 – MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND VENDORS

Major Customers

The Company has several contracts with government agencies, of which net revenue from one customer during the year ended
December 31, 2014 represented 10% of the total net revenue for such year. Accounts receivable due from customers at December
31, 2014 amounted to 53% of total accounts receivable at that date.

The Company has several contracts with government agencies, of which net revenue from two customers during the year ended
December 31, 2013 represented 34% of the total net revenue for such year. Accounts receivable due from customers at December
31, 2013 amounted to 25% of total accounts receivable at that date.

Major Vendors

The Company purchased substantially all rugged IT products that it resold during the periods presented from a single distributor.
Revenues from rugged IT products amounted to 53% and 27% of total revenues for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013,
respectively. As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, accounts payable due to this distributor amounted to 53% and 27% of total
accounts payable, respectively.
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NOTE 13 – INCOME TAXES

As of December 31, 2014, the Company has approximately $6.56 million of federal and state net operating loss carryforwards
available to offset future taxable income, if any, through 2033. These net operating losses begin to expire in 2028. If, however, there
is an ownership change in the Company, Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code may restrict the Company’s ability to utilize these
loss carryforwards to a percentage of the market value of the Company at the time of the ownership change. Therefore, these
operating loss carryforwards could become limited in future years if ownership changes were to occur as defined in the Internal
Revenue Code and similar state income tax provisions. The Company files income tax returns with the U.S. Internal Revenue Service
and with the revenue services of various states.  The Company is no longer subject to U.S. Federal income tax examinations by tax
authorities for years before 2010.
 
The Company’s deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows for each of the periods presented:
 
  December 31,  

  2014   2013  
       
Net operating loss carry forwards  $ 2,640,000  $ 1,748,000 
Property and Equipment   (513,000)   (224,000) 
Other   3,000   10,000 
   2,130,000   1,534,000 
Valuation allowance   (2,130,000)   (1,534,000)
Net deferred tax asset  $ —  $ — 

 
The Company’s recorded income tax, net of the change in the valuation allowance for each of the periods presented, is as follows:
 
  Years Ended December 31,  

  2014   2013  
Current       
  Federal  $ —  $ — 
  State   —   — 
   —   — 
         
Deferred         
  Federal   (486,000)   (442,000 )
  State   (110,000)   (116,000 )
   (596,000)   (558,000 )
Change in valuation allowance   596,000   558,000 
Income tax expense  $ —  $ — 
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Management has evaluated the recoverability of the deferred income tax assets and the level of the valuation allowance required with
respect to such deferred income tax assets. After considering all available facts, the Company fully reserved for its deferred tax
assets because management believes that it is more likely than not that their benefits will not be realized in future periods. The
Company will continue to evaluate its deferred tax assets to determine whether any changes in circumstances could affect the
realization of their future benefit. If it is determined in future periods that portions of the Company’s deferred income tax assets
satisfies the realization standard, the valuation allowance will be reduced accordingly.

A reconciliation of the expected Federal statutory rate of 34% to the Company’s actual rate as reported for each of the periods
presented is as follows:
 
  Years Ended December 31,  

  2014   2013  
Expected statutory rate   (34.0) %   (34.0) %
State income tax rate, net of Federal benefit   (5.4) %   (5.4)%
Permanent differences         
  Other   0.1 %   0.1 %
   39.3 %   39.3 %
Valuation allowance   (39.3) %   (39.3) %
   — %   — %

 
NOTE 14 – SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

On February 12, 2015, the Company was selected by the City of New Rochelle, New York to provide a turnkey system for capturing
and managing red light violations. Brekford will be responsible for issuing citations and collecting fines on behalf of the City and is
currently negotiating a contract. The Company expects to have the initial cameras installed and operating by the third quarter of 2015.

On February 25, 2015, the Company agreed, along with its Mexican distributor, Grupo Canviso, to temporarily supply a speed
camera to another large city in Mexico for the purposes of evaluating speeding statistics at various locations within the City. Upon
completion of the study, Grupo Canviso will present the data to the City as well as a proposal for a turnkey ATSE program. If
selected, Brekford and Grupo Canviso, would negotiate a contract to implement the new project beginning in July 2015. Additionally,
we are discussing the program with several other cities for 2015 implementation.

On March 11, 2015, the Company and its Mexican distributor, Grupo Canviso, received confirmation from the City of Saltillo, Mexico
that live program operations and citation issuance would begin in the second quarter of 2015, for the previously executed contract to
provide turnkey ATSE services for the City.

On March 17, 2015 (the “Effective Date”), the Company entered into a note and warrant purchase agreement (the “Agreement”) with
an accredited investor (the “Investor”) pursuant to which the Investor purchased an aggregate principal amount of $715,000 of a 6%
convertible promissory note issued by the Company for an aggregate purchase price of $650,000 (the “Note”). The Note bears
interest at a rate of 6% per annum and the principal amount is due on March 17, 2017. Any interest that accrues under the Note is
payable either upon maturity or upon any principal being converted on any voluntary conversion date (as to that principal amount
then being converted). The Note is convertible at the option of the Investor at any time into shares of the Company’s common stock,
par value $0.0001 per share (the “Common Stock”) at a conversion price equal to the lesser of (i) $0.25 per share and (ii) 70% of the
average of the lowest three volume weighted average prices for the twelve (12) trading days prior to such conversion (the
“Conversion Price”). In no event shall the Conversion Price go below a price per share that is less than $0.10 provided, however, that
if on or after the date of the Agreement the Company sells any Common Stock or Common Stock Equivalents (as defined in the
Agreement) at an effective price per share that is less than $0.10 per share, then the Conversion Price shall be equal to the par value
of the Company’s Common Stock then in effect. In connection with the Agreement, the Investor received a warrant to purchase seven
hundred and eighty thousand (780,000) shares of Common Stock (the “Warrant”). The Warrant is exercisable for a period of five
years from the date of issuance at exercise price of $0.50, subject to adjustment (the “Exercise Price”). The Investor may exercise the
Warrant on a cashless basis at any time after the date of issuance. In the event the Investor exercises the Warrant on a cashless
basis, we will not receive any proceeds. . The Agreement is filed as Exhibit 10.24 to this Annual Report.
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ITEM 9.  CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.

ITEM 9A.  CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

The Company maintains disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in
the Company’s reports filed under the Exchange Act with the SEC, such as this Annual Report, is recorded, processed, summarized
and reported within the time periods specified in those rules and forms, and that such information is accumulated and communicated
to the Company’s management, including its principal executive officer who also serves as the principal accounting officer (“CEO”), to
allow for timely decisions regarding required disclosure.  In designing and evaluating these disclosure controls and procedures,
management recognized that disclosure controls and procedures, no matter how well conceived and operated can provide only
reasonable, but not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the disclosure controls and procedures are met.  Further, the design of
a control system must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints, and the benefits of controls must be considered relative to
their costs.  These inherent limitations include the realities that judgments in decision-making can be faulty, and that breakdowns can
occur because of simple error or mistake.  Additionally, controls can be circumvented by the individual acts of some persons, by
collusion of two or more people, or by management override of the control.  The design of any system of controls also is based in part
upon certain judgments and assumptions about the likelihood of future events, and there can be no assurance that any design will
succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential future conditions.  Over time, control may become inadequate because of
changes in conditions, or the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

An evaluation of the effectiveness of these disclosure controls and procedures as of December 31, 2014 was carried out under the
supervision and with the participation of the Company’s management, including the CEO.  Based on that evaluation, the Company’s
management, including the CEO, has concluded that the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures were not effective due to the
material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting discussed below. A material weakness is a control deficiency (within
the meaning of Public Company Accounting Oversight Board Auditing Standard No. 5) or combination of control deficiencies, that
result in more than a remote likelihood that a material misstatement of the annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented
or detected on a timely basis.

During the fourth quarter of 2014, there was no change in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

As required by Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, management has performed an evaluation and testing of the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2014.  Management’s report on the Company’s internal
control over financial reporting is included on the following page.  The Company is a “smaller reporting company” as defined by Rule
12b-2 promulgated under the Exchange Act and, accordingly, its independent registered public accounting firm is not required to
attest to the foregoing management report.
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Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Board of Directors
Brekford Corp.

Management of Brekford Corp. (the “Company”) is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over
financial reporting for the Company.  This internal control system was designed to provide reasonable assurance to management and
the Board of Directors as to the reliability of the Company’s financial reporting and the preparation and presentation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States, as well as to
safeguard assets from unauthorized use or disposition.

An internal control system, no matter how well designed, has inherent limitations.  Therefore, even those systems determined to be
effective can provide only reasonable assurance with respect to financial statement preparation and presentation and may not
prevent or detect misstatements in the financial statements or the unauthorized use or disposition of the Company’s assets.  Also,
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness of internal controls to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with policies and procedures may deteriorate.

A material weakness is a control deficiency (within the meaning of Public Company Accounting Oversight Board Auditing Standard
No. 5) or combination of control deficiencies, that result in more than a remote likelihood that a material misstatement of the annual or
interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis.

Management assessed the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2014, based
on the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (“COSO”) in 1992 Internal
Control – Integrated Framework.  Based on this assessment and on the foregoing criteria, management has concluded that, as of
December 31, 2014, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting was not effective due to the material weakness described
below.

Management has concluded that, as of December 31, 2014, a material weakness exists because the Company does not currently
employ a sufficient number of qualified accounting personnel to ensure proper and timely evaluation of complex accounting, tax, and
disclosure issues that may arise during the course of the Company’s business.  The Company intends to address this material
weakness by reviewing the Company’s accounting and finance processes to identify any improvements thereto that might enhance
the Company’s internal control over financial reporting and determine the feasibility of implementing such improvements and by
seeking qualified employees and/or outside consultants who possess the knowledge needed to eliminate this weakness.  The
Company’s ability to remediate this weakness may, however, be delayed or limited by resource constraints, a lack of qualified
persons in the Company’s market area and/or competition from other employers. 

    
Dated: March 27, 2015  /s/ Chandra (C.B.) Brechin  

  Chandra (C.B.) Brechin  
  Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer
  (Principal Executive Officer and Principal Accounting Officer)
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ITEM 9B.  OTHER INFORMATION

None

PART III

ITEM 10.  DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference to the following sections of Brekford Corp.’s definitive Proxy
Statement for the 2015 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the SEC pursuant to Regulation 14A (the “Proxy Statement”):

•  PROPOSAL 1 – ELECTION OF DIRECTORS;
•  QUALIFICATIONS OF DIRECTOR NOMINEES;
•  EXECUTIVE OFFICERS;
•  CORPORATE GOVERNANCE MATTERS; and
•  SECTION 16(a) BENEFICIAL OWNERSHIP REPORTING COMPLIANCE.

ITEM 11.  EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference to the sections of the Proxy Statement entitled “EXECUTIVE
COMPENSATION” and “DIRECTOR COMPENSATION”.

ITEM 12.  SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER
MATTERS
 
The following table provides information as of December 31, 2014 with respect to Company’s equity compensation plans.

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Plan Category  

 
 

Number of
securities to

be issued
upon exercise
of outstanding

options,
warrants and

rights
(a)   

 
 
 
 

Weighted-
average

exercise price
of outstanding

options,
warrants and

rights
(b)   

 
Number of
securities
remaining

available for
future

issuance
under equity

compensation
plans

(excluding
securities

reflected in
column (a))

(c)  
Equity compensation plans approved by security holders   225,000  $ 0.20   6,203,000 
Equity compensation plans not approved by security holders   -   -   - 
Total   225,000  $ 0.20   6,203,000 

(1)  Note: In addition to stock options and stock appreciation rights, the 2008 Incentive Plan permits the grant of stock awards, stock
units, performance units and other stock-based awards.  As of December 31, 2014, the Company has granted 1,572,000 shares
of restricted stock that are not reflected in column (a) of this table.

All other information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference to the section of the Proxy Statement entitled
“SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT”.
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ITEM 13.  CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference to the sections of the Proxy Statement entitled “CERTAIN
RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS” and “CORPORATE GOVERNANCE MATTERS.

ITEM 14.  PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference to the section of the Proxy Statement entitled
“INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM”.
 

PART IV
 

ITEM 15.  EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
 
(a)(1), (2) and (c)  Financial Statements.

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2014 and 2013
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the Years Ended December 31, 2014 and 2013
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders’ (Deficit) Equity for the Years Ended December 31, 2014 and 2013
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Years Ended December 31, 2014 and 2013
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(a)(3) and (b)  Exhibits.

The exhibits filed or furnished with this annual report are listed on the Exhibit Index that follows the signatures to this annual report,
which list is incorporated herein by reference.

 
33

EDGAR Stream is a copyright of Issuer Direct Corporation, all rights reserved.



 

SIGNATURES
 

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused
this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
 
 Brekford Corp.  
    
Date: March 27, 2015 By: /s/ C.B. Brechin  
  Chandra (C.B.) Brechin  
  Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial

Officer ,Treasurer and Director (Principal
Executive Officer and Principal
Accounting Officer)

 

 
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following

persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.
 

Signature  Title  Date
     
/s/ C.B. Brechin  Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial  March 27, 2015
C.B. Brechin  Officer, Treasurer and Director (Principal   
  Executive Officer and Principal   
  Accounting Officer)   
     
/s/ Rodney Hillman  President and Chief Operating Officer  March 27, 2015
Rodney Hillman     
     
/s/ Scott Rutherford  Director  March 27, 2015
Scott Rutherford     
     
/s/ Douglas DeLeaver  Director  March 27, 2015
Douglas DeLeaver     
     
/s/ Gregg Smith  Director  March 27, 2015
Gregg Smith     
     
/s/ Robert S. West  Director  March 27, 2015
Robert S. West     
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EXHIBIT INDEX

 
Exhibit
Number

 Description

   
2.1  Agreement and Plan of Merger among Pelican Mobile Computers, Inc., American Financial Holdings Inc. and the

Pelican Stockholders  (previously filed as Exhibit 2.1 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form 10-SB (SEC
File No. 000-52719) filed on July 6, 2007 and incorporated herein by reference)

2.2  Agreement and Plan of Merger by and between the Company and Pelican Mobile Computers, Inc., dated October 27,
2010 (previously filed as Exhibit 2.2 to the Company’s form 10-Q filed on November 2, 2010 and incorporated herein
by reference)

3.1.1  Certificate of Incorporation of California Cyber Design, Inc. as filed with the State of Delaware on May 27,
1998 (previously filed as Exhibit 3.1.1 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form 10-SB (SEC File No. 000-
52719) filed on July 6, 2007 and incorporated herein by reference)

3.1.2  Certificate of Correction of Certificate of Incorporation of California Cyber Design, Inc. as filed with the State of
Delaware on July 17, 1998 (previously filed as Exhibit 3.1.2 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form 10-SB
(SEC File No. 000-52719) filed on July 6, 2007 and incorporated herein by reference)

3.1.3  Certificate of Amendment of Certificate of Incorporation of California Cyber Design, Inc. as filed with the State of
Delaware on August 11, 2004 (previously filed as Exhibit 3.1.3 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form 10-
SB (SEC File No. 000-52719) filed on July 6, 2007 and incorporated herein by reference)

3.1.4  Certificate of Amendment of Certificate of Incorporation of American Financial Holdings Inc. (formerly known as
California Cyber Design, Inc.) as filed with the State of Delaware on January 6, 2006 (previously filed as Exhibit 3.1.4
to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form 10-SB (SEC File No. 000-52719) filed on July 6, 2007 and
incorporated herein by reference)

3.1.5  Certificate of Amendment of Certificate of Incorporation of American Financial Holdings Inc. as filed with the State of
Delaware on January 6, 2006 (previously filed as Exhibit 3.1.5 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form 10-
SB (SEC File No. 000-52719) filed on July 6, 2007 and incorporated herein by reference)

3.1.6  First Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Brekford International Corp. as filed with the State of
Delaware on January 4, 2006 (previously filed as Exhibit 3.1.6 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form 10-
SB (SEC File No. 000-52719) filed on July 6, 2007 and incorporated herein by reference)

3.1.7  Certificate of Amendment to the First Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Tactical Solution Partners,
Inc. as filed with State of Delaware on April 29, 2008. (previously filed as Exhibit 3.1.7 to the Company’s Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q filed on May 15, 2008 and incorporated herein by reference)

3.1.8  Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Brekford International Corp. as filed with the State of
Delaware on February 4, 2010  (previously filed as Exhibit 3.1.8 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed
on March 15, 2010 and incorporated herein by reference)

3.1.9  Certificate of Amendment to the Second Amended and  Restricted Certificate of Incorporation of the Company as filed
with the State of Delaware on July 9, 2010 (previously filed as Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form
10-Q filed on August 4, 2010 and incorporated herein by reference)

3.1.10  Certificate of Ownership and Merger of Pelican Mobile Computers, Inc. (previously filed as Exhibit 3.1 to the
Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed on November 2, 2010, and incorporated herein by reference)

3.2  Bylaws of Brekford Corp. (previously filed as Exhibit 3.2 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form 10-SB
(SEC File No. 000-52719) filed on July 6, 2007 and incorporated herein by reference)

4.1  Stock Purchase Agreement by and between Brekford International Corp. and Paul Harary and Paris McKenzie TBE
(Subscriber) dated January 31, 2007 (previously filed as Exhibit 4.2 to the Company’s Amendment No. 1 to the
Registration Statement on Form 10-SB (SEC File No. 000-52719) filed on September 21, 2007 and incorporated
herein by reference)
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4.2  Warrant to Purchase Brekford International Corp. Common Stock in favor of Paul Harary and Paris McKenzie TBE

(Warrant Holder) dated January 31, 2007 (previously filed as Exhibit 4.3 to the Company’s Registration Statement on
Form 10-SB (SEC File No. 000-52719) filed on July 6, 2007 and incorporated herein by reference)

4.3  Form of Subscription Agreement to Purchase Units of Brekford International Corp. (previously filed as Exhibit 4.4 to the
Company’s Registration Statement on Form 10-SB (SEC File No. 000-52719) filed on July 6, 2007 and incorporated
herein by reference)

4.4  Form of Warrant to Purchase Brekford International Corp. Common Stock by and among Brekford International Corp.
and the Unit purchasers signatory thereto (previously filed as Exhibit 4.5 to the Company’s Registration Statement on
Form 10-SB (SEC File No. 000-52719) filed on July 6, 2007 and incorporated herein by reference)

4.5  Form of Registration Rights Agreement, by and among Brekford International Corp. and the Unit purchasers signatory
thereto (previously filed as Exhibit 4.6 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form 10-SB (SEC File No. 000-
52719) filed on July 6, 2007 and incorporated herein by reference)

4.6  Form of Warrant issued to Sierra Equity Group, Ltd. Inc. with respect to the Company’s March 2007 private offering
closed March 30, 2007 and its assigns (previously filed as Exhibit 4.7 to the Company’s Registration Statement on
Form 10-SB (SEC File No. 000-52719) filed on July 6, 2007 and incorporated herein by reference)

4.7  Form of Warrant issued to Sierra Equity Group, Ltd. Inc. under the Investment Banking Advisory Agreement dated
December 18, 2006 and its assigns (previously filed as Exhibit 4.8 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form
10-SB (SEC File No. 000-52719) filed on July 6, 2007 and incorporated herein by reference)

4.8  Warrant issued to Trilogy Capital Partners, Inc., dated May 23, 2007 (previously filed as Exhibit 4.9 to the Company’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on March 23, 2009 and incorporated herein by reference)

4.9  Form of Warrant issued to Birch Systems, LLC pursuant to the General Release and Settlement Agreement between
the Company and Birch Systems, LLC (previously filed as Exhibit 4.10 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K
filed on March 23, 2009 and incorporated herein by reference)

10.1  Lease Agreement by and between Brekford International Corp. and Greenbrier Point Partners, L.P. dated February 13,
2006 (previously filed as Exhibit 10.13 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form 10-SB (SEC File No. 000-
52719) filed on July 6, 2007 and incorporated herein by reference)

10.2  Contract by and between Pelican Mobile Computers, Inc. and the State of Maryland dated July 15, 2001 (previously
filed as Exhibit 10.19 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form 10-SB (SEC File No. 000-52719) filed on July
6, 2007 and incorporated herein by reference)

10.3  Lease Agreement by and between Brekford International Corp. and FRP Hillside LLC #3 dated May 16,
2007 (previously filed as Exhibit 10.21 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form 10-SB (SEC File No. 000-
52719) filed on July 6, 2007 and incorporated herein by reference)

10.4  Letter from Panasonic Personal Computer Company confirming Pelican Mobile Computers, Inc. as the only Maryland
based Company authorized to sell the fully ruggedized line of Panasonic Notebooks to Maryland State and Local
government agencies dated February 8, 2006 (previously filed as Exhibit 10.29 to the Company’s Amendment No. 1 to
the Registration Statement on Form 10-SB (SEC File No. 000-52719) filed on September 21, 2007 and incorporated
herein by reference)

10.5  Sublease Agreement by and between Brekford International Corp. and TSO Armor and Training, Inc. dated
December 8, 2008 (previously filed as Exhibit 10.30 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on March 23,
2009 and incorporated herein by reference)

10.6  Stock Purchase Agreement, effective November 4, 2009, by and between the receiver of stockholder Legisi Marketing,
Inc. and certain directors of Brekford International Corp., on behalf of the Company (previously filed as Exhibit 10.1 to
the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on November 10, 2009 and incorporated herein by reference)

10.7  Form of Promissory Note, dated November 9, 2009, in favor of certain directors of Brekford International Corp.
(previously filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on November 10, 2009 and
incorporated herein by reference)

10.8  Form of First Amendment to Unsecured Promissory Note, dated April 30, 2010, between the Company and each
member of the Company’s lender group (previously filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form
10-Q filed on May 6, 2010 and incorporated herein by reference)

10.9  Form of Promissory Note Extension Agreement, dated as of November 4, 2014, between the Company and C.B.
Brechin and Scott Rutherford (filed herewith)

10.10  Landlord –Tenant Lease, by and between Peppermill, Properties, LLC and Brekford Corp., dated June 1, 2010
(previously filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on August 4, 2010 and
incorporated herein by reference)

10.11  Loan and Security Agreement dated November 4, 2010 by and between Brekford Corp. and Bank of America N.A.
(previously filed as Exhibit 10.10 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
2011 and incorporated herein by reference)

10.12  Form of Non-Qualified Option Agreement to Purchase Shares of Common Stock of Brekford International
Corp. (previously filed as Exhibit 4.9 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form 10-SB (SEC File No. 000-
52719) filed on July 6, 2007 and incorporated herein by reference)

10.13  2008 Stock Incentive Plan (previously filed as Appendix C to the Company’s definitive proxy statement on Schedule
14A filed on April 10, 2008 and incorporated herein by reference)
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10.14  Loan Agreement, dated as of June 28, 2012, between the Company and PNC Bank, National Association (previously

filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on July 18, 2012 and incorporated herein by
reference)

10.15  Committed Line of Credit Note, dated as of June 28, 2012, issued by the Company to the order of PNC Bank, National
Association (previously filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on July 18, 2012 and
incorporated herein by reference)

10.16  Subordination Agreement, dated as of June 28, 2012, by and among PNC Bank, National Association, the Company
and C.B. Brechin (previously filed as Exhibit 10.3 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on July 18, 2012
and incorporated herein by reference)

10.17  Subordination Agreement, dated as of June 28, 2012, by and among PNC Bank, National Association, the Company
and Scott Rutherford (previously filed as Exhibit 10.4 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on July 18,
2012 and incorporated herein by reference)

10.18  Second Amendment to Loan Documents, dated as of September 27, 2013, between the Company and PNC Bank,
National Association (filed herewith)

10.19  Borrowing Base Rider, effective as of September 28, 2013, between the Company and PNC Bank, National
Association (filed herewith)

10.20  Waiver and Fourth Amendment to Loan Documents, dated as f March 24, 2014, by and between Brekford Corp. and
PNC Bank, National Association (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form
10-Q filed on May 15, 2014)

10.21  Financing Agreement, dated as of May 27, 2014, between Brekford Corp. and Rosenthal & Rosenthal Inc.
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on May 28, 2014)

10.22  Term Note, dated as of May 27, 2014, issued by Brekford Corp. to the order of Rosenthal & Rosenthal, Inc.
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on May 28, 2014)

10.23  Form of Agreement of Subordination and Assignment, dated May 27, 2014, between C.B. Brechin and Rosenthal &
Rosenthal, Inc. and Scott Rutherford and Rosenthal & Rosenthal, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on May 28, 2014)

10.24  Note and Warrant purchase agreement, dated as of March 17, 2015, between Brekford Corp. and Gemini Master Fund
, Ltd. (filed herewith)

21  Subsidiaries of the Company (filed herewith)
31.1  Certification of Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer pursuant to Securities Exchange Act Rules

13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (filed herewith)
32.1  Certification of Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as

adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (furnished herewith)
[Add 101 -

XBRL]
 (filed herewith)
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Exhibit 10.24
 

NOTE AND WARRANT PURCHASE AGREEMENT
 

This Note and Warrant Purchase Agreement, dated as of March 17, 2015 (this “Agreement”), is entered into by and among
BREKFORD CORP., a Delaware corporation (the “Company”), and the persons and entities listed on the schedule of investors
attached hereto as Schedule I (each an “Investor” and, collectively, the “Investors”), as such Schedule I may be amended in
accordance with Section 8 hereof.
 

RECITALS
 

A.           On the terms and subject to the conditions set forth herein, each Investor is willing to purchase from the Company,
and the Company is willing to sell to such Investor, a convertible promissory note in the principal amount set forth opposite such
Investor’s name on Schedule I hereto, together with a related warrant to acquire shares of the Company’s capital stock.
 

B.           Capitalized terms not otherwise defined herein shall have the meaning set forth in the form of Note (as defined
below) attached hereto as Exhibit A and the Warrant (as defined below) attached hereto as Exhibit B.
 

AGREEMENT
 

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing, and the representations, warranties, and conditions set forth below,
the parties hereto, intending to be legally bound, hereby agree as follows:
 

1. The Notes and Warrants.
 

(a) Issuance of Notes.  Subject to all of the terms and conditions hereof, the Company agrees to issue and sell to
each of the Investors, and each of the Investors severally agrees to purchase, a convertible promissory note in the form of Exhibit A
hereto (each, a “Note” and, collectively, the “Notes”) in the principal amount set forth opposite the respective Investor’s name on
Schedule I hereto.  The obligations of the Investors to purchase Notes are several and not joint.  The aggregate principal amount for
all Notes issued hereunder on the First Closing Date shall not exceed $715,000. The aggregate principal amount for all Notes, if any,
issued hereunder on the Second Closing Date shall not exceed $440,000.
 

(b) Issuance of Warrants.  Concurrently with the issuance of the Notes to the Investors, the Company will issue to
each Investor a warrant in the form attached hereto as Exhibit B (each, a “Warrant” and, collectively, the “Warrants”) to purchase up
to a number of shares of Common Stock (the “Warrant Shares”) equal to the number of shares set forth opposite each Investor’s
name on Schedule I hereto.
 

(c) Delivery. The initial sale and purchase of the Notes and Warrants shall take place at a closing (the “First
Closing”) to be held at such place and time as the Company and the Investors may determine (the “First Closing Date”). At the First
Closing, the Company will deliver to each of the Investors the Note and Warrant to be purchased by such Investor, against receipt by
the Company of the corresponding purchase price set forth on Part A of Schedule I hereto (the “Purchase Price”), minus $20,000 as
a credit for legal and due diligence expenses ($7,500 of which has been paid by the Company on or prior to the date of  this
Agreement).  Each of the Company and Gemini Master Fund, Ltd. (the “Gemini Investor”) may, but are not obligated to, mutually
agree in writing to conduct a second closing on or before May 1, 2015 (the “Second Closing”) to be held at such place and time as
the Company and the Gemini Investor may mutually agree in writing (the “Second Closing Date”).  The Company agrees that if the
Gemini Investor does not agree to conduct a Second Closing, the Company may not conduct a Second Closing with another
Investor.  At such Second Closing, the Company will deliver to the Gemini Investor the Note and Warrant to be purchased by the
Gemini Investor, against receipt by the Company of the corresponding Purchase Price set forth on Part B of Schedule I hereto.  Each
of the Notes and Warrants will be registered in such Investor’s name in the Company’s records.
 

(d) Use of Proceeds. The proceeds of the sale and issuance of the Notes shall be used for general corporate
purposes.
 

(e) Payments. The Company will make all cash payments due under the Notes in immediately available funds by
1:00 p.m. Pacific time on the date such payment is due at the address for such purpose specified below each Investor’s name on
Schedule I hereto, or at such other address, or in such other manner, as an Investor or other registered holder of a Note may from
time to time direct in writing.
 

2. Representations and Warranties of the Company. Except as set forth on the Disclosure Schedule, attached as
Schedule II, delivered to the Investor at the applicable Closing (each, a “Disclosure Schedule”), the Company represents and
warrants to each Investor that:
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(a) Due Incorporation, Qualification, etc. The Company (i) is a corporation duly organized, validly existing and in good
standing under the laws of the State of Delaware; (ii) has the power and authority to own, lease and operate its properties and carry
on its business as now conducted; and (iii) is duly qualified, licensed to do business and in good standing as a foreign corporation in
each jurisdiction where the failure to be so qualified or licensed could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect on
the Company.
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(b) Authority. The execution, delivery and performance by the Company of each Transaction Document to be
executed by the Company and the consummation of the transactions contemplated thereby (i) are within the power of the Company
and (ii) have been duly authorized by all necessary actions on the part of the Company.
 

(c) Enforceability. Each Transaction Document executed, or to be executed, by the Company has been, or will be,
duly executed and delivered by the Company and constitutes, or will constitute, a legal, valid and binding obligation of the Company,
enforceable against the Company in accordance with its terms, except: (i) as limited by general equitable principles and applicable
bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium and other laws of general application affecting enforcement of creditors’ rights
generally, (ii) as limited by laws relating to the availability of specific performance, injunctive relief or other equitable remedies and (iii)
insofar as indemnification and contribution provisions may be limited by applicable law.
 

(d) Non-Contravention. The execution and delivery by the Company of the Transaction Documents executed by the
Company and the performance and consummation of the transactions contemplated thereby do not and will not (i) subject to the
Required Approvals, violate the Company’s Certificate of Incorporation or Bylaws (as amended, the “Charter Documents”) or any
material judgment, order, writ, decree, statute, rule or regulation applicable to the Company; (ii) violate any provision of, or result in
the breach or the acceleration of, or entitle any other Person to accelerate (whether after the giving of notice or lapse of time or both),
any mortgage, indenture, agreement, instrument or contract to which the Company is a party or by which it is bound; or (iii) result in
the creation or imposition of any Lien upon any property, asset or revenue of the Company or the suspension, revocation,
impairment, forfeiture, or nonrenewal of any material permit, license, authorization or approval applicable to the Company, its
business or operations, or any of its assets or properties; except in the case of each of clauses (ii) and (iii), such as could not have or
reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect.
 

(e) Subsidiaries. Each of the Company’s subsidiaries is duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under
the laws of its jurisdiction of organization and is in good standing under such laws and has the power and authority to own, lease and
operate its properties and carry on its business as now conducted. None of the Company’s subsidiaries owns or leases property or
engages in any activity in any jurisdiction that might require its qualification to do business as a foreign corporation in such
jurisdiction and in which the failure to qualify as such would have a Material Adverse Effect on the Company and its subsidiaries,
taken as a whole.
 

(f) Approvals. No consent, approval, order or authorization of, or registration, declaration or filing with, any
governmental authority or other Person (including, without limitation, the shareholders of any Person) is required in connection with
the execution and delivery of the Transaction Documents executed by the Company and the performance and consummation of the
transactions contemplated thereby, other than such as have been obtained and remain in full force and effect and other than such
qualifications or filings under applicable securities laws as may be required in connection with the transactions contemplated by this
Agreement (collectively, the “Required Approvals”).
 

(g) No Violation or Default. None of the Company or the Company’s subsidiaries is in violation of or in default with
respect to (i) its Charter Documents or other organizational documents or any material judgment, order, writ, decree, statute, rule or
regulation applicable to such Person; or (ii) any material mortgage, indenture, agreement, instrument or contract to which such
Person is a party or by which it is bound (nor is there any waiver in effect which, if not in effect, would result in such a violation or
default).
 

(h) Litigation. Except as set forth in Item 2(h) of the Disclosure Schedule or any SEC Report (as defined below), no
actions (including, without limitation, derivative actions), suits, proceedings or investigations are pending or, to the knowledge of the
Company, threatened in writing against the Company or the Company’s subsidiaries at law or in equity in any court or before any
other governmental authority that if adversely determined (i) could, if there were an unfavorable decision, have or reasonably be
expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect or (ii) adversely affects or challenges the legality, validity or enforceability of the
Transaction Documents or the transactions contemplated thereby.
 

(i) Title. The Company and the Company’s subsidiaries own and have good and marketable title in fee simple
absolute to, or a valid leasehold interest in, all their respective real properties and good title to their other respective assets and
properties as reflected in the most recent financial statements included in the SEC Reports (except those assets and properties
disposed of in the ordinary course of business since the date of such financial statements) and all respective assets and properties
acquired by the Company and the Company’s subsidiaries since such date (except those disposed of in the ordinary course of
business). Except as set forth in the SEC Reports, such assets and properties are subject to no Lien other than (i) Liens for current
taxes not yet due and payable, (ii) Liens imposed by law and incurred in the ordinary course of business for obligations not past due,
(iii) Liens in respect of pledges or deposits under workers’ compensation laws or similar legislation, and (iv) Liens, encumbrances and
defects in title which do not in any case materially detract from the value of the property subject thereto or have a Material Adverse
Effect, and which have not arisen otherwise than in the ordinary course of business.
 

(j) Intellectual Property.  The Company and the Company’s subsidiaries own or possess sufficient legal rights to all
patents, trademarks, service marks, trade names, copyrights, trade secrets, licenses, information, processes and other intellectual
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property rights necessary or material for its business as now conducted and as proposed to be conducted, without any conflict with,
or infringement of the rights of, others which could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.
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(k) SEC Reports; Financial Statements.  The Company has filed all reports, schedules, forms, statements and other
documents required to be filed by the Company under the Securities Act and the Exchange Act, including pursuant to Section 13(a)
or 15(d) thereof, for the two years preceding the date hereof (or such shorter period as the Company was required by law or
regulation to file such material) (the foregoing materials, including the exhibits thereto and documents incorporated by reference
therein, being collectively referred to herein as the “SEC Reports”) on a timely basis or has received a valid extension of such time of
filing and has filed any such SEC Reports prior to the expiration of any such extension.  As of their respective dates, the SEC Reports
complied in all material respects with the requirements of the Securities Act and the Exchange Act, as applicable, and none of the
SEC Reports, when filed, contained any untrue statement of a material fact or omitted to state a material fact required to be stated
therein or necessary in order to make the statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not
misleading.  The Company is an issuer subject to Rule 144(i) under the Securities Act.  The financial statements of the Company
included in the SEC Reports comply in all material respects with applicable accounting requirements and the rules and regulations of
the Commission with respect thereto as in effect at the time of filing.  Such financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with United States generally accepted accounting principles applied on a consistent basis during the periods involved (“GAAP”),
except as may be otherwise specified in such financial statements or the notes thereto and except that unaudited financial
statements may not contain all footnotes required by GAAP, and fairly present in all material respects the financial position of the
Company and its consolidated subsidiaries as of and for the dates thereof and the results of operations cash flow for the periods then
ended, subject, in the case of unaudited statements, to normal, immaterial, year-end audit adjustments.
 

(l) Equity Securities.  The Company’s total authorized and issued capitalization is as set forth in Item 2(l) of the
Disclosure Schedule. The equity securities (“Equity Securities”) of the Company have the respective rights, preferences and
privileges set forth in the Company’s Charter Documents in effect on the date hereof. All of the outstanding Equity Securities of the
Company have been duly authorized and are validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable. Except as set forth in Item 2(l) of the
Disclosure Schedule or in the SEC Reports, there are as of the date of this Agreement no options, warrants or rights to purchase
Equity Securities of the Company authorized, issued or outstanding, and the Company is not obligated in any other manner to issue
shares of its Equity Securities. Except as set forth in Item 2(l) of the Disclosure Schedule, there are no restrictions on the transfer of
Equity Securities of the Company, other than those imposed by the Company’s Charter Documents as of the date hereof, or relevant
state and federal securities laws, and no holder of any Equity Security of the Company or other Person is entitled to preemptive or
similar statutory or contractual rights, either arising pursuant to any agreement or instrument to which the Company is a party or that
are otherwise binding upon the Company. The offer and sale of all Equity Securities of the Company issued before the Closing Date
complied with or were exempt from registration or qualification under all applicable federal and state securities laws. Except as set
forth in Item 2(l) of the Disclosure Schedule or in the SEC Reports, no Person has the right to demand or other rights to cause the
Company to file any registration statement under the Securities Act, relating to any Equity Securities of the Company presently
outstanding or that may be subsequently issued, or any right to participate in any such registration statement.
 

(m) Accuracy of Information Furnished. None of the Transaction Documents and none of the other certificates,
statements or information furnished to Investors by or on behalf of the Company or the Company’s subsidiaries in connection with the
Transaction Documents or the transactions contemplated thereby contains or will contain any untrue statement of a material fact or
omits or will omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which they
were made, not misleading. The Company does not represent or warrant that it will achieve any financial projections provided to the
Investors and represents only that such projections were prepared in good faith.
 

(n) Operating Company.  The Company is an “operating company” within the meaning of Section 22062(b)(2) of the
California Financial Code in that (A) it primarily engages, wholly or substantially, directly or indirectly through a majority owned
subsidiary or subsidiaries, in the production or sale, or the research or development, of a product or service other than the investment
of capital, (B) it is not an individual or sole proprietorship, (C) it is not an entity with no specific business plan or purpose and its
business plan is not to engage in a merger or acquisition with an unidentified company or companies or other entity or person, and
(D) it intends to use the proceeds from the sale of the Notes and Warrants extended to it solely for the operation of the Company’s
business and uses other than personal, family, or household purposes. The Company’s board of directors, in the exercise of its
fiduciary duties, has approved the sale of the Notes based upon a reasonable belief that the loans represented by the Notes are
appropriate for the Company after reasonable inquiry concerning the Company’s financing objectives and financial situation.
 

(o) No “Bad Actor” Disqualification.  The Company has exercised reasonable care, in accordance with Commission
rules and guidance, to determine whether any Covered Person (as defined below) is subject to any of the “bad actor” disqualifications
described in Rule 506(d)(1)(i) through (viii) under the Securities Act (“Disqualification Events”). To the Company’s knowledge, no
Covered Person is subject to a Disqualification Event. The Company has complied, to the extent applicable, with any disclosure
obligations under Rule 506(e) under the Securities Act. “Covered Persons” are those persons specified in Rule 506(d)(1) under the
Securities Act, including the Company; any predecessor or affiliate of the Company; any director, executive officer, other officer
participating in the offering, general partner or managing member of the Company; any beneficial owner of 20% or more of the
Company’s outstanding voting equity securities, calculated on the basis of voting power; any promoter (as defined in Rule 405 under
the Securities Act) connected with the Company in any capacity at the time of the sale of the Notes and the Warrants; and any
person that has been or will be paid (directly or indirectly) remuneration for solicitation of purchasers in connection with the sale of the
Notes and the Warrants (a “Solicitor”), any general partner or managing member of any Solicitor, and any director, executive officer
or other officer participating in the offering of any Solicitor or general partner or managing member of any Solicitor.
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(p) Acknowledgment Regarding Investors’ Purchase of Securities.  The Company acknowledges and agrees that the

Investors are acting solely in their capacity of an arm’s length purchaser with respect to the Transaction Documents and the
transactions contemplated thereby.  The Company further acknowledges that the Investors are not acting as a financial advisor or
fiduciary of the Company (or in any similar capacity) with respect to the Transaction Documents and the transactions contemplated
thereby and any advice given by the Investors or any of its representatives or agents in connection with the Transaction Documents
and the transactions contemplated thereby is merely incidental to the Investors’ purchase of the Securities.  The Company further
represents to the Investors that the Company’s decision to enter into this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents has been
based solely on the independent evaluation of the transactions contemplated hereby by the Company and its representatives.
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(q) Acknowledgment Regarding Purchasers’ Trading Activity.  Anything in this Agreement or elsewhere herein to the
contrary notwithstanding, it is understood and acknowledged by the Company that: (i) the Investors have not been asked by the
Company to agree, nor have the Investors agreed, to desist from purchasing or selling, long and/or short, securities of the Company,
or “derivative” securities based on securities issued by the Company or to hold the Securities for any specified term, (ii) past or future
open market or other transactions by the Investors, specifically including, without limitation, short sales or “derivative” transactions,
before or after the closing of this or future private placement transactions, may negatively impact the market price of the Company’s
publicly-traded securities, (iii) the Investors, and any counterparties in “derivative” transactions to which an Investor is a party, directly
or indirectly, may presently have a “short” position in the Common Stock and (iv) the Investors shall not be deemed to have any
affiliation with or control over any arm’s length counterparty in any “derivative” transaction.  The Company further understands and
acknowledges that (y) the Investors may engage in hedging activities at various times during the period that the Securities are
outstanding, including, without limitation, during the periods that the value of the Warrant Shares deliverable with respect to Securities
are being determined, and (z) such hedging activities (if any) could reduce the value of the existing shareholders' equity interests in
the Company at and after the time that the hedging activities are being conducted.  The Company acknowledges that such
aforementioned hedging activities do not constitute a breach of any of the Transaction Documents.
 

(r) Acknowledgment of Dilution.  The Company acknowledges that the issuance of the Securities may result in
dilution of the outstanding shares of Common Stock, which dilution may be substantial under certain market conditions.  The
Company further acknowledges that its obligations under the Transaction Documents, including, without limitation, its obligation to
issue the Warrant Shares pursuant to the Transaction Documents, are unconditional and absolute and not subject to any right of set
off, counterclaim, delay or reduction, regardless of the effect of any such dilution or any claim the Company may have against any
Investor and regardless of the dilutive effect that such issuance may have on the ownership of the other shareholders of the
Company.
 

3. Representations and Warranties of Investors. Each Investor, for that Investor alone, represents and warrants to the
Company upon the acquisition of a Note and Warrant as follows:
 

(a) Binding Obligation. Such Investor has full legal capacity, power and authority to execute and deliver this
Agreement and to perform its obligations hereunder. The execution and delivery of the Transaction Documents and performance by
such Investor of the transactions contemplated by the Transaction Documents have been duly authorized by all necessary corporate
or similar action on the part of such Investor.  This Agreement and the Transaction Documents constitute valid and binding
obligations of such Investor, enforceable in accordance with their terms, except as limited by bankruptcy, insolvency or other laws of
general application relating to or affecting the enforcement of creditors’ rights generally and general principles of equity.
 

(b) Securities Law Compliance.
 

(i) Such Investor has been advised that the Notes, the Warrants and the underlying securities have not
been registered under the Securities Act, or any state securities laws and, therefore, cannot be resold unless they are registered
under the Securities Act and applicable state securities laws or unless an exemption from such registration requirements is available.
Such Investor is aware that, the Company is under no obligation to effect any such registration with respect to the Notes, the
Warrants or the underlying securities or to file for or comply with any exemption from registration.
 

(ii) Such Investor has not been formed solely for the purpose of making this investment and is purchasing
the Notes or Warrants to be acquired by such Investor hereunder for its own account for investment, not as a nominee or agent, and
not with a view to, or for resale in connection with, the distribution thereof, and Investor has no present intention of selling, granting
any participation in, or otherwise distributing the same. Such Investor is acquiring the Securities hereunder in the ordinary course of
its business.
 

(iii) The Investor, either alone or together with its representatives, has such knowledge, sophistication
and experience in financial and business matters that such Investor is capable of evaluating the merits and risks of such investment in
the Securities, is able to incur a complete loss of such investment without impairing such Investor’s financial condition and is able to
bear the economic risk of such investment for an indefinite period of time.
 

(iv) At the time such Investor was offered the Securities, it was, and as of the date hereof it is, and on
each date on which it exercises any Warrants or converts any Debentures it will be either: (i) an “accredited investor” as defined in
Rule 501(a) under the Securities Act or (ii) a “qualified institutional buyer” as defined in Rule 144A(a) under the Securities Act.  Such
Investor is not required to be registered as a broker-dealer under Section 15 of the Exchange Act. Such Investor has furnished or
made available any and all information requested by the Company or otherwise necessary to satisfy any applicable verification
requirements as to accredited investor status. Any such information is true, correct, timely and complete.
 

(v) Such Investor is not purchasing the Securities as a result of any advertisement, article, notice or other
communication regarding the Securities published in any newspaper, magazine or similar media or broadcast over television or radio
or presented at any seminar or any other general solicitation or general advertisement
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(vi) The residency of the Investor (or, in the case of a partnership or corporation, such entity’s principal
place of business) is correctly set forth beneath such Investor’s name on Schedule I hereto.
 

(c) Access to Information. Such Investor acknowledges that the Company has given such Investor access to the
corporate records and accounts of the Company and to all information in its possession relating to the Company, has made its officers
and representatives available for interview by such Investor, and has furnished such Investor with all documents and other
information required for such Investor to make an informed decision with respect to the purchase of the Notes and the Warrants.
 

(d) Tax Advisors. Such Investor has reviewed with its own tax advisors the U.S. federal, state and local and non-U.S.
tax consequences of this investment and the transactions contemplated by this Agreement. With respect to such matters, such
Investor relies solely on any such advisors and not on any statements or representations of the Company or any of its agents, written
or oral. Such Investor understands that it (and not the Company) shall be responsible for its own tax liability that may arise as a result
of this investment and the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.
 

(e) Short Sales and Confidentiality Prior To The Date Hereof.  Other than consummating the transactions
contemplated hereunder, such Investor has not directly or indirectly, nor has any Person acting on behalf of or pursuant to any
understanding with such Purchaser, executed any purchases or sales, including Short Sales, of the securities of the Company during
the period commencing from the time that such Investor first received a term sheet (written or oral) from the Company or any other
Person representing the Company setting forth the material terms of the transactions contemplated hereunder until the date hereof
(“Discussion Time”).  Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the case of a Investor that is a multi-managed investment vehicle whereby
separate portfolio managers manage separate portions of such Purchaser’s assets and the portfolio managers have no direct
knowledge of the investment decisions made by the portfolio managers managing other portions of such Investor’s assets, the
representation set forth above shall only apply with respect to the portion of assets managed by the portfolio manager that made the
investment decision to purchase the Securities covered by this Agreement.  Other than to other Persons party to this Agreement,
such Investor has maintained the confidentiality of all disclosures made to it in connection with this transaction (including the
existence and terms of this transaction).
 

(f) No “Bad Actor” Disqualification Events. Neither (i) such Investor, (ii) any of its directors, executive officers, other
officers that may serve as a director or officer of any company in which it invests, general partners or managing members, nor (iii) any
beneficial owner of any of the Company’s voting equity securities (in accordance with Rule 506(d) of the Securities Act) held by such
Investor is subject to any Disqualification Event (as defined in Section 2(o)), except for Disqualification Events covered by
Rule 506(d)(2)[(ii) or (iii)] or (d)(3) under the Securities Act and disclosed reasonably in advance of the Closing in writing in
reasonable detail to the Company.
 

4. Conditions to First Closing of the Investors. Each Investor’s obligations at the First Closing are subject to the
fulfillment, on or prior to the First Closing Date, of all of the following conditions, any of which may be waived in whole or in part by all
of the Investors:
 

(a) Representations and Warranties. The representations and warranties made by the Company in Section 2 hereof
shall have been true and correct when made, and shall be true and correct on the First Closing Date.
 

(b) Governmental Approvals and Filings. Except for any notices required or permitted to be filed after the First Closing
Date with respect to the Required Approvals, the Company shall have obtained all governmental approvals required in connection
with the lawful sale and issuance of the Notes and Warrants.
 

(c) Legal Requirements. At the First Closing, the sale and issuance by the Company, and the purchase by the
Investors, of the Notes and Warrants shall be legally permitted by all laws and regulations to which the Investors or the Company are
subject.
 

(d) Proceedings and Documents. All corporate and other proceedings in connection with the transactions
contemplated at the First Closing and all documents and instruments incident to such transactions shall be reasonably satisfactory in
substance and form to the Investors.
 

(e) Transaction Documents. The Company shall have duly executed and delivered to the Investors the following
documents:
 

(i) This Agreement; and
 

(ii) Each Note and Warrant issued hereunder;
 

(f) Corporate Documents. The Company shall have delivered to the Investors each of the following:
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(i) A certificate of the Secretary of the Company, dated the First Closing Date, certifying (a) that the

Certificate of Incorporation of the Company, certified as of a recent date by the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware and
attached thereto, is in full force and effect and has not been amended, supplemented, revoked or repealed since the date of such
certification; (b) that attached thereto is a true and correct copy of the Bylaws of the Company as in effect on the First Closing Date;
and (c) that attached thereto are true and correct copies of resolutions duly adopted by the Board of Directors of the Company and
continuing in effect, which authorize the execution, delivery and performance by the Company of this Agreement, the Warrants, and
the Notes and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby; and
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(ii) A Certificate of Good Standing or comparable certificate as to the Company, certified as of a recent
date prior to the First Closing Date by the Secretary of State of Delaware and a Certificate of Good Standing certified as of a recent
date prior to the First Closing Date by the Secretary of the States of Maryland, Florida, New Jersey and Virginia.
 

5. Conditions to Second Closing of the Investors. If the Company and the Gemini Investor have mutually agreed in
writing to conduct the Second Closing, then the obligations of the Gemini Investor and any other Investor participating in the Second
Closing are subject to the fulfillment, on or prior to the Second Closing Date, of all of the following conditions, any of which may be
waived in whole or in part by all of the Investors participating in the Second Closing:
 

(a) Representations and Warranties.  The representations and warranties made by the Company in Section 2 hereof
shall be true and correct in all material respects on the Second Closing Date.
 

(b) Governmental Approvals and Filings. Except for any notices required or permitted to be filed after the Second
Closing Date with respect to the Required Approvals, the Company shall have obtained all governmental approvals required in
connection with the lawful sale and issuance of the Notes and Warrants at the Second Closing.
 

(c) Legal Requirements. At the Second Closing, the sale and issuance by the Company, and the purchase by the
Investors participating in the Second Closing, of the Notes and Warrants shall be legally permitted by all laws and regulations to
which such Investors or the Company are subject.
 

(d) Transaction Documents. The Company shall have duly executed and delivered to the Investors participating in
the Second Closing each Note and Warrant to be issued at the Second Closing and shall have delivered to such Investors fully
executed copies, if applicable, of all documents delivered to the Investors participating in the initial Closing.
 

(e) Corporate Documents. The Company shall have delivered to the Investors a certificate of the Secretary of the
Company, dated such Second Closing Date, certifying that the certifications made in the certificate of the Secretary of the Company
delivered to the Investors at the initial Closing remain true and correct.
 

6. Conditions to Obligations of the Company. The Company’s obligation to issue and sell the Notes at the First Closing
and at the Second Closing is subject to the fulfillment, on or prior to the First Closing Date or the Second Closing Date, of the
following conditions, any of which may be waived in whole or in part by the Company:
 

(a) Representations and Warranties. The representations and warranties made by the applicable Investors in
Section 3 hereof shall be true and correct when made, and shall be true and correct on the First Closing Date and the Second
Closing Date.
 

(b) No Default. No Event of Default, and no event or condition that, with the passage of time or giving of notice or
both would be an Event of Default, shall have occurred and be continuing.
 

(c) Governmental Approvals and Filings. Except for any notices required or permitted to be filed after the First Closing
Date or the Second Closing Date with respect to any Required Approvals, the Company shall have obtained all governmental
approvals required in connection with the lawful sale and issuance of the Notes.
 

(d) Legal Requirements. At the First Closing and at the Second Closing, the sale and issuance by the Company, and
the purchase by the applicable Investors, of the Notes shall be legally permitted by all laws and regulations to which such Investors or
the Company are subject.
 

(e) Purchase Price. Each Investor shall have delivered to the Company the Purchase Price in respect of the Note
and Warrant being purchased by such Investor referenced in Section 1(b) hereof.
 

7. Additional Covenants of the Company.
 

(a) Non-Public Information.  Except with respect to the material terms and conditions of the transactions
contemplated by the Transaction Documents, the Company covenants and agrees that neither it, nor any other Person acting on its
behalf, will provide any Investor or its agents or counsel with any information that the Company believes constitutes material non-
public information, unless prior thereto the Investors shall have entered into a written agreement with the Company regarding the
confidentiality and use of such information.  The Company understands and confirms that the Investors shall be relying on the
foregoing covenant in effecting transactions in securities of the Company.
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(b) Indemnification of Investors.   Subject to the provisions of this paragraph, the Company will indemnify and hold
the Investors and their respective directors, officers, shareholders, members, partners, employees and agents (and any other
Persons with a functionally equivalent role of a Person holding such titles notwithstanding a lack of such title or any other title), each
Person who controls an Investor (within the meaning of Section 15 of the Securities Act and Section 20 of the Exchange Act), and the
directors, officers, shareholders, agents, members, partners or employees (and any other Persons with a functionally equivalent role
of a Person holding such titles notwithstanding a lack of such title or any other title) of such controlling persons, as applicable, (each,
a “Investor Party”) harmless from any and all losses, liabilities, obligations, claims, contingencies, damages, costs and expenses,
including all judgments, amounts paid in settlements, court costs and reasonable attorneys’ fees and reasonable costs of investigation
that any Investor Party may suffer or incur as a result of or relating to (a) any breach of any of the representations, warranties,
covenants or agreements made by the Company in this Agreement or in the other Transaction Documents or (b) any action instituted
against the Investor Parties in any capacity, or any of them or their respective Affiliates, by any shareholder of the Company who is
not an Affiliate of the Investor Party, with respect to any of the transactions contemplated by the Transaction Documents (unless such
action is based upon a breach of the Investor Party’s representations, warranties or covenants under the Transaction Documents or
any agreements or understandings the Investor Party may have with any such shareholder or any violations by such  Investor Party
of state or federal securities laws or any conduct by the Investor Party which constitutes fraud, gross negligence, willful misconduct or
malfeasance).  If any action shall be brought against any Investor Party in respect of which indemnity may be sought pursuant to this
Agreement, the Investor Party shall promptly notify the Company in writing, and the Company shall have the right to assume the
defense thereof with counsel of its own choosing reasonably acceptable to the Investor Party.  Any Investor Party shall have the right
to employ separate counsel in any such action and participate in the defense thereof, but the fees and expenses of such counsel
shall be at the expense of the Investor Party except to the extent that (i) the employment thereof has been specifically authorized by
the Company in writing, (ii) the Company has failed after a reasonable period of time to assume such defense and to employ counsel
or (iii) in such action there is, in the reasonable opinion of counsel, a material conflict on any material issue between the position of
the Company and the position of the Investor Party, in which case the Company shall be responsible for the reasonable fees and
expenses of no more than one such separate counsel for all Investor Parties.  The Company will not be liable to any Investor Party
under this Agreement (y) for any settlement by an Investor Party effected without the Company’s prior written consent, which shall not
be unreasonably withheld or delayed; or (z) to the extent, but only to the extent that a loss, claim, damage or liability is attributable to
any Investor Party’s breach of any of the representations, warranties, covenants or agreements made by the Investor Party in this
Agreement or in the other Transaction Documents.  The indemnification required by this paragraph shall be made by periodic
payments of the amount thereof during the course of the investigation or defense, as and when bills are received or are incurred.  The
indemnity agreements contained herein shall be in addition to any cause of action or similar right of any Investor Party against the
Company or others and any liabilities the Company may be subject to pursuant to law.
 

(c) Reservation and Listing of Securities.
 

(i) The Company shall maintain a reserve from its duly authorized shares of Common Stock for issuance
pursuant to the Transaction Documents in such amount as may then be required to fulfill its obligations in full under the Transaction
Documents and shall confirm the adequacy of such reserve upon written request of an Investor.
 

(ii) If, on any date, the number of authorized but unissued (and otherwise unreserved) shares of Common
Stock is less than the number of shares of Common Stock required to fulfill the Company’s obligations in full under the Notes and
Warrants (the “Required Minimum”) on such date, then the Board of Directors shall use commercially reasonable efforts to amend
the Company’s certificate or articles of incorporation to increase the number of authorized but unissued shares of Common Stock to at
least the Required Minimum at such time, as soon as possible and in any event not later than the 75th day after such date.
 

(iii) The Company shall, if applicable: (i) in the time and manner required by the principal Trading Market,
prepare and file with such Trading Market an additional shares listing application covering a number of shares of Common Stock at
least equal to the Required Minimum on the date of such application, (ii) take all steps necessary to cause such shares of Common
Stock to be approved for listing or quotation on such Trading Market as soon as possible thereafter, (iii) provide to the Investor
evidence of such listing or quotation and (iv) maintain the listing or quotation of such Common Stock on any date at least equal to the
Required Minimum on such date on such Trading Market or another Trading Market.
 

(d) Form D; Blue Sky Filings.  The Company agrees to timely file a Form D with respect to the Securities as required
under Regulation D and to provide a copy thereof, promptly upon request of the Investors. The Company shall take such action as
the Company shall reasonably determine is necessary in order to obtain an exemption for, or to qualify the Securities for, sale to the
Investors at the applicable Closing under applicable securities or “Blue Sky” laws of the states of the United States, and shall provide
evidence of such actions promptly upon request of the Investors.
 

(e) Prohibition on Variable Rate Transactions and Section 3(a)(10) Transactions.  The Company agrees not to (i) for
a period of up to two (2) years from the Closing Date, enter into any financing transactions that contain a conversion price that
changes daily or varies based on the current market price of the common stock (a “Variable Rate Transaction”), or (ii) enter into any
debt settlement agreements pursuant to Section 3(a)(10) of the Securities Act, in each case except pursuant to a written consent
instrument signed by each of the Company, Gemini Master Fund, Ltd. or its assigns (“Gemini”) and the Holders (including if
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applicable, Gemini) holding a Majority in Interest.
 

(f) Usury.  To the extent it may lawfully do so, the Company hereby agrees not to insist upon or plead or in any
manner whatsoever claim, and will resist any and all efforts to be compelled to take the benefit or advantage of, usury laws wherever
enacted, now or at any time hereafter in force, in connection with any claim, action or proceeding that may be brought by any Investor
in order to enforce any right or remedy under any Transaction Document.  Notwithstanding any provision to the contrary contained in
any Transaction Document, it is expressly agreed and provided that the total liability of the Company under the Transaction
Documents for payments in the nature of interest shall not exceed the maximum lawful rate authorized under applicable law (the
“Maximum Rate”), and, without limiting the foregoing, in no event shall any rate of interest or default interest, or both of them, when
aggregated with any other sums in the nature of interest that the Company may be obligated to pay under the Transaction
Documents exceed such Maximum Rate.  It is agreed that if the maximum contract rate of interest allowed by law and applicable to
the Transaction Documents is increased or decreased by statute or any official governmental action subsequent to the date hereof,
the new maximum contract rate of interest allowed by law will be the Maximum Rate applicable to the Transaction Documents from
the effective date thereof forward, unless such application is precluded by applicable law.  If under any circumstances whatsoever,
interest in excess of the Maximum Rate is paid by the Company to any Investor with respect to indebtedness evidenced by the
Transaction Documents, such excess shall be applied by the Investor to the unpaid principal balance of any such indebtedness or be
refunded to the Company, the manner of handling such excess to be at such Investor’s election.
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(g) Fees and Expenses.  At the First Closing under Section 2.1, the Company has agreed to reimburse Gemini the
non-accountable sum of $20,000.  The Company shall pay all Transfer Agent fees (including, without limitation, any fees required for
same-day processing of any instruction letter delivered by the Company and any conversion or exercise notice delivered by an
Investor), stamp taxes and other taxes and duties levied in connection with the delivery of any Securities to the Investors.
 

(h) Short Sales and Confidentiality After The Date Hereof. Each Investor, severally and not jointly with the other
Investors, covenants that neither it, nor any Affiliate acting on its behalf or pursuant to any understanding with it, will execute any
Short Sales during the period commencing with the Discussion Time and ending at such time the transactions contemplated by this
Agreement are first publicly announced.  Each Investor, severally and not jointly with the other Investors, covenants that until such
time as the transactions contemplated by this Agreement are publicly disclosed by the Company, such Investor will maintain the
confidentiality of the existence and terms of this transaction and the information included in the Transaction Documents and the
Disclosure Schedules.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, no Investor makes any representation, warranty or covenant hereby that it will
not engage in Short Sales in the securities of the Company after the time that the transactions contemplated by this Agreement are
first publicly announced.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the case of an Investor that is a multi-managed investment vehicle
whereby separate portfolio managers manage separate portions of such Investor’s assets and the portfolio managers have no direct
knowledge of the investment decisions made by the portfolio managers managing other portions of such Investor’s assets, the
covenant set forth above shall only apply with respect to the portion of assets managed by the portfolio manager that made the
investment decision to purchase the Securities covered by this Agreement.
 

(i) Post-Closing.  Within ten days after the First Closing Date, the Company will deliver to the Investors a Certificate
of Good Standing or comparable certificate as to the Company, certified as of a recent date by the Secretary of the States of
California, North Carolina and Pennsylvania.
 

8. Miscellaneous.
 

(a) Waivers and Amendments. Any provision of this Agreement, the Warrants and the Notes may be amended,
waived or modified only upon the written consent of the Company and a Majority in Interest; provided however, that no such
amendment, waiver or consent shall: (i) reduce the principal amount of any Note without the affected Investor’s written consent, or (ii)
reduce the rate of interest of any Note without the affected Investor’s written consent.  Any amendment or waiver effected in
accordance with this paragraph shall be binding upon all of the parties hereto.
 

(b) Governing Law; JUDICIAL REFERENCE.  This Agreement shall be governed by and interpreted in accordance
with the laws of the State of California, without giving effect to the principles thereof regarding the conflict of laws. The Company
irrevocably (a) consents to and expressly submits to the exclusive personal jurisdiction of any state or federal court sitting in San
Diego County, California in connection with any dispute or proceeding arising out of or relating to this Agreement or any other
Transaction Document, (b) agrees that all claims in respect of any such dispute or proceeding may only be heard and determined in
any such court, (c) expressly submits to the venue of any such court for the purposes hereof, and (d) waives any claim of improper
venue and any claim or objection that such courts are an inconvenient forum or any other claim or objection to the bringing of any
such proceeding in such jurisdictions or to any claim that such venue of the suit, action or proceeding is improper. The Company
hereby irrevocably consents to the service of process of any of the aforementioned courts in any such proceeding by the mailing of
copies thereof by reputable overnight courier (e.g., FedEx) or certified mail, postage prepaid, to such party's address as provided for
herein, such service to become effective ten (10) calendar days after such mailing. EACH PARTY HERETO HEREBY
IRREVOCABLY WAIVES ANY RIGHT IT MAY HAVE TO, AND AGREES NOT TO REQUEST, A JURY TRIAL FOR THE
ADJUDICATION OF ANY DISPUTE HEREUNDER OR IN CONNECTION WITH OR ARISING OUT OF THIS AGREEMENT, ANY
OTHER TRANSACTION DOCUMENT OR ANY TRANSACTION CONTEMPLATED HEREBY OR THEREBY.  If the jury waiver set
forth in this paragraph is not enforceable, then any claim or cause of action arising out of or relating to this Agreement, the other
Transaction Documents or any of the transactions contemplated therein shall be settled by judicial reference pursuant to California
Code of Civil Procedure Section 638 et seq. before a referee sitting without a jury, such referee to be mutually acceptable to the
parties or, if no agreement is reached, by a referee appointed by the Presiding Judge of the California Superior Court for San Diego
County. This paragraph shall not restrict a party from exercising remedies under the Uniform Commercial Code or from exercising
pre-judgment remedies under applicable law.
 

(c) Survival. The representations, warranties, covenants and agreements made herein shall survive the execution
and delivery of this Agreement.
 

(d) Successors and Assigns. Subject to the restrictions on transfer described in Sections 8(e) and 8(f) below, the
rights and obligations of the Company and the Investors shall be binding upon and benefit the successors, assigns, heirs,
administrators and transferees of the parties.
 

(e) Registration, Transfer and Replacement of the Notes. The Notes issuable under this Agreement shall be
registered notes. The Company will keep, at its principal executive office, books for the registration and registration of transfer of the
Notes. Prior to presentation of any Note for registration of transfer, the Company shall treat the Person in whose name such Note is
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registered as the owner and holder of such Note for all purposes whatsoever, whether or not such Note shall be overdue, and the
Company shall not be affected by notice to the contrary. Subject to any restrictions on or conditions to transfer set forth in any Note,
the holder of any Note, at its option, may in person or by duly authorized attorney surrender the same for exchange at the Company’s
principal place of business, and promptly thereafter and at the Company’s expense, except as provided below, receive in exchange
therefor one or more new Note(s), each in the principal requested by such holder, dated the date to which interest shall have been
paid on the Note so surrendered or, if no interest shall have yet been so paid, dated the date of the Note so surrendered and
registered in the name of such Person or Persons as shall have been designated in writing by such holder or its attorney for the same
principal amount as the then unpaid principal amount of the Note so surrendered. Upon receipt by the Company of evidence
reasonably satisfactory to it of the ownership of and the loss, theft, destruction or mutilation of any Note and (a) in the case of loss,
theft or destruction, of indemnity reasonably satisfactory to it; or (b) in the case of mutilation, upon surrender thereof, the Company, at
its expense, will execute and deliver in lieu thereof a new Note executed in the same manner as the Note being replaced, in the
same principal amount as the unpaid principal amount of such Note and dated the date to which interest shall have been paid on
such Note or, if no interest shall have yet been so paid, dated the date of such Note.
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(f) Assignment. The rights, interests or obligations hereunder may not be assigned, by operation of law or otherwise,

in whole or in part, by the Company without the prior written consent of a Majority in Interest (other than by merger)  Any Investor may
assign any or all of its rights under this Agreement to any Person to whom such Investor assigns or transfers any Securities, provided
that such transferee agrees in writing to be bound, with respect to the transferred Securities, by the provisions of the Transaction
Documents that apply to the “Investors.”
 

(g) Entire Agreement. This Agreement together with the other Transaction Documents constitute and contain the
entire agreement among the Company and Investors and supersede any and all prior agreements, negotiations, correspondence,
understandings and communications among the parties, whether written or oral, respecting the subject matter hereof.
 

(h) Notices. All notices, requests, demands, consents, instructions or other communications required or permitted
hereunder shall in writing and faxed, mailed or delivered to each party as follows: (i) if to an Investor, at such Investor’s address or
facsimile number set forth in the Schedule of Investors attached as Schedule I, or at such other address as such Investor shall have
furnished the Company in writing, or (ii) if to the Company, at 7020 Dorsey Road, Hanover, Maryland 21076, Tel: (443) 557-0200,
Fascimile: (443) 557-0201 with a copy to Sichenzia Ross Friedman Ference LLP, 61 Broadway, 32nd Floor, New York, New York
10006, Attention: Thomas A. Rose, Esq., Fax: (212) 930-9725 or at such other address or facsimile number as the Company shall
have furnished to the Investors in writing. All such notices and communications will be deemed effectively given the earlier of (i) when
received, (ii) when delivered personally, (iii) one business day after being delivered by facsimile (with receipt of appropriate
confirmation), (iv) one business day after being deposited with an overnight courier service of recognized standing or (v) four days
after being deposited in the U.S. mail, first class with postage prepaid.
 

(i) Expenses. The Company shall pay on demand all reasonable fees and expenses, including reasonable attorneys’
fees and expenses in connection with the preparation, execution and delivery of this Agreement and the other Transaction
Documents.  The Company shall also pay on demand all reasonable fees and expenses, including reasonable attorneys’ fees and
expenses, incurred by Investors with respect to any amendments or waivers hereof requested by the Company or in the enforcement
or attempted enforcement of any of the obligations of the Company to the Investors under the Transaction Documents or in
preserving any of the Investors’ rights and remedies (including, without limitation, all such fees and expenses incurred in connection
with any “workout” or restructuring affecting the Transaction Documents or the obligations thereunder or any bankruptcy or similar
proceeding involving the Company or any of its subsidiaries).
 

(j) Separability of Agreements; Severability of this Agreement. The Company’s agreement with each of the Investors
is a separate agreement and the sale of the Notes to each of the Investors is a separate sale. Unless otherwise expressly provided
herein, the rights of each Investor hereunder are several rights, not rights jointly held with any of the other Investors. Any invalidity,
illegality or limitation on the enforceability of the Agreement or any part thereof, by any Investor whether arising by reason of the law
of the respective Investor’s domicile or otherwise, shall in no way affect or impair the validity, legality or enforceability of this
Agreement with respect to other Investors. If any provision of this Agreement shall be judicially determined to be invalid, illegal or
unenforceable, the validity, legality and enforceability of the remaining provisions shall not in any way be affected or impaired thereby.
 

(k) Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, each of which will be deemed an
original, but all of which together will constitute one and the same agreement. Facsimile copies of signed signature pages will be
deemed binding originals.  In the event that any signature is delivered by facsimile transmission or by e-mail delivery of a “.pdf” format
data file, such signature shall create a valid and binding obligation of the party executing (or on whose behalf such signature is
executed) with the same force and effect as if such facsimile or “.pdf” signature page were an original thereof.
 

(l) Severability. If any term, provision, covenant or restriction of this Agreement is held by a court of competent
jurisdiction to be invalid, illegal, void or unenforceable, the remainder of the terms, provisions, covenants and restrictions set forth
herein shall remain in full force and effect and shall in no way be affected, impaired or invalidated, and the parties hereto shall use
their commercially reasonable efforts to find and employ an alternative means to achieve the same or substantially the same result as
that contemplated by such term, provision, covenant or restriction. It is hereby stipulated and declared to be the intention of the
parties that they would have executed the remaining terms, provisions, covenants and restrictions without including any of such that
may be hereafter declared invalid, illegal, void or unenforceable
 

(m) No Third-Party Beneficiaries.  This Agreement is intended for the benefit of the parties hereto and their respective
successors and permitted assigns and is not for the benefit of, nor may any provision hereof be enforced by, any other Person.
 

(n) Saturdays, Sundays, Holidays, etc. If the last or appointed day for the taking of any action or the expiration of any
right required or granted herein shall not be a Business Day, then such action may be taken or such right may be exercised on the
next succeeding Business Day.
 

(o) Construction. The parties agree that each of them and/or their respective counsel has reviewed and had an
opportunity to revise the Transaction Documents and, therefore, the normal rule of construction to the effect that any ambiguities are
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to be resolved against the drafting party shall not be employed in the interpretation of the Transaction Documents or any
amendments hereto.
 

(Signature Page Follows)
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The parties have caused this Agreement to be duly executed and delivered by their proper and duly authorized officers as of

the date and year first written above.
 
COMPANY:
 
BREKFORD CORP.
a Delaware corporation
 
By:       
Name:                                                                    
Title:                                                                    
 
INVESTOR:
 
GEMINI MASTER FUND, LTD.
 
By:       
Name:                                                                    
Title:                                                                    
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SCHEDULE I

 
SCHEDULE OF INVESTORS

 
PART A – FIRST CLOSING
 

 
Name and Address  

 
Face Amount

of Note   

 
Purchase

Price  

Warrant
(Number of shares of

Common Stock)

Gemini Master Fund, Ltd.
Address for all notices:
Gemini Master Fund, Ltd.
619 South Vulcan Ave., Suite #203, Encinitas, CA
92024
Attn: Steven Winters
Tel.:  (858) 480-2828

 $ 715,000  $ 650,000 780,000 shares of the Company’s common
stock, par value $0.001 per share (subject to
adjustment as provided in the Warrant)
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SCHEDULE I (continued)

 
SCHEDULE OF INVESTORS

 
PART B – SECOND CLOSING
 

 
Name and Address  

 
Face Amount
of Note   

 
Purchase

Price  

Warrant
(Number of shares of

Common Stock)

Gemini Master Fund, Ltd.
Address for all notices:
Gemini Master Fund, Ltd.
619 South Vulcan Ave., Suite #203, Encinitas, CA
92024
Attn: Steven Winters
Tel.:  (858) 480-2828
 

 $ 440,000  $ 400,000 480,000 shares of the Company’s common
stock, par value $0.001 per share (subject to
adjustment as provided in the Warrant)
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SCHEDULE II
DISCLOSURE SCHEDULE

 
Item 2(h) - Litigation

None.

Item 2(l) – Equity Securities
 
Authorized Shares

•  Preferred stock, $0.0001 par value; 20,000,000 shares authorized; no shares issued and outstanding.

•  Common stock, $0.0001 par value; 150,000,000 shares authorized; approximately 44,632,569 shares issued and outstanding
as of March 16, 2015.

 
Convertible Securities
 
1.  On November 4, 2014, Brekford Corp. (the "Company") entered into Promissory Note Extension Agreements (the "Agreements")
with C.B. Brechin and Scott Rutherford for the purpose of extending the maturity dates (the "Maturity Date") of its $250,000 unsecured
promissory note issued to Mr. Brechin and its $250,000 unsecured promissory note issued to Mr. Rutherford, both issued on
November 9, 2009 (the "Promissory Notes"), until the earlier of (i) November 9, 2015 or (ii) the date that is 10 business days from the
date on which the Company closes any equity financing that generates gross proceeds in the aggregate amount of not less than
$5,000,000. Prior to the parties' entry into the Agreements, the Maturity Date was the earlier of (a) November 9, 2014 or (b) the date
that is 10 business days from the date on which the Company closes any equity financing that generates gross proceeds in the
aggregate amount of not less than $5,000,000. As of September 30, 2014, the aggregate amount outstanding under the Promissory
Notes was $500,000. The form of Agreement will be filed as an exhibit to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ending December 31, 2014 as required by Item 601(b)(10) of Regulation S-K.
 
2.  On February 20, 2014, Brekford Corp. (the “Company”) entered into Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreements for Non-Employee
Directors (the “Option Agreements”) with its independent board members.  A total of 225,000 options were issued at an exercise price
of $0.20, expiring on February 20, 2019 and vesting over a three-year period at a rate of 33-1/3% per year.

Transfer Restrictions

None.

Preemptive or other Contractual Rights

None.

Registration Rights

None.
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Exhibit A

 
FORM OF NOTE

 
THIS NOTE AND THE SECURITIES ISSUABLE UPON THE CONVERSION HEREOF HAVE NOT BEEN REGISTERED UNDER
THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED, OR UNDER THE SECURITIES LAWS OF CERTAIN STATES. THESE
SECURITIES MAY NOT BE OFFERED, SOLD OR OTHERWISE TRANSFERRED, PLEDGED OR HYPOTHECATED EXCEPT AS
PERMITTED UNDER THE ACT AND APPLICABLE STATE SECURITIES LAWS PURSUANT TO AN EFFECTIVE REGISTRATION
STATEMENT OR AN EXEMPTION THEREFROM. THE ISSUER OF THESE SECURITIES MAY REQUIRE AN OPINION OF
COUNSEL REASONABLY SATISFACTORY TO THE ISSUER THAT SUCH OFFER, SALE OR TRANSFER, PLEDGE OR
HYPOTHECATION OTHERWISE COMPLIES WITH THE ACT AND ANY APPLICABLE STATE SECURITIES LAWS.
 

BREKFORD CORP.
 

6% CONVERTIBLE PROMISSORY NOTE
 
Original Principal Amount: $715,000 Issue Date: March 17, 2015
Original Purchase Price: $650,000  
 

FOR VALUE RECEIVED, BREKFORD CORP., a Delaware corporation (the “Company”) promises to pay to GEMINI
MASTER FUND, LTD., or its registered assigns (“Investor”), in lawful money of the United States of America the principal sum of
SEVEN HUNDRED FIFTEEN THOUSAND Dollars ($715,000), or such lesser amount as shall equal the outstanding principal amount
hereof, together with interest from the date of this Convertible Promissory Note (this “Note”) on the unpaid principal balance at a rate
equal to 6.0% per annum, computed on the basis of the actual number of days elapsed and a year of 365 days. All unpaid principal,
together with any then unpaid and accrued interest and other amounts payable hereunder, shall be due and payable on the earlier of
(i) March 17, 2017 (the “Maturity Date”), or (ii) when, upon the occurrence and during the continuance of an Event of Default, such
amounts are declared due and payable by Investor or made automatically due and payable, in each case, in accordance with the
terms hereof. This Note is one of the “Notes” issued pursuant to the Purchase Agreement (as defined herein).  Certain capitalized
terms used herein are defined in Section 6.
 

The following is a statement of the rights of Investor and the conditions to which this Note is subject, and to which Investor, by
the acceptance of this Note, agrees:
 

1. Payments.
 

(a) Interest. Accrued interest on this Note shall be payable at maturity.
 

(b) Voluntary Prepayment. Upon ten business days’ prior written notice to Investor, the Company may prepay this
Note in whole, but not in part, together with a premium equal to 10% of the outstanding principal amount to be prepaid, plus all
accrued and unpaid interest on this Note, provided that (i) any prepayment of this Note may only be made in connection with the
prepayment of all Notes on a pro rata basis, based on the respective aggregate outstanding principal amounts of each such Note and
(ii) any such prepayment will be applied first to the payment of expenses due and payable under this Note, second to the prepayment
premium and to interest accrued on this Note and third, if the amount of prepayment exceeds the amount of all such expenses and
accrued interest, to the payment of principal of this Note.
 

(c) Mandatory Prepayment and Investor Put Right.
 

(i) At any one or more times on or after the first anniversary of the date of this Note (the "Put Date"), the
Investor shall have the right (the "Put Right"), but not the obligation, to cause the Company to, at the written request of the Investor
(a “Put Notice”), prepay this Note in whole, together with all accrued and unpaid interest on this Note.  Within five (5)  business days
after Investor delivers a Put Notice to the Company, the Company shall prepay this Note in whole in cash, together with all accrued
and unpaid interest on this Note.  Any payment made pursuant to this Section shall be applied ratably to all of the holders of the then
outstanding Notes based on their (or their predecessor’s) initial purchases of Notes pursuant to the Purchase Agreement.
 

(ii) In the event of a Change of Control, the outstanding principal amount of this Note, plus all accrued
and unpaid interest, in each case that has not otherwise been converted into equity securities pursuant to Section 4, shall be due
and payable immediately prior to the closing of such Change of Control, together with a premium equal to 10% of the outstanding
principal amount to be prepaid.
 

2. Covenants.
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(a) As long as any portion of this Note remains outstanding, unless a Majority in Interest shall have otherwise
given prior written consent, the Company will not, and will not permit any of its subsidiaries to, create, incur, assume or permit to exist
any indebtedness, except (i) the Obligations, (ii) indebtedness in an amount existing on the date hereof and set forth in Schedule A
hereto, but not any extensions, renewals or replacements of any such indebtedness, (iii) current trade accounts payable incurred in
the ordinary course of business, (iv) lease obligations and purchase money indebtedness incurred in connection with the acquisition
of capital assets and lease obligations with respect to newly acquired or leased assets and (iv) Subordinated Debt.  Nothwithstanding
the foregoing, nothing contained in this Section 2(a) shall require the Company to obtain the consent of a Majority in Interest for any
Permitted Subordinated Indebtedness.
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(b) The Company will, and will cause each of its subsidiaries to, do or cause to be done all things necessary to
preserve, renew and keep in full force and effect its legal existence and the rights, licenses, permits, privileges and franchises
material to the conduct of its business.
 

(c) The Company will, and will cause each of its subsidiaries to, comply with all laws, rules, regulations and
orders of any governmental authority applicable to it or its property, except where the failure to do so, individually or in the aggregate,
could not reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect.
 

(d) The Company will not (i) enter into any financing transactions that contain a conversion price that changes
daily or varies based on the current market price of the common stock (a “Variable Rate Transaction”), or (ii) enter into any debt
settlement agreements pursuant to Section 3(a)(10) of the Securities Act, in each case except pursuant to a written consent
instrument signed by the Company and a Majority in Interest.
 

3. Events of Default. The occurrence of any of the following shall constitute an “Event of Default” under this Note and the
other Transaction Documents:
 

(a) Failure to Pay. The Company or any of its subsidiaries shall fail to pay (i) when due any principal or interest
payment on the due date hereunder or (ii) any other payment required under the terms of this Note or any other Transaction
Document on the date due and such payment shall not have been made within three (3) business days of such failure to pay; or
 

(b) Breaches of Covenants. The Company or any of its subsidiaries shall fail to observe or perform the covenant set
forth in Section 2(a) or 2(d) hereof, which failure is not cured, if possible to cure, within five (5) business days after such failure; or
 

(c) Breaches of Covenants. The Company or any of its subsidiaries shall fail to observe or perform any other
covenant, obligation, condition or agreement contained in the Transaction Documents (other than those specified in Section 3(a) or
3(b)) and such failure shall continue for five (5) business days; or
 

(d) Representations and Warranties. Any representation, warranty, certificate, or other statement (financial or
otherwise) made or furnished by or on behalf of the Company or any of its subsidiaries to Investor in writing in connection with this
Note or any of the other Transaction Documents, or as an inducement to Investor to enter into this Note and the other Transaction
Documents, shall be false, incorrect, incomplete or misleading in any material respect when made or furnished; or
 

(e) Other Payment Obligations. (1) Defaults shall exist under any agreements of the Company or any of its
subsidiaries with any third party or parties which consists of the failure to pay any indebtedness for borrowed money at maturity or
which results in a right by such third party or parties, whether or not exercised, to accelerate the maturity of such indebtedness for
borrowed money of the Company or any of its subsidiaries, in each case, in an aggregate amount in excess of One Hundred
Thousand Dollars ($100,000); or (2) defaults shall exist under any agreements of the Company or any of its subsidiaries with any
third party or parties which consists of the failure to pay any indebtedness for borrowed money at maturity or which results in a right
by such third party or parties, whether or not exercised, to accelerate the maturity of such indebtedness for borrowed money of the
Company or any of its subsidiaries, in each case, if such indebtedness for borrowed money ranks pari passu with the Obligations or is
subordinated to the Obligations; or
 

(f) Voluntary Bankruptcy or Insolvency Proceedings. The Company or any of its subsidiaries shall (i) apply for or
consent to the appointment of a receiver, trustee, liquidator or custodian of itself or of all or a substantial part of its property, (ii) admit
in writing its inability to pay its debts generally as they mature, (iii) make a general assignment for the benefit of its or any of its
creditors, (iv) be dissolved or liquidated, (v) commence a voluntary case or other proceeding seeking liquidation, reorganization or
other relief with respect to itself or its debts under any bankruptcy, insolvency or other similar law now or hereafter in effect or consent
to any such relief or to the appointment of or taking possession of its property by any official in an involuntary case or other
proceeding commenced against it, or (vi) take any action for the purpose of effecting any of the foregoing; or
 

(g) Involuntary Bankruptcy or Insolvency Proceedings. Proceedings for the appointment of a receiver, trustee,
liquidator or custodian of the Company or any of its subsidiaries, or of all or a substantial part of the property thereof, or an involuntary
case or other proceedings seeking liquidation, reorganization or other relief with respect to the Company or any of its subsidiaries, if
any, or the debts thereof under any bankruptcy, insolvency or other similar law now or hereafter in effect shall be commenced and an
order for relief entered or such proceeding shall not be dismissed or discharged within 30 days of commencement; or
 

(h) Judgments. A final judgment or order for the payment of money in excess of One Hundred Thousand Dollars
($100,000) shall be rendered against the Company or any of its subsidiaries and the same shall remain undischarged for a period of
30 days during which execution shall not be effectively stayed, or any judgment, writ, assessment, warrant of attachment, or
execution or similar process shall be issued or levied against a substantial part of the property of the Company or any of its
subsidiaries, if any and such judgment, writ, or similar process shall not be released, stayed, vacated or otherwise dismissed within
30 days after issue or levy; or
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(i) Transaction Documents. Any Transaction Document or any material term thereof shall cease to be, or be asserted

by the Company not to be, a legal, valid and binding obligation of the Company enforceable in accordance with its terms.
 

(j) Current Public Company Filing Requirements.  The Company does not meet the current public information
requirements under Rule 144 promulgated under the Securities Act by the United States Securities and Exchange Commission,
which failure is not cured, if possible to cure, within the earlier to occur of (A) ten (10) Trading Days after notice of such failure sent by
the Holder or by any other Holder to the Company and (B) fifteen (15) Trading Days after the Company has become or should have
become aware of such failure.
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(k) Failure to Deliver.  The Company shall fail for any reason to deliver certificates to a Holder prior to the fifth

Trading Day after a Conversion Date pursuant to Section 5(c) or the Company shall provide at any time notice to the Holder,
including by way of public announcement, of the Company’s intention to not honor requests for conversions of any Note in
accordance with the terms hereof.
 

4. Rights of Investor upon Default. Upon the occurrence of any Event of Default (other than an Event of Default described
in Sections 3(f) or 3(g)) and at any time thereafter during the continuance of such Event of Default, Investor may, with the written
consent of a Majority in Interest of Investors, by written notice to the Company, declare all outstanding Obligations payable by the
Company hereunder to be immediately due and payable, together with a premium equal to 10%, without presentment, demand,
protest or any other notice of any kind, all of which are hereby expressly waived, anything contained herein or in the other
Transaction Documents to the contrary notwithstanding. Upon the occurrence of any Event of Default described in Sections 3(f) and
3(g), immediately and without notice, all outstanding Obligations payable by the Company hereunder shall automatically become
immediately due and payable, together with a premium equal to 15%, without presentment, demand, protest or any other notice of
any kind, all of which are hereby expressly waived, anything contained herein or in the other Transaction Documents to the contrary
notwithstanding. In addition to the foregoing remedies, upon the occurrence and during the continuance of any Event of Default,
Investor may, with the written consent of a Majority in Interest of Investors, exercise any other right, power or remedy granted to it by
the Transaction Documents or otherwise permitted to it by law, either by suit in equity or by action at law, or both.  Any acceleration
pursuant to this Section may be rescinded and annulled by Holder at any time prior to payment hereunder and the Holder shall have
all rights as a holder of the Note until such time, if any, as the Holder receives full payment pursuant to this Section.
 

5. Conversion.
 

(a) Voluntary Conversion. At any time, and from time to time, until this Note is no longer outstanding, this Note shall
be convertible, in whole or in part, into shares of Common Stock at the option of the Holder (subject to the conversion limitations set
forth in Section 5(d) hereof).  The Holder shall effect conversions by delivering to the Company a Notice of Conversion, the form of
which is attached hereto as Annex A (each, a “Notice of Conversion”), specifying therein the principal amount and interest of this
Note to be converted and the date on which such conversion shall be effected (such date, the “Conversion Date”).  If no Conversion
Date is specified in a Notice of Conversion, the Conversion Date shall be the date that such Notice of Conversion is actually received
by the Company.  No ink-original Notice of Conversion shall be required, nor shall any medallion guarantee (or other type of
guarantee or notarization) of any Notice of Conversion form be required. To effect conversions hereunder, the Holder shall not be
required to physically surrender this Note to the Company unless the entire principal amount of this Note, plus all accrued and unpaid
interest thereon, has been so converted; provided, however, that, at the Company’s election, it shall be permitted to provide the
Holder with a substitute Note of like tenor for the remaining principal amount not converted, upon receipt of which the Holder shall
physically surrender this Note to the Company. Conversions hereunder shall have the effect of lowering the outstanding principal
amount of this Note in an amount equal to the applicable conversion.  The Holder and the Company shall maintain records showing
the principal amount(s) converted and the date of such conversion(s).  The Company may deliver an objection to any Notice of
Conversion within one (1) Business Day of delivery of such Notice of Conversion.  In the event of any dispute or discrepancy, the
records of the Company shall be controlling and determinative in the absence of manifest error; provided, however, that no
presumption shall exist that the records of the Company are accurate. The Holder, and any assignee by acceptance of this Note,
acknowledge and agree that, by reason of the provisions of this paragraph, following conversion of a portion of this Note,
the unpaid and unconverted principal amount of this Note may be less than the amount stated on the face hereof.
 

(b) Conversion Price.  The Conversion Price in effect on any Conversion Date shall have the meaning set forth in
Section 6.
 

(c) Mechanics of Conversion.
 

(i) Conversion Shares Issuable Upon Conversion of Principal Amount.  The number of Conversion
Shares issuable upon a conversion hereunder shall be determined by the quotient obtained by dividing (x) the outstanding principal
amount of this Note and interest to be converted by (y) the Conversion Price.
 

(ii) Delivery of Certificate Upon Conversion. Not later than three (3) Trading Days after each Conversion
Date (the “Share Delivery Date”), the Company shall deliver, or cause to be delivered, to the Holder a certificate or certificates
representing the Conversion Shares which, on or after the six month anniversary of the Original Issue Date provided the Holder is not
an Affiliate, shall be free of restrictive legends and trading restrictions representing the number of Conversion Shares being acquired
upon the conversion of this Note, provided further than any certificate or certificates to be issued without any restrictive legend on or
prior to a Share Delivery Date may only be done in connection with a bona fide sale of such securities as a result of the requirements
under Rule 144(i) promulgated under the Securities Act. On or after the six month anniversary of the Issue Date, provided the Holder
is not an Affiliate, the Company shall use its best efforts, to deliver any certificate or certificates required to be delivered by the
Company under this Section 5(c) electronically through the Depository Trust Company or another established clearing corporation
performing similar functions.

EDGAR Stream is a copyright of Issuer Direct Corporation, all rights reserved.



 
(iii) Failure to Deliver Certificates.  If, in the case of any Notice of Conversion, such certificate or

certificates are not delivered to or as directed by the applicable Holder by the Share Delivery Date, the Holder shall be entitled to
elect by written notice to the Company at any time on or before its receipt of such certificate or certificates, to rescind such
Conversion, in which event the Company shall promptly return to the Holder any original Note delivered to the Company and the
Holder shall promptly return to the Company the Common Stock certificates issued to such Holder pursuant to the rescinded
Conversion Notice.
 

(iv) Obligation Absolute.  The Company’s obligations to issue and deliver the Conversion Shares upon
conversion of this Note in accordance with the terms hereof are absolute and unconditional, irrespective of any action or inaction by
the Holder to enforce the same, any waiver or consent with respect to any provision hereof, the recovery of any judgment against any
Person or any action to enforce the same, or any setoff, counterclaim, recoupment, limitation or termination, or any breach or alleged
breach by the Holder or any other Person of any obligation to the Company or any violation or alleged violation of law by the Holder
or any other Person, and irrespective of any other circumstance which might otherwise limit such obligation of the Company to the
Holder in connection with the issuance of such Conversion Shares; provided, however, that such delivery shall not operate as a
waiver by the Company of any such action the Company may have against the Holder.  In the event the Holder of this Note shall
elect to convert any or all of the outstanding principal amount hereof, the Company may not refuse conversion based on any claim
that the Holder or anyone associated or affiliated with the Holder has been engaged in any violation of law, agreement or for any
other reason, unless an injunction from a court, on notice to Holder, restraining and or enjoining conversion of all or part of this Note
shall have been sought and obtained, and the Company posts a surety bond for the benefit of the Holder in the amount of 125% of
the outstanding principal amount of this Note, which is subject to the injunction, which bond shall remain in effect until the completion
of arbitration/litigation of the underlying dispute and the proceeds of which shall be payable to the Holder to the extent it obtains
judgment.  In the absence of such injunction, the Company shall issue Conversion Shares or, if applicable, cash, upon a properly
noticed conversion.  Upon the Company’s failure to deliver Conversion Shares within the period specified herein, the Holder shall
have the right to pursue all remedies available to it under the transaction documents, including the declaration of an Event of Default,
and at law or in equity including, without limitation, a decree of specific performance and/or injunctive relief.  The exercise of any such
rights shall not prohibit the Holder from seeking to enforce damages pursuant to any other Section hereof or under applicable law.
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(v) Compensation for Buy-In on Failure to Timely Deliver Certificates Upon Conversion. In addition to any

other rights available to the Holder, if the Company fails for any reason (other than as a result of any request to deliver any such
certificate(s) without a restrictive legend that is not in connection with a sale of such securities) to deliver to the Holder such certificate
or certificates by the Share Delivery Date pursuant to Section 5(c)(ii), and if after such Share Delivery Date the Holder is required by
its brokerage firm to purchase (in an open market transaction or otherwise), or the Holder’s brokerage firm otherwise purchases,
shares of Common Stock to deliver in satisfaction of a sale by the Holder of the Conversion Shares which the Holder was entitled to
receive upon the conversion relating to such Share Delivery Date (a “Buy-In”), then the Company shall (A) pay in cash to the Holder
(in addition to any other remedies available to or elected by the Holder) the amount, if any, by which (x) the Holder’s total purchase
price (including any brokerage commissions) for the Common Stock so purchased exceeds (y) the product of (1) the aggregate
number of shares of Common Stock that the Holder was entitled to receive from the conversion at issue multiplied by (2) the actual
sale price at which the sell order giving rise to such purchase obligation was executed (including any brokerage commissions) and
(B) at the option of the Holder, either reissue (if surrendered) this Note in a principal amount equal to the principal amount of the
attempted conversion (in which case such conversion shall be deemed rescinded) or deliver to the Holder the number of shares of
Common Stock that would have been issued if the Company had timely complied with its delivery requirements under Section 5(c)
(ii).  For example, if the Holder purchases Common Stock having a total purchase price of $11,000 to cover a Buy-In with respect to
an attempted conversion of this Note with respect to which the actual sale price of the Conversion Shares (including any brokerage
commissions) giving rise to such purchase obligation was a total of $10,000 under clause (A) of the immediately preceding sentence,
the Company shall be required to pay the Holder $1,000.  The Holder shall provide the Company written notice indicating the
amounts payable to the Holder in respect of the Buy-In that includes evidence of the amount of such loss.  Nothing herein shall limit a
Holder’s right to pursue any other remedies available to it hereunder, at law or in equity including, without limitation, a decree of
specific performance and/or injunctive relief with respect to the Company’s failure to timely deliver certificates representing shares of
Common Stock upon conversion of this Note as required pursuant to the terms hereof.
 

(vi) Reservation of Shares Issuable Upon Conversion. The Company covenants that it will at all times
reserve and keep available out of its authorized and unissued shares of Common Stock for the sole purpose of issuance upon
conversion of this Note and payment of interest on this Note, each as herein provided, free from preemptive rights or any other actual
contingent purchase rights of Persons other than the Holder (and the other Holder of the Notes), not less than 150% such aggregate
number of shares of the Common Stock as shall be issuable upon the conversion of the then-outstanding principal amount of this
Note and payment of interest hereunder.  The Company covenants that all shares of Common Stock that shall be so issuable shall,
upon issue, be duly authorized, validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable.
 

(vii) Fractional Shares. No fractional shares or scrip representing fractional shares shall be issued upon
the conversion of this Note.  As to any fraction of a share which the Holder would otherwise be entitled to purchase upon such
conversion, the Company shall at its election, either pay a cash adjustment in respect of such final fraction in an amount equal to
such fraction multiplied by the Conversion Price or round up to the next whole share.
 

(viii) Transfer Taxes and Expenses.  The issuance of certificates for shares of the Common Stock on
conversion of this Note shall be made without charge to the Holder hereof for any documentary stamp or similar taxes that may be
payable in respect of the issue or delivery of such certificates, provided that, the Company shall not be required to pay any tax that
may be payable in respect of any transfer involved in the issuance and delivery of any such certificate upon conversion in a name
other than that of the Holder of this Note so converted and the Company shall not be required to issue or deliver such certificates
unless or until the Person or Persons requesting the issuance thereof shall have paid to the Company the amount of such tax or shall
have established to the satisfaction of the Company that such tax has been paid.  The Company shall pay all Transfer Agent fees
required for same-day processing of any Notice of Conversion.
 

(d) Holder’s Conversion Limitations.  The Company shall not effect any conversion of this Note, and a Holder shall
not have the right to convert any portion of this Note, to the extent that after giving effect to the conversion set forth on the applicable
Notice of Conversion, the Holder (together with the Holder’s Affiliates, and any Persons acting as a group together with the Holder or
any of the Holder’s Affiliates) would beneficially own in excess of the Beneficial Ownership Limitation (as defined below).  For
purposes of the foregoing sentence, the number of shares of Common Stock beneficially owned by the Holder and its Affiliates shall
include the number of shares of Common Stock issuable upon conversion of this Note with respect to which such determination is
being made, but shall exclude the number of shares of Common Stock which are issuable upon (i) conversion of the remaining,
unconverted principal amount of this Note beneficially owned by the Holder or any of its Affiliates and (ii) exercise or conversion of the
unexercised or unconverted portion of any other securities of the Company subject to a limitation on conversion or exercise
analogous to the limitation contained herein (including, without limitation, any other Notes or the Warrants) beneficially owned by the
Holder or any of its Affiliates.  Except as set forth in the preceding sentence, for purposes of this Section 5(d), beneficial ownership
shall be calculated in accordance with Section 13(d) of the Exchange Act and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder.  To
the extent that the limitation contained in this Section 5(d) applies, the determination of whether this Note is convertible (in relation to
other securities owned by the Holder together with any Affiliates) and of which principal amount of this Note is convertible shall be in
the sole discretion of the Holder, and the submission of a Notice of Conversion shall be deemed to be the Holder’s determination of
whether this Note may be converted (in relation to other securities owned by the Holder together with any Affiliates) and which
principal amount of this Note is convertible, in each case subject to the Beneficial Ownership Limitation. To ensure compliance with
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this restriction, the Holder will be deemed to represent to the Company each time it delivers a Notice of Conversion that such Notice
of Conversion has not violated the restrictions set forth in this paragraph and the Company shall have no obligation to verify or
confirm the accuracy of such determination.  In addition, a determination as to any group status as contemplated above shall be
determined in accordance with Section 13(d) of the Exchange Act and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder.  For
purposes of this Section 5(d), in determining the number of outstanding shares of Common Stock, the Holder may rely on the number
of outstanding shares of Common Stock as stated in the most recent of the following: (i) the Company’s most recent periodic or
annual report filed with the Commission, as the case may be, (ii) a more recent public announcement by the Company, or (iii) a more
recent written notice by the Company or the Company’s transfer agent setting forth the number of shares of Common Stock
outstanding.  Upon the written request of a Holder, the Company shall within two Trading Days confirm orally and in writing to the
Holder the number of shares of Common Stock then outstanding.  In any case, the number of outstanding shares of Common Stock
shall be determined after giving effect to the conversion or exercise of securities of the Company, including this Note, by the Holder or
its Affiliates since the date as of which such number of outstanding shares of Common Stock was reported. The “Beneficial
Ownership Limitation” shall be 9.99% of the number of shares of the Common Stock outstanding immediately after giving effect to the
issuance of shares of Common Stock issuable upon conversion of this Note held by the Holder.  The Holder, upon not less than 61
days’ prior notice to the Company, may increase (up to a maximum of 9.99%) or decrease the Beneficial Ownership Limitation
provisions of this Section 4(d).  Any such increase or decrease will not be effective until the 61st day after such notice is delivered to
the Company.  The Beneficial Ownership Limitation provisions of this paragraph shall be construed and implemented in a manner
otherwise than in strict conformity with the terms of this Section 5(d) to correct this paragraph (or any portion hereof) which may be
defective or inconsistent with the intended Beneficial Ownership Limitation contained herein or to make changes or supplements
necessary or desirable to properly give effect to such limitation. The limitations contained in this paragraph shall apply to a successor
holder of this Note.
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6. Definitions. As used in this Note, the following capitalized terms have the following meanings:
 

“Affiliate” shall mean an affiliate as such term is defined in Rule 144 under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended
(or a successor rule).
 

“Change of Control” shall mean (i) any “person” or “group” (within the meaning of Section 13(d) and 14(d) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended), becomes the “beneficial owner” (as defined in Rule 13d-3 under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended), directly or indirectly, of more than 25% of the outstanding voting securities of the Company
(other than by means of conversion or exercise of the Notes and the Securities issued together with the Notes), (ii) any
reorganization, merger or consolidation of the Company, other than a transaction or series of related transactions in which the holders
of the voting securities of the Company outstanding immediately prior to such transaction or series of related transactions retain,
immediately after such transaction or series of related transactions, at least a majority of the total voting power represented by the
outstanding voting securities of the Company or such other surviving or resulting entity or (iii) a sale, lease or other disposition of all
or substantially all of the assets of the Company to another Person and the stockholders of the Company immediately prior to such
transaction do not own at least 75% of the aggregate voting power of the acquiring entity immediately after the transaction.
 

“Commission” means the United States Securities and Exchange Commission.
 

“Common Stock” means the common stock of the Company, and any capital stock into which such Common Stock
shall have been converted, exchanged or reclassified following the date hereof.
 

“Common Stock Equivalents” means any securities of the Company which would entitle the holder thereof to
acquire at any time Common Stock, including, without limitation, any debt, preferred stock, rights, options, warrants or other
instrument that is at any time convertible into or exercisable or exchangeable for, or otherwise entitles the holder thereof to receive
Common Stock.
 

“Conversion Price” shall mean a price per share equal to the higher of (i) the Sale Price and (ii) the Floor Price.
 

“Conversion Shares” means, collectively, the shares of Common Stock issuable upon conversion of this Note in accordance
with the terms hereof.
 

“Exchange Act” shall mean the Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.
 

“Floor Price” shall mean a price per share equal to $0.10 provided, however, that if on or after the date of the Purchase
Agreement the Company sells any Common Stock or Common Stock Equivalents at an effective price per share that is less than
$0.10 per share, then such shall be equal to the par value of the Company’s Common Stock then in effect.
 

“Event of Default” has the meaning given in Section 2 hereof.
 

“Investor” shall mean the Person specified in the introductory paragraph of this Note or any Person who shall at the
time be the registered holder of this Note.
 

“Investors” shall mean the investors that have purchased Notes.
 

“Lien” means a lien, charge, security interest, encumbrance, right of first refusal, preemptive right or other restriction.
 

“Majority in Interest” shall mean Investors holding more than 50% of the aggregate outstanding principal amount of
the Notes.
 

"Material Adverse Effect" means a material adverse effect on (i) the business, assets, operations or condition,
financial or otherwise, of the Company and the subsidiaries taken as a whole, (ii) the ability of the Company to perform any of its
obligations under this Note or any other Transaction Document or (iii) the rights of or benefits available to the Investor under this Note
or any other Transaction Document.
 

“Notes” shall mean the convertible promissory notes issued pursuant to the Purchase Agreement by the Company.
 

“Obligations” shall mean and include all loans, advances, debts, liabilities and obligations, howsoever arising, owed
by the Company to Investor of every kind and description, now existing or hereafter arising under or pursuant to the terms of this Note
and the other Transaction Documents, including, all interest, fees, charges, expenses, attorneys’ fees and costs and accountants’
fees and costs chargeable to and payable by the Company hereunder and thereunder, in each case, whether direct or indirect,
absolute or contingent, due or to become due, and whether or not arising after the commencement of a proceeding under Title 11 of
the United States Code (11 U. S. C. Section 101 et seq.), as amended from time to time (including post-petition interest) and whether
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or not allowed or allowable as a claim in any such proceeding. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the term “Obligations” shall not include
any obligations of Company under or with respect to any warrants to purchase Company’s capital stock.
 

“Permitted Subordinated Indebtedness” means indebtedness of up to $250,000, in the aggregate, issued on or
after the date hereof that (i) is expressly subordinate to the Notes pursuant to documentation in form and substance satisfactory to the
Majority in Interest and (ii) matures at a date later than the 91st day following the Maturity Date.
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“Person” shall mean and include an individual, a partnership, a corporation (including a business trust), a joint stock

company, a limited liability company, an unincorporated association, a joint venture or other entity or a governmental authority.
 

“Purchase Agreement” shall mean the Note and Warrant Purchase Agreement, dated as of the date hereof (as
amended, modified or supplemented), by and among the Company and the Investors (as defined in the Purchase Agreement) party
thereto.
 

“Sale Price” shall mean a price per share equal to the lesser of (i) $0.25 per share and (ii) 70% of the average of the lowest
three VWAPs for the twelve (12) trading days prior to such conversion.
 

“Securities” means the Notes, the Warrants, the Warrant Shares and the Conversion Shares.
 

“Securities Act” shall mean the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.
 

“Short Sales” means all “short sales” as defined in Rule 200 of Regulation SHO under the Exchange Act (but shall
not be deemed to include the location and/or reservation of borrowable shares of Common Stock).
 

“Subordinated Debt” shall mean indebtedness for borrowed money (including without limitation convertible
indebtedness) of the Company or any of its subsidiaries that is expressly subordinated to the Obligations on terms and conditions,
and pursuant to documentation, satisfactory to the Majority in Interest.
 

“Transaction Documents” shall mean this Note, each of any other Notes, the Purchase Agreement and the
Warrants.
 

“VWAP” shall mean, as of any particular date, (i) the daily volume weighted average of the closing sales prices of the
Common Stock for such day on all domestic securities exchanges on which the Common Stock may at the time be listed, (ii) if there
have been no sales of the Common Stock on any such exchange on any such day, the average of the highest bid and lowest asked
prices for the Common Stock on all such exchanges at the end of such day, (iii) if on any such day the Common Stock is not listed on
a domestic securities exchange, the closing sales price of the Common Stock as quoted on the Financial Industry Regulatory
Authority OTC Bulletin Board electronic inter-dealer quotation system (the "OTC Bulletin Board"), the OTC Markets Group Inc.
electronic inter-dealer quotation system, including OTCQX, OTCQB and OTC Pink (the "Pink OTC Markets") or similar quotation
system or association for such day or (iv) if there have been no sales of the Common Stock on the OTC Bulletin Board, the Pink OTC
Markets or similar quotation system or association on such day, the average of the highest bid and lowest asked prices for the
Common Stock quoted on the OTC Bulletin Board, the Pink OTC Markets or similar quotation system or association at the end of
such day, or (d) in all other cases, the fair market value of a share of Common Stock as determined by an independent appraiser
selected in good faith by a Majority in Interest then outstanding and reasonably acceptable to the Company, the fees and expenses of
which shall be paid by the Company; provided, that if the Common Stock is listed on any domestic securities exchange, the term
"business day" means business days on which such exchange is open for trading.
 

“Warrants” shall mean the warrants issued to Investor under the Purchase Agreement.
 

“Warrant Shares” means the shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise of the Warrants.
 

7. Miscellaneous.
 

(a) Successors and Assigns; Transfer of this Note or Securities Issuable on Conversion Hereof; No Transfers to Bad
Actors; Notice of Bad Actor Status.
 

(i) Subject to the restrictions on transfer described in this Section 7(a), the rights and obligations of the
Company and Investor shall be binding upon and benefit the successors, assigns, heirs, administrators and transferees of the parties.
 

(ii) With respect to any offer, sale or other disposition of this Note or securities into which such Note may
be converted, Investor will give written notice to the Company prior thereto, describing briefly the manner thereof, together with a
written opinion of Investor’s counsel, or other evidence if reasonably satisfactory to the Company, to the effect that such offer, sale or
other distribution may be effected without registration or qualification (under any federal or state law then in effect). Upon receiving
such written notice and reasonably satisfactory opinion, if so requested, or other evidence, the Company, as promptly as practicable,
shall notify Investor that Investor may sell or otherwise dispose of this Note or such securities, all in accordance with the terms of the
notice delivered to the Company. If a determination has been made pursuant to this Section 7(a) that the opinion of counsel for
Investor, or other evidence, is not reasonably satisfactory to the Company, the Company shall so notify Investor promptly after such
determination has been made. Each Note thus transferred and each certificate representing the securities thus transferred shall bear
a legend as to the applicable restrictions on transferability in order to ensure compliance with the Securities Act, unless in the opinion
of counsel for the Company such legend is not required in order to ensure compliance with the Securities Act. The Company may
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issue stop transfer instructions to its transfer agent in connection with such restrictions.
 

(iii) Subject to Section 7(a)(ii), transfers of this Note shall be registered upon registration books
maintained for such purpose by or on behalf of the Company as provided in the Purchase Agreement. Prior to presentation of this
Note for registration of transfer, the Company shall treat the registered holder hereof as the owner and holder of this Note for the
purpose of receiving all payments of principal and interest hereon and for all other purposes whatsoever, whether or not this Note
shall be overdue and the Company shall not be affected by notice to the contrary.
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(iv) Neither this Note nor any of the rights, interests or obligations hereunder may be assigned, by
operation of law or otherwise, in whole or in part, by the Company without the prior written consent of a Majority in Interest of
Investors.
 

(v) Investor agrees not to sell, assign, transfer, pledge or otherwise dispose of any securities of the
Company, or any beneficial interest therein, to any person (other than the Company) unless and until the proposed transferee
confirms to the reasonable satisfaction of the Company that neither the proposed transferee nor any of its directors, executive
officers, other officers that may serve as a director or officer of any company in which it invests, general partners or managing
members nor any person that would be deemed a beneficial owner of those securities (in accordance with Rule 506(d) of the
Securities Act) is subject to any of the “bad actor” disqualifications described in Rule 506(d)(1)(i) through (viii) under the Securities
Act, except as set forth in Rule 506(d)(2)[(ii) or (iii)] or (d)(3) under the Securities Act and disclosed, reasonably in advance of the
transfer, in writing in reasonable detail to the Company. Investor will promptly notify the Company in writing if Investor or, to Investor’s
knowledge, any person specified in Rule 506(d)(1) under the Securities Act becomes subject to any of the “bad actor”
disqualifications described in Rule 506(d)(1)(i) through (viii) under the Securities Act.
 

(b) Waiver and Amendment. Any provision of this Note may be amended, waived or modified upon the written
consent of the Company and a Majority in Interest; provided, however, that no such amendment, waiver or consent shall: (i) reduce
the principal amount of this Note without Investor’s written consent, or (ii) reduce the rate of interest of this Note without Investor’s
written consent.
 

(c) Notices. All notices, requests, demands, consents, instructions or other communications required or permitted
hereunder shall be in writing and faxed, mailed or delivered to each party at the respective addresses of the parties as set forth in the
Purchase Agreement, or at such other address or facsimile number as the Company shall have furnished to Investor in writing. All
such notices and communications will be deemed effectively given the earlier of (i) when received, (ii) when delivered personally,
(iii) one business day after being delivered by facsimile (with receipt of appropriate confirmation), (iv) one business day after being
deposited with an overnight courier service of recognized standing or (v) four days after being deposited in the U.S. mail, first class
with postage prepaid. Subject to the limitations set forth in Delaware General Corporation Law §232(e), Investor consents to the
delivery of any notice to stockholders given by the Company under the Delaware General Corporation Law or the Company’s
certificate of incorporation or bylaws by (i) facsimile telecommunication to any facsimile number for Investor in the Company’s
records, (ii) electronic mail to any electronic mail address for Investor in the Company’s records, (iii) posting on an electronic network
together with separate notice to Investor of such specific posting or (iv) any other form of electronic transmission (as defined in the
Delaware General Corporation Law) directed to Investor. This consent may be revoked by Investor by written notice to the Company
and may be deemed revoked in the circumstances specified in Delaware General Corporation Law §232.
 

(d) Pari Passu Notes. Investor acknowledges and agrees that the payment of all or any portion of the outstanding
principal amount of this Note and all interest hereon shall be pari passu in right of payment and in all other respects to any other
Notes. In the event Investor receives payments in excess of its pro rata share of the Company’s payments to the holders of all of the
Notes, then Investor shall hold in trust all such excess payments for the benefit of the holders of the other Notes and shall pay such
amounts held in trust to such other holders upon demand by such holders.
 

(e) Payment. Unless converted into the Company’s equity securities pursuant to the terms hereof, payment shall be
made in lawful tender of the United States.
 

(f) Default Rate. During any period in which an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, the Company shall
pay interest on the unpaid principal balance hereof at a rate per annum equal to the rate otherwise applicable hereunder plus five
percent (5%).
 

(g) Expenses; Waivers. If action is instituted to collect this Note, the Company promises to pay all costs and
expenses, including, without limitation, reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs, incurred in connection with such action. The Company
hereby waives notice of default, presentment or demand for payment, protest or notice of nonpayment or dishonor and all other
notices or demands relative to this instrument.
 

(h) Governing Law. This Note and all actions arising out of or in connection with this Note shall be governed by and
construed in accordance with the laws of the State of California, without regard to the conflicts of law provisions of the State of
California, or of any other state.
 

(i) Jurisdiction and Venue. Each of Investor and the Company irrevocably consents to the exclusive jurisdiction of,
and venue in, the state courts in San Diego County in the State of California (or in the event of exclusive federal jurisdiction, the
courts of the Southern District of California), in connection with any matter based upon or arising out of this Note or the matters
contemplated herein, and agrees that process may be served upon them in any manner authorized by the laws of the State of
California for such persons.
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(j) Waiver of Jury Trial; Judicial Reference. By acceptance of this Note, Investor hereby agrees and the Company
hereby agrees to waive their respective rights to a jury trial of any claim or cause of action based upon or arising out of this Note or
any of the Transaction Documents.  If the jury waiver set forth in this paragraph is not enforceable, then any claim or cause of action
arising out of or relating to this Note, the Transaction Documents or any of the transactions contemplated therein shall be settled by
judicial reference pursuant to California Code of Civil Procedure Section 638 et seq. before a referee sitting without a jury, such
referee to be mutually acceptable to the parties or, if no agreement is reached, by a referee appointed by the Presiding Judge of the
California Superior Court for Santa Clara County. This paragraph shall not restrict a party from exercising remedies under the
Uniform Commercial Code or from exercising pre-judgment remedies under applicable law.
 

(Signature Page Follows)

 
20

EDGAR Stream is a copyright of Issuer Direct Corporation, all rights reserved.



 

 
The Company has caused this Note to be issued as of the date first written above.

 
BREKFORD CORP.
a Delaware corporation

By:                                                      
Name:                                                      
Title:                                                      

 
AGREED TO AND ACCEPTED:
 
GEMINI MASTER FUND, LTD.
 

By:                                           
Name:                                           
Title:                                           
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ANNEX A
 

NOTICE OF CONVERSION
 
The undersigned hereby elects to convert principal under the 6% CONVERTIBLE PROMISSORY NOTE of BREKFORD CORP., a
Delaware corporation, (the “Company”), into shares of common stock (the “Common Stock”), of the Company according to the
conditions hereof, as of the date written below.  If shares of Common Stock are to be issued in the name of a person other than the
undersigned, the undersigned will pay all transfer taxes payable with respect thereto and is delivering herewith such certificates and
opinions as reasonably requested by the Company in accordance therewith.  No fee will be charged to the holder for any conversion,
except for such transfer taxes, if any.
 

By the delivery of this Notice of Conversion the undersigned represents and warrants to the Company that its ownership of
the Common Stock does not exceed the amounts specified under Section 5 of this Note, as determined in accordance with Section
13(d) of the Exchange Act.  The undersigned agrees to comply with applicable securities laws in connection with any transfer of the
aforesaid shares of Common Stock.
 

Conversion calculations
 

Date to Effect Conversion:
 

Principal Amount of Note to be Converted:
 

Interest to be Converted:
 

Number of shares of Common Stock to be issued:
 
 

Signature:
 

Name:
 

Address for Delivery of Common Stock Certificates:
 

Or
 

DWAC Instructions:
 

Broker No:
 

Account No:
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Exhibit B

FORM OF WARRANT
 

THIS WARRANT AND THE COMMON STOCK ISSUABLE UPON EXERCISE OF THIS WARRANT HAVE NOT BEEN
REGISTERED UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED. THIS WARRANT AND THE COMMON STOCK
ISSUABLE UPON EXERCISE OF THIS WARRANT MAY NOT BE SOLD, OFFERED FOR SALE, PLEDGED OR HYPOTHECATED
IN THE ABSENCE OF AN EFFECTIVE REGISTRATION STATEMENT AS TO SUCH SECURITIES UNDER SUCH ACT AND ANY
APPLICABLE STATE SECURITIES LAW OR AN OPINION OF COUNSEL REASONABLY SATISFACTORY TO BREKFORD CORP.
THAT SUCH REGISTRATION IS NOT REQUIRED.

WARRANT TO PURCHASE SHARES OF COMMON STOCK
OF

BREKFORD CORP.
 

1. Issuance. In consideration of good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby
acknowledged by BREKFORD CORP., a Delaware corporation (the “Company”), GEMINI MASTER FUND, LTD., a Cayman Islands
company or registered assigns (the “Holder”), is hereby granted the right to purchase at any time on or after the Issue Date (as
defined below) until the date which is the last calendar day of the month in which the fifth anniversary of the Issue Date occurs (the
“Expiration Date”), 780,000 fully paid and nonassessable shares (the “Warrant Shares”) of the Company’s common stock, par value
$0.001 per share (the “Common Stock”), as such number of Warrant Shares may be adjusted from time to time pursuant to the
terms and conditions of this Warrant to Purchase Shares of Common Stock (this “Warrant”).  This Warrant is being issued pursuant to
that certain Note and Warrant Purchase Agreement, dated as of March 17, 2015 (the “Purchase Agreement”).  Capitalized terms
used and not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings set forth in the Purchase Agreement.
 

2. Exercise of Warrant.
 

2.1. General.
 

(a) This Warrant is exercisable in whole or in part at any time and from time to time commencing on the
Issue Date and ending on the Expiration Date. Such exercise shall be effectuated by submitting to the Company (either by delivery to
the Company or by email or facsimile transmission) a completed and duly executed Notice of Exercise substantially in the form
attached to this Warrant as Exhibit A (the “Notice of Exercise”). The date such Notice of Exercise is either faxed, emailed or
delivered to the Company shall be the “Exercise Date,” provided that, if such exercise represents the full exercise of the outstanding
balance of the Warrant, the Holder shall tender this Warrant to the Company within five (5) Trading Days thereafter, but only if the
Warrant Shares to be delivered pursuant to the Notice of Exercise have been delivered to the Holder as of such date. The Notice of
Exercise shall be executed by the Holder and shall indicate (i) the number of Warrant Shares (as defined below) to be issued
pursuant to such exercise, and (ii) if applicable (as provided below), whether the exercise is a cashless exercise.
 

For purposes of this Warrant, the term “Trading Day” means any day during which the principal market on which the
Common Stock is traded (the “Principal Market”) shall be open for business.
 

(b)  If at any time there is no effective Registration Statement registering, or no current prospectus available
for, the resale of the Warrant Shares by the Holder, then to the extent this Warrant is not previously exercised, and if the Market Price
of one Warrant Share is greater than the Exercise Price, the Holder may elect to receive Warrant Shares, in lieu of a cash exercise,
equal to the value of this Warrant determined in the manner described below (or of any portion thereof remaining unexercised) by
surrender of this Warrant and a Notice of Exercise, in which event the Company shall issue to Holder a number of Shares computed
using the following formula:
 

X = Y (A-B)
      A

 WhereX =the number of Warrant Shares to be issued to Holder.

 Y = the number of Warrant Shares that the Holder elects to purchase under this Warrant (at the date of such calculation).

A = the Market Price (at the date of such calculation).

B = Exercise Price (as adjusted to the date of such calculation).
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For the purposes of this Warrant, the following terms shall have the following meanings:

 
“Affiliate” shall mean an affiliate as such term is defined in Rule 144 under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (or a

successor rule).
 

“Aggregate Exercise Price Payable” shall mean the product of multiplying the number of Warrant Shares exercisable by the
Exercise Price.
 

“Closing Price” shall mean the 4:00 P.M. last sale price of the Common Stock on the Principal Market on the relevant
Trading Day(s), as reported by Bloomberg LP (or if that service is not then reporting the relevant information regarding the Common
Stock, a comparable reporting service of national reputation selected by the Holder and reasonably acceptable to the Company)
(“Bloomberg”) for the relevant date.
 

“Common Stock Equivalents” means any securities of the Company which would entitle the holder thereof to acquire at any
time Common Stock, including, without limitation, any debt, preferred stock, rights, options, warrants or other instrument that is at any
time convertible into or exercisable or exchangeable for, or otherwise entitles the holder thereof to receive Common Stock.
 

 “Exercise Price” shall mean $0.50 per share of Common Stock, subject to adjustments herein.
 

“Issue Date” shall mean March 17, 2015.
 

“Market Price” shall mean the Closing Price for the Common Stock on the Trading Day that is two Trading Days prior to the
Exercise Date.
 

“Note” shall mean that certain 6% Convertible Note issued by the Company to the Holder on the Issue Date pursuant to the
Purchase Agreement, as the same may be amended from time to time, and including any note(s) that replace or are exchanged for
such referenced note.
 

(c) If the Notice of Exercise form elects a “cash” exercise (or if the cashless exercise referred to in the
immediately preceding subsection (b) is not available in accordance with the terms hereof), the Exercise Price per share of Common
Stock for the Warrant Shares shall be payable, at the election of the Holder, in cash or by certified or official bank check or by wire
transfer in accordance with instructions provided by the Company at the request of the Holder.
 

(d) Upon the appropriate payment to the Company, if any, of the Exercise Price for the Warrant Shares,
together with the surrender of this Warrant (if required), the Company shall promptly, but in no case later than the date that is three
(3) Trading Days following the date the Exercise Price is paid to the Company (or with respect to a “cashless exercise,” the date that
is three (3) Trading Days following the Exercise Date) (the “Delivery Date”), provided that all DWAC eligible conditions are then
satisfied, deliver or cause the Company’s Transfer Agent to deliver the applicable Warrant Shares electronically via the
Deposit/Withdrawal at Custodian (“DWAC”) system to the account designated by the Holder on the Notice of Exercise.  If all DWAC
eligible conditions are not then satisfied, the Company shall instead issue and deliver or cause to be issued and delivered (via
reputable overnight courier) to the address as specified in the Notice of Exercise, a certificate, registered in the name of the Holder or
its designee, for the number of Warrant Shares to which the Holder shall be entitled.  For the avoidance of doubt, the Company has
not met its obligation to deliver Warrant Shares by the Delivery Date unless the Transfer Agent has posted the shares for DWAC
pickup and the Holder or its broker, as applicable, has been notified of this availability, or if the DWAC eligible conditions are not then
satisfied, has actually received the certificate representing the applicable Warrant Shares no later than the close of business on the
relevant Delivery Date pursuant to the terms set forth above.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, any certificate or certificates
representing the Warrant Shares to be issued without any restrictive legend on or prior to a Delivery Date may only be done in
connection with a bona fide sale of such securities as a result of the requirements under Rule 144(i) promulgated under the Securities
Act.
 

(e) If Warrant Shares are delivered later than as required under subsection (d) immediately above (other
than as a result of any request to deliver any such certificate(s) without a restrictive legend that is not in connection with a sale of
such securities), the Company agrees to pay, in addition to all other remedies available to the Holder in the Transaction Documents,
a late charge equal to the greater of (i) $1,000.00 and (ii) 1% of the product of (1) the sum of the number of shares of Common Stock
not issued to the Holder on a timely basis and to which the Holder is entitled multiplied by (2) the Closing Price of the Common Stock
on the Trading Day immediately preceding the last possible date which the Company could have issued such shares of Common
Stock to the Holder without violating this Warrant, per Trading Day until such Warrant Shares are delivered. The Company shall pay
any late charges incurred under this subsection in immediately available funds upon demand; provided, however, that, at the option
of the Holder (without notice to the Company), such amount owed may be added to the principal amount of the Note.  Furthermore, in
addition to any other remedies which may be available to the Holder, in the event that the Company fails for any reason to effect
delivery of the Warrant Shares as required under subsection (d) immediately above, the Holder may revoke all or part of the relevant
Warrant exercise by delivery of a notice to such effect to the Company, whereupon the Company and the Holder shall each be
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restored to their respective positions immediately prior to the exercise of the relevant portion of this Warrant, except that the late
charge described above shall be payable through the date notice of revocation or rescission is given to the Company.
 

(f) The Holder shall be deemed to be the holder of the Warrant Shares issuable to it in accordance with the
provisions of this Section 2.1 on the Exercise Date.
 

2.2. Ownership Limitation. If at any time after the Closing, the Buyer shall or would receive shares of Common Stock
in payment of interest or principal under Note, upon conversion of Note, under the Warrant, or upon exercise of the Warrant, so that
the Buyer would, together with other shares of Common Stock held by it or its Affiliates, own or beneficially own by virtue of such
action or receipt of additional shares of Common Stock a number of shares exceeding 9.99% of the number of shares of Common
Stock outstanding on such date (the “Maximum Percentage”), the Company shall not be obligated and shall not issue to the Buyer
and the Buyer shall not receive any shares of Common Stock which would exceed the Maximum Percentage, but only until such time
as the Maximum Percentage would no longer be exceeded by any such receipt of shares of Common Stock by the Buyer. The
foregoing limitations are enforceable, unconditional and non-waivable and shall apply to all Affiliates and assigns of the Buyer.
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3. Mutilation or Loss of Warrant. Upon receipt by the Company of evidence satisfactory to it of the loss, theft, destruction or

mutilation of this Warrant, and (in the case of loss, theft or destruction) receipt of reasonably satisfactory indemnification, and (in the
case of mutilation) upon surrender and cancellation of this Warrant, the Company will execute and deliver to the Holder a new
Warrant of like tenor and date and any such lost, stolen, destroyed or mutilated Warrant shall thereupon become void.
 

4. Rights of the Holder. The Holder shall not, by virtue of this Warrant alone, be entitled to any rights of a stockholder in the
Company, either at law or in equity, and the rights of the Holder with respect to or arising under this Warrant are limited to those
expressed in this Warrant and are not enforceable against the Company except to the extent set forth herein.
 

5. Certain Adjustments.
 

5.1. Capital Adjustments. If the Company shall at any time prior to the expiration of this Warrant subdivide the
Common Stock, by split-up or stock split, or otherwise, or combine its Common Stock, or issue additional shares of its Common Stock
as a dividend, the number of Warrant Shares issuable upon the exercise of this Warrant shall forthwith be automatically increased
proportionately in the case of a subdivision, split or stock dividend, or proportionately decreased in the case of a
combination.  Appropriate adjustments shall also be made to the Exercise Price, Market Price (in the event of a cashless exercise),
and other applicable amounts, but the aggregate purchase price payable for the total number of Warrant Shares purchasable under
this Warrant (as adjusted) shall remain the same. Any adjustment under this Section 5.1 shall become effective automatically at the
close of business on the date the subdivision or combination becomes effective, or as of the record date of such dividend, or in the
event that no record date is fixed, upon the making of such dividend.
 

5.2. Reclassification, Reorganization and Consolidation. In case of any reclassification, capital reorganization, or
change in the capital stock of the Company (other than as a result of a subdivision, combination, or stock dividend provided for in
Section 5.1 above), then the Company shall make appropriate provision so that the Holder shall have the right at any time prior to the
expiration of this Warrant to purchase, at a total price equal to that payable upon the exercise of this Warrant, the kind and amount of
shares of stock and other securities and property receivable in connection with such reclassification, reorganization, or change by a
holder of the same number of shares of Common Stock as were purchasable by the Holder immediately prior to such reclassification,
reorganization, or change.  In any such case appropriate provisions shall be made with respect to the rights and interest of the Holder
so that the provisions hereof shall thereafter be applicable with respect to any shares of stock or other securities and property
deliverable upon exercise hereof, and appropriate adjustments shall be made to the purchase price per Warrant Share payable
hereunder, provided the aggregate purchase price shall remain the same.
 

5.3. Dilutive Issuances. If the Company, at any time while this Warrant is outstanding, shall sell or grant any option to
purchase, or sell or grant any right to re-price, or otherwise dispose of or issue (or announce any offer, sale, grant or any option to
purchase or other disposition) any Common Stock or Common Stock Equivalents entitling any Person to acquire shares of Common
Stock, at an effective price per share less than the then Exercise Price (such lower price, the “Base Share Price” and such issuances
collectively, a “Dilutive Issuance”) (if the holder of the Common Stock or Common Stock Equivalents so issued shall at any time,
whether by operation of purchase price adjustments, reset provisions, floating conversion, exercise or exchange prices or otherwise,
or due to warrants, options or rights per share which are issued in connection with such issuance, be entitled to receive shares of
Common Stock at an effective price per share which is less than the Exercise Price, such issuance shall be deemed to have occurred
for less than the Exercise Price on such date of the Dilutive Issuance), then the Exercise Price shall be reduced and only reduced to
equal the Base Share Price and the number of Warrant Shares issuable hereunder shall be increased such that the Aggregate
Exercise Price Payable hereunder, after taking into account the decrease in the Exercise Price, shall be equal to the Aggregate
Exercise Price prior to such adjustment. Such adjustment shall be made whenever such Common Stock or Common Stock
Equivalents are issued.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, no adjustments shall be made, paid or issued under this Section 5.3 in
respect to Exempt Issuances. For purposes of this Section, “Exempt Issuances” means the issuance of (a) shares of Common Stock
or options to employees, officers, directors, consultants or collaborators of the Company pursuant to any stock or option plan duly
adopted for such purpose by a majority of the non-employee members of the Board of Directors or a majority of the members of a
committee of non-employee directors established for such purpose, (b) securities upon the exercise or exchange of or conversion of
any Securities issued hereunder and/or other securities exercisable or exchangeable for or convertible into shares of Common Stock
issued and outstanding on the date of this Agreement, provided that the terms of such securities are not amended or changed after
the date hereof, (c) securities issued pursuant to commercial collaborations, acquisitions or strategic transactions approved by a
majority of the disinterested directors whose primary purpose is not to raise capital (d) securities issued in connection with any bona
fide commercial loan or debt transaction with third persons, provided that the primary purpose of such transaction is not to raise
equity capital and is approved by the Company’s Board of Directors in good faith, (e) any Permitted Subordinated Indebtedness or (f)
any Dilutive Issuance in any amount less than $25,000. The Company shall notify the Holder in writing, no later than three Trading
Days following the issuance of any Common Stock or Common Stock Equivalents subject to this Section 5.3, indicating therein the
applicable issuance price, or applicable reset price, exchange price, conversion price and other pricing terms (such notice the
“Dilutive Issuance Notice”).  For purposes of clarification, whether or not the Company provides a Dilutive Issuance Notice pursuant to
this Section 5.3, upon the occurrence of any Dilutive Issuance, after the date of such Dilutive Issuance the Holder is entitled to
receive a number of Warrant Shares based upon the Base Share Price regardless of whether the Holder accurately refers to the
Base Share Price in the Notice of Exercise. Without limiting any other provision contained herein, when any adjustment is required to
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be made in the number or kind of shares purchasable upon exercise of this Warrant, or in the Exercise Price, pursuant to the terms
hereof, the Company shall promptly notify the Holder of such event and of the number of Warrant Shares or other securities or
property thereafter purchasable upon exercise of this Warrant.
 

6. Certificate as to Adjustments. In each case of any adjustment or readjustment in the shares of Common Stock issuable on
the exercise of this Warrant, the Company at its expense will promptly cause its Chief Financial Officer or other appropriate designee
to compute such adjustment or readjustment in accordance with the terms of this Warrant and prepare a certificate setting forth such
adjustment or readjustment and showing in detail the facts upon which such adjustment or readjustment is based, including a
statement of (a) the number of shares of Common Stock outstanding or deemed to be outstanding, and (b) the Exercise Price and the
number of shares of Common Stock to be received upon exercise of this Warrant, in effect immediately prior to such adjustment or
readjustment and as adjusted or readjusted as provided in this Warrant. The Company will forthwith mail a copy of each such
certificate to the Holder and any Warrant Agent (as defined below) appointed pursuant to Section 8 hereof.  Nothing in this Section 6
shall be deemed to limit any other provision contained herein.
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7. Transfer to Comply with the Securities Act. This Warrant, and the Warrant Shares, have not been registered under the

Securities Act. This Warrant, the Warrant Shares and any other security issued or issuable upon exercise of this Warrant may only be
sold, transferred, pledged or hypothecated (other than to an Affiliate) if (a) there exists an effective registration statement under the
Securities Act relating to such security or (b) the Company has received an opinion of counsel reasonably satisfactory to the
Company that registration is not required under the Securities Act. Until such time as registration has occurred under the Securities
Act, each certificate for this Warrant, the Warrant Shares and any other security issued or issuable upon exercise of this Warrant shall
contain a legend, in form and substance satisfactory to counsel for the Company, setting forth the restrictions on transfer contained in
this Section 7. Any such transfer shall be accompanied by a transferor assignment substantially in the form attached to this Warrant
as Exhibit B (the “Transferor Assignment”), executed by the transferor and the transferee and submitted to the Company. Upon
receipt of the duly executed Transferor Assignment, the Company shall register the transferee thereon as the new Holder on the
books and records of the Company and such transferee shall be deemed a “registered holder” or “registered assign” for all purposes
hereunder, and shall have all the rights of the Holder.
 

8. Warrant Agent. The Company may, by written notice to the Holder, appoint an agent (a “Warrant Agent”) for the purpose
of issuing shares of Common Stock on the exercise of this Warrant pursuant hereto, exchanging this Warrant pursuant hereto, and
replacing this Warrant pursuant hereto, or any of the foregoing, and thereafter any such issuance, exchange or replacement, as the
case may be, shall be made at such office by such Warrant Agent.
 

9. Transfer on the Company’s Books. Until this Warrant is transferred on the books of the Company, the Company may treat
the Holder as the absolute owner hereof for all purposes, notwithstanding any notice to the contrary.
 

10. Notices.  Any notice required or permitted hereunder shall be given in the manner provided in the subsection titled
“Notices” in the Purchase Agreement, the terms of which are incorporated herein by reference.
 

11. Supplements and Amendments; Whole Agreement.  This Warrant may be amended or supplemented only by an
instrument in writing signed by the parties hereto. This Warrant, together with the Purchase Agreement and all the other Transaction
Documents, taken together, contain the full understanding of the parties hereto with respect to the subject matter hereof and thereof
and there are no representations, warranties, agreements or understandings with respect to the subject matter hereof and thereof
other than as expressly contained herein and therein.
 

12. Governing Law.  This Warrant shall be governed by and interpreted in accordance with the laws of the State of California,
without giving effect to the principles thereof regarding the conflict of laws. The Company and, by accepting this Warrant, the Holder,
each irrevocably (a) consent to and expressly submit to the exclusive personal jurisdiction of any state or federal court sitting in San
Diego County, California in connection with any dispute or proceeding arising out of or relating to this Warrant, (b) agree that all
claims in respect of any such dispute or proceeding may only be heard and determined in any such court, (c) expressly submit to the
venue of any such court for the purposes hereof, and (d) waive any claim of improper venue and any claim or objection that such
courts are an inconvenient forum or any other claim or objection to the bringing of any such proceeding in such jurisdictions or to any
claim that such venue of the suit, action or proceeding is improper. The Company and, by accepting this Warrant, the Holder, each
hereby irrevocably consent to the service of process of any of the aforementioned courts in any such proceeding by the mailing of
copies thereof by reputable overnight courier (e.g., FedEx) or certified mail, postage prepaid, to such party’s address as provided for
herein, such service to become effective ten (10) calendar days after such mailing. THE COMPANY HEREBY IRREVOCABLY
WAIVES ANY RIGHT IT MAY HAVE TO, AND AGREES NOT TO REQUEST, A JURY TRIAL FOR THE ADJUDICATION OF ANY
DISPUTE HEREUNDER OR IN CONNECTION WITH OR ARISING OUT OF THIS WARRANT OR ANY TRANSACTION
CONTEMPLATED HEREBY.
 

13. Remedies.  The remedies at law of the Holder of this Warrant in the event of any default or threatened default by the
Company in the performance of or compliance with any of the terms of this Warrant are not and will not be adequate and, without
limiting any other remedies available to the Holder in the Transaction Documents, law or equity, to the fullest extent permitted by law,
such terms may be specifically enforced by a decree for the specific performance of any agreement contained herein or by an
injunction against a violation of any of the terms hereof or otherwise.
 

14. Counterparts. This Warrant may be executed in any number of counterparts and each of such counterparts shall for all
purposes be deemed to be an original, and all such counterparts shall together constitute but one and the same instrument.
Signature delivered via facsimile or email shall be considered original signatures for purposes hereof.
 

15. Descriptive Headings.  Descriptive headings of the sections of this Warrant are inserted for convenience only and shall
not control or affect the meaning or construction of any of the provisions hereof.
 

16. Attorney’s Fees.  In the event of any litigation or dispute arising from this Warrant, the parties agree that the party who is
awarded the most money shall be deemed the prevailing party for all purposes and shall therefore be entitled to an additional award
of the full amount of the attorneys’ fees and expenses paid by said prevailing party in connection with the litigation and/or dispute
without reduction or apportionment based upon the individual claims or defenses giving rise to the fees and expenses.  Nothing
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herein shall restrict or impair a court’s power to award fees and expenses for frivolous or bad faith pleading.
 

17. Severability. Whenever possible, each provision of this Warrant shall be interpreted in such a manner as to be effective
and valid under applicable law, but if any provision of this Warrant shall be invalid or unenforceable in any jurisdiction, such provision
shall be modified to achieve the objective of the parties to the fullest extent permitted and such invalidity or unenforceability shall not
affect the validity or enforceability of the remainder of this Warrant or the validity or enforceability of this Warrant in any other
jurisdiction.
 

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Company has caused this Warrant to be duly executed by an officer thereunto duly authorized.

Dated: March 17, 2015

THE COMPANY:

BREKFORD CORP.

 
 
By:           

 
Name:

 
Title:
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EXHIBIT A

NOTICE OF EXERCISE OF WARRANT

TO:           BREKFORD CORP.
ATTN: _______________

VIA FAX TO: (    )______________
VIA EMAIL TO: (    )______________

The undersigned hereby irrevocably elects to exercise the right, represented by the Warrant to Purchase Shares of Common Stock
dated as of March 17, 2015 (the “Warrant”), to purchase shares of the common stock, $0.001 par value (“Common Stock”), of
BREKFORD CORP., and tenders herewith payment in accordance with Section 2 of the Warrant, as follows:
 
 CASH: $__________________________ = (Exercise Price x Warrant Shares)
   
 Payment is being made by:
   
  enclosed check
   
  wire transfer
   
  other
   
 CASHLESS EXERCISE:
 
Net number of Warrant Shares to be issued to Holder: ______*

* X = Y (A-B)
      A

 WhereX =the number of Warrant Shares to be issued to Holder.

 Y = the number of Warrant Shares that the Holder elects to purchase under this Warrant (at the date of such calculation).

A = the Market Price (at the date of such calculation).

B = Exercise Price (as adjusted to the date of such calculation).
 

Capitalized terms used but not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings ascribed to them in the Warrant.

It is the intention of the Holder to comply with the provisions of Section 2.2 of the Warrant regarding certain limits on the
Holder’s right to exercise thereunder. The Holder believes this exercise complies with the provisions of such Section 2.2.
Nonetheless, to the extent that, pursuant to the exercise effected hereby, the Holder would have more shares of Common Stock than
permitted under Section 2.2, this notice should be amended and revised, ab initio, to refer to the exercise which would result in the
issuance of the maximum number of such shares permitted under such provision. Any exercise above such amount is hereby
deemed void and revoked.

As contemplated by the Warrant, this Notice of Exercise is being sent by facsimile or email to the fax number and officer
indicated above.
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If this Notice of Exercise represents the full exercise of the outstanding balance of the Warrant, the Holder either (1) has

previously surrendered the Warrant to the Company or (2) will surrender (or cause to be surrendered) the Warrant to the Company at
the address indicated above by express courier within five (5) Trading Days after delivery or email or facsimile transmission of this
Notice of Exercise; provided that the Warrant Shares to be delivered pursuant to this Notice of Exercise have been delivered to the
Holder as of such date.

To the extent the Warrant Shares are not able to be delivered to the Holder via the DWAC system, please deliver certificates
representing the Warrant Shares to the Holder via reputable overnight courier after receipt of this Notice of Exercise (by facsimile
transmission or otherwise) to:

_____________________________________
_____________________________________
_____________________________________

 
Dated:           _____________________

___________________________
[Name of Holder]

By:________________________
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EXHIBIT B

FORM OF TRANSFEROR ENDORSEMENT
(To be signed only on transfer of the Warrant)

For value received, the undersigned hereby sells, assigns, and transfers unto the person(s) named below under the heading
“Transferees” the right represented by the Warrant to Purchase Shares of Common Stock dated as of March 17, 2015 (the
“Warrant”) to purchase the percentage and number of shares of common stock, $0.001 par value (“Common Stock”), of
BREKFORD CORP. specified under the headings “Percentage Transferred” and “Number Transferred,” respectively, opposite the
name(s) of such person(s), and appoints each such person attorney to transfer the undersigned’s respective right on the books of
BREKFORD CORP. with full power of substitution in the premises.

Transferees                                           Percentage Transferred                                            Number Transferred

Dated:___________, ______

______________________________
[Transferor Name must conform to the name of Holder as specified on the face of
the Warrant]

By: ___________________________
Name: _________________________

Signed in the presence of:

_________________________
(Name)

ACCEPTED AND AGREED:

_________________________
[TRANSFEREE]

By: _______________________
Name: _____________________
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EXHIBIT 21

SUBSIDIARIES

Brekford Corp. has one subsidiary, which is wholly-owned:  Municipal Recovery Agency, LLC, a Maryland limited liability company.
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EXHIBIT 31.1
 

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

 
I, C.B. Brechin, certify that:
 
 1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Brekford Corp.;
 
 2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material

fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not
misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

 
 3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in

all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the
periods presented in this report;

 
 4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and

procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

 
 a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be

designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in
which this report is being prepared;

 
 b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to

be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting
and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles;

 
 c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our

conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered
by this report based on such evaluation; and

 
 d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during

the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that
has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting; and

 
 5. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over

financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons
performing the equivalent functions):

 
 a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial

reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and
report financial information; and

 
 b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in

the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.
 
 
Date: March 27, 2015 By: /s/ C.B. Brechin  
  C.B. Brechin, Principal Executive Officer and

Principal Accounting Officer
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EXHIBIT 32.1
 

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND
PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING OFFICER

PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906

OF SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
 
 

In connection with the Annual Report of Brekford Corp. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
2014 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, C.B. Brechin, Principal Executive
Officer and Principal Accounting Officer, certify to my knowledge and in my capacity as an officer of the Company, pursuant to 18
U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended; and,

2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of
operations of the Company as of the dates and for the periods expressed in the Report.
 
 
Date: March 27, 2015 By: /s/ C.B. Brechin  
  C.B. Brechin  
  Principal Executive Officer and Principal

Accounting Officer
 

The foregoing certification is being furnished solely pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (Section 1350
of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the United States Code) and is not being filed as part of the Report or as a separate disclosure document.
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